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Financial Summary

B HE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLHFE

Revenue E 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
S —ZT—— ZZ-FF ZE-NF ZE)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET T FEL
Revenue WA 89,620 139,818 114,474 158,714 203,892
Gross profit EM 14,060 38,699 24,957 32,196 42,480
Loss before income tax BRETS LRI 1B (58,403) (46,020) (67,038) (71,048) (62,178)
Loss attributable to the owners ARAEAA
of the Company FEIhER (65,895) (46,271) (68,115) (76,680) (60,032)
As at 31 December
W+ZA=+-H
Financial position BBMRR 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B | T % CZT-TF T-NF ZT)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET FAT AT FET
Total assets BELE 288,373 234,832 283,700 351,054 427,616
Total borrowings and e,/ HEaE
lease liabilities 31,457 7,954 4,975 8,547 1,071
Total liabilities mak 79,073 38,575 45,275 45,857 45,198
Shareholders’ equity MR 208,432 196,257 238,425 305,197 382,418
Current ratio (note 1) ML= (fEE1) 4.42 4.87 5.27 6.26 6.85
Quick ratio (note 2) R X (HEE2) 4.30 471 5.00 5.91 6.65
Return on assets (note 3) BER®RE (fi:3) (22.9%) (19.7%) (24.0%) (21.8%) (14.0%)
Return on equity (note 4) RABRE (i) (31.6%) (23.6%) (28.6%) (25.1%) (15.7%)
Gearing ratio (note 5) BEGELE (HE5) 15.0% 4.1% 2.1% 2.8% 0.3%
Inventory turnover days (note 6) FEREXE (i76) 32days/H | 22days’H  49days/H  43days/H 20 days/H
Trade receivables turnover days B o R RS
(note 7) R (FEET) 159 days/H | 72days/B  61days/H  48days/H 26 days/H
Trade payables turnover days B o ENFREE
(note 8) A& (HizE8) 85days/H | 69days/B 101days/H  30days/ B 21 days/H
Note MisE
1. Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities 1. RELR = RBEE/ KRB
2. Quick ratio = current assets less inventory/current liabilities 2. REILE = iH gélmﬁﬁ//ﬂh
3. Return on assets = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 3 BEBHRE = AR 7%‘&ﬁ/\fﬂ£¢ﬁ)§ﬁ§/i@§
total assets BE
4. Return on equity = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 4. EARRBIRE = AARIHEARGETEEE/BE
shareholders’ equity R
5, Gearing ratio = Total borrowings and lease liabilities/shareholders’ equity 5. BEBBLR - EFREREERRE REES
6. Inventory turnover days = Inventory balance/cost of sales for the year x number 6. FEBERE = FTEES FEEERAN x F/E
of days for the year RE
7. Trade receivables turnover days = Trade receivables/revenue for the year x 7. B RUGIEAERE = BHRIKIE FEIR
number of days for the year A X FERE
8. Trade payables turnover days = Trade payables/cost of sales for the year x 8. ESEMNBAEAE = EHEMNFEFEH

number of days for the year

ERA x FERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”
and each a “Director”) of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (the
“Company”), | hereby present the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

OVERVIEW

Global economy weakened sharply in 2022 after a marked recovery
in 2021. Economic activities were dampened by the deteriorated
global environment and tightened financial conditions as well as the
COVID-19 pandemic.

China economy remains as a huge and vibrant economy. However,
affected by weakened external economic growth and occasional
increases in COVID-19 cases, economic growth of China decelerated
in 2022.

Meanwhile, many major external economies recorded historical high
inflation rate which was partly caused by supply-side disruptions and
continued tensions in Ukraine. In response, central banks of those
major economies raised interest rates to curb inflation. This further
dampened consumption demand of the global economy.

OUR ACTIONS

ACQUISITION OF DREAMTOYS INC. AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES (COLLECTIVELY “DREAMTOYS GROUP”)

During the year, we completed the acquisition of Dreamtoys Group.
Dreamtoys Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, operation and promotion of trendy cultural products.
Dreamtoys Group has been cooperating with the gaming arm of a
world-renowned Internet and mobile value-added service provider (the
“Gaming Partner”). Owing to the Gaming Partner’s high volume of
high-quality intellectual property (“IP”) resources, leading entertaining
contents and user base, Dreamtoys Group seeks to create synergy
with the Gaming Partner by further exploring the commercial values
of the licenced IPs. The Gaming Partner has authorized the IP rights
of the characters in its most famous games so that Dreamtoys Group
can develop trendy cultural products derived from the elements of the
IPs.

The operation of Dreamtoys Group forms part of our IP application
and products.
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PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Completion of placing of convertible bonds in
January 2022

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the Company
entered into a convertible bond placing agreement on 13 December
2021 in relation to the placing of convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$35,000,000 (the “First CB Placing”) which was
completed on 6 January 2022. The net proceeds from the First CB
Placing, after deduction of fees, commissions and expenses payable,
were approximately HK$34,125,000.

Details of the First CB Placing are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 13 December 2021 and 6 January 2022.

Completion of placing of convertible bonds in August
2022

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the Company
entered into a convertible bond placing agreement on 27 July 2022
in relation to the placing of convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 (the“Second CB Placing”) which was completed
on 15 August 2022. The net proceeds from the Second CB Placing,
after deduction of fees, commissions and expenses payable, were
approximately HK$14,850,000.

Details of the Second CB Placing are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and 15 August 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRHRES

OUR PERFORMANCE

Apparel operation

Considering that rising trade protectionism and uncertainties in the
United Sates market and increasing operating costs like logistics
costs, we shifted our principal target market for our apparel operation
from the United Sates to Mainland China and Hong Kong during
the year. Revenue from our apparel operation decreased by 42.5%
to approximately HK$74,337,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: HK$129,254,000). Our apparel operation remained the
largest contributor to the Group’s business, accounting for 82.9% of
the Group’s total revenue.

Money lending operation

Our money lending business focuses on individual consumers and
small businesses in Hong Kong.

In 2022, our money lending business mainly focused on providing
service to existing customers. Revenue from our money lending
operation increased to approximately HK$13,631,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$10,564,000), representing an
increase of approximately 29.0% as a result of the increase in interest
income received/receivable from existing customers during the year.
Money lending operation accounted for 15.2% of the Group’s total
revenue.

IP application and products operation

Revenue from IP application and products operation is principally
derived from selling of gaming and animated characters related
products. The principal market of our IP application and products
is Mainland China. The revenue from IP application and products
operation was approximately HK$1,652,000 and it was a new
business to the Group.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead into 2023, with the removal of almost all COVID-
related public health measures in Mainland China and Hong Kong, we
expect economic activities will return to normal gradually. Domestic
demand will provide growth momentum for economy.
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We believe Mainland China still remains a major growth driver of
the global economy in the foreseeable future, as it has contributed
over the past few decades. The fundamentals of the Mainland China
economy remain strong and resilient. A series of support measures
has been introduced to promote economic development.

As the principal markets for our Group are Mainland China and Hong
Kong, generally, we expect our operation will stage a recovery in
2023 along with the economic rebound in the Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

For apparel operation, we will further expand its apparel portfolio and
leverage trendy IPs to open up sportswear, children’s wear and other
markets. The Group will also grasp the opportunity to expand its
business in the trendy cultural products closely related to apparel to
seize the huge opportunities presented by the economic development
of China.

For money lending operation, we continue to focus on providing
service to existing customers.

For IP application and products operation, as the Mainland’s regulator
restarted to approve online game licenses in 2022, for which most of
the approvals were released in the second half of 2022, we consider
that the regulatory pressure is easing and this is another opportunity
for our gaming and animated characters related products. We will
explore more business opportunities with renowned gaming platforms
for which we have developed close business relationship.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank and acknowledge
my colleagues for their commitment, perseverance and efforts over
the past year. | am also grateful to all shareholders for their continued
support.

Li Yang
Chairman
30 March 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Yang, aged 51, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee,
a member of the Remuneration Committee and an authorised
representative of the Company on 19 January 2022. Mr. Li provides
leadership for the Board. Mr. Li acts as a consultant to the Board with
effect from 8 December 2021.

Mr. Li obtained a diploma from Shenzhen University in 1992 and a
Master of Business Administration from Shenzhen Economic and
Management Institute in 2000. Mr. Li also completed a Master’s
degree programme in 2001 at the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences, majoring in World Economics.

Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in investment activities
and business management. He has held directorships in several
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and a public company listed on
the mainland stock market.

From September 2014 to June 2018, Mr. Li acted as the deputy
chairman and an executive director of China Best Group Holding
Limited (stock code: 370.HK). From July 2015 to September 2016,
he acted as the chairman and a director of Guanghe Landscape
Culture Communication Co., Ltd., Shanxi*, shares of which are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600234.SS). From
February 2017 to December 2018, he also served as an independent
non-executive director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code:
1106.HK). From November 2018 to December 2020, he acted as the
deputy chairman and an executive director of Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1089.HK). Such company was
privatized by way of a scheme of arrangement under the Companies
Act of its place of incorporation and its listing was withdrawn on
24 December 2020. From August 2020 to February 2021, he also
acted as an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(stock code: 1363.HK), the listing of which was cancelled under Rule
6.01A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. For further information of the above companies, please
refer to their respective public disclosures.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

On 19 April 2022, Mr. Li was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of HG Semiconductor Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6908.HK).

On 21 March 2023, Mr. Li was appointed as an executive director
and deputy chairman of IBO Technology Company Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2708.HK).

Mr. Li has held various senior management positions in a number of
capital investment and entity enterprises, and has extensive industry
experience in fashion apparel, trendy brand promotion, information
technology and other businesses.

Ms. TIN Yat Yu Carol (formerly known as TIN Yuen Sin Carol), aged
57, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 11
October 2019. She also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group including Delta Wealth Finance Limited. She joined the
Group in November 2016.

Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating business including money
lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and PRC. Ms. Tin
served as a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017 to 2018.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”) (formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited) from
2005 to 2011, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 996.HK). She also served as the chairman of
Carnival from 2006 to 2011.

On 5 May 2020, Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive director of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft Financial”), a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK). She has been the chairman of Finsoft
Financial since 19 May 2020.

On 11 April 2022, Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive director of
InvesTech Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1087.HK)
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Lung, aged 47, was appointed as the deputy
chief executive officer of the Company on 1 May 2017 and an
executive director of the Company on 28 June 2019. He also serves
as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group including Runway
Global Limited. Mr. Cheung is primarily responsible for the daily
management, business operations and corporate transactions of the
Group.

Mr. Cheung graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration
(Finance) from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
He is a CFA charterholder. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of working experience in the
banking and finance industry. He previously worked for a number of
investment banks and has extensive experience in handling various
corporate transactions such as initial public offerings, mergers and
acquisitions, reverse takeovers, restructuring and fund raising. During
his career, he also had worked in the field of private equity investment
for over 10 years including a senior position in the private equity
arm of Ichigo Inc. (formerly known as Asset Managers Co., Ltd.), a
company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange First Section (stock
code: 2337.T) in which he managed a portfolio with assets under
management over USD300 million in the Greater China region.

Mr. Cheung was a non-executive director of Stemcell United Limited
from October 2016 to November 2019, a company whose shares are
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: ASX:SCU).

Mr. CHAN Ming Leung Terence, aged 55, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 2 August 2021.

Mr. Chan has held key management positions in various companies
since 1999, including chemical, storage, trading and health care
product industries. He has extensive experience in international
trading, sales, marketing, strategic planning and business
development.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan was engaged in the health
care product business.
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Mr. GONG Xiaohan, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 8 December 2021.

Mr. Gong obtained his master’s degree in software engineering from
East China Normal University in 2018.

He started his career in IT industry since 2003, with a focus on the
area of sales and marketing. Between July 2003 and September
2016, he spent more than 13 years with Tencent, during which
he held senior positions at various departments. He individually
won a number of awards from Tencent in respect of his valuable
contributions to the business of Tencent.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gong was an entrepreneur. He
started his own company in 2017 and engaged in technology
business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 August
2016. He is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee
and also a member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Tang is a practising solicitor and an accredited mediator with the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre. He is a partner of P. C.
Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors with over 70 years of service in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Tang is @ member of the Panel member of the Insurance Appeals
Tribunal, honorary legal advisor of the General Agents and Managers
Association of Hong Kong, founding member and vice president
of the Hong Kong Institute Patent Attorneys, honorary senior legal
adviser of the Hong Kong Brands Protection Alliance, founding
member, board member and honorary legal counsel of the Hong
Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation, member of the
Standing Committee on Standards and Development of the Law
Society of Hong Kong, member of the Sichuan Committee of The
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, honorary legal
advisor of the Kitchee Foundation Limited, Executive Board Member
of Hong Kong Air Cadet Corps, fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors, board member of Monte Jade Science and
Technology Association of Hong Kong and member of Disciplinary
Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Tang was first appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 November 2013. He retired on 3
December 2015 in order to devote more time for his other personal
pursuits. He was re-appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 August 2016.

Mr. HON Ming Sang, aged 44, Committee Member of the 11th
Luoding Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 2 November 2016. He is the chairman
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and also a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Hon obtained an honor degree of Professional Accountancy in the
School of Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
He is a CFA charterholder. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate member of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 14 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance,
merger and acquisition, investment and financial management and
compliance services.

Mr. Hon is currently the chief financial officer and company secretary
of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd., a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1940.
HK).

From 7 February 2017 to 15 August 2022, Mr. Hon was an executive
director and company secretary of SFund International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1367.HK).
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On 31 January 2023, Mr. Hon was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of InvesTech Holdings Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1087.
HK). On 24 June 2020, Mr. Hon was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8018.HK). On 6 November 2020, Mr. Hon
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Asia
Energy Logistics Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 351.HK).

Ms. LO Wing Sze BBS, JP, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 January
2021. She is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Ms. Lo holds a degree of Bachelor of Economics from the University
of Sydney in Australia and a degree of Master of Commerce in
Finance from the University of New South Wales in Australia.

Ms. Lo is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia. She is the
general manager and financial director of Million Tour Limited and the
founder and financial director of M1 Hotel Group.

Ms. Lo was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 2017 and
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2020 by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. She is a member of the
Election Committee 2021 (The Fourth Sector) and was a member
of the Election Committee for the Fifth Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (Tourism subsector). Ms. Lo is
a member of the Social Workers Registration Board, the Advisory
Committee on Post-office Employment for Former Chief Executives
and Politically Appointed Officials, the Advisory Committee on
Admission of Quality Migrants and Professionals and the District Fire
Safety Committee (Wan Chai District). She is also an Honorary Court
Member of the Lingnan University.

On 21 August 2020, Ms. Lo was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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On 1 December 2022, Ms. Lo was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of New World Development Company Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0017.HK).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu, aged 43, is the chief financial officer of the
Company and also the company secretary of Runway Global Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in
June 2013. He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting and assisting in handling company secretarial matters of the
Group.

Mr. Chan graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
from the Hong Kong Shue Yan University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of working experience in professional
accounting, financial reporting, compliance services and corporate
finance such as initial public offerings.

*For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally engages in (i) design, manufacture and trading
of apparel, namely apparel operation; (i) provision of money lending
business, namely money lending operation; and (iii) selling of gaming
and animated characters related products, namely IP application and
products operation.

REVENUE

Economic activities were dampened by the deteriorated global
environment and tightened financial conditions as well as the
COVID-19 pandemic. Affected by the weakened economy in 2022,
the revenue of the Group decreased by 35.9% to approximately
HK$89,620,000 (2021: HK$139,818,000).

APPAREL OPERATION

Revenue from apparel operation is principally derived from the sales
of apparel products.

Considering the prevalence of trade protectionism, the increasing
uncertainties in US market and rising operating costs such as
logistics costs, we shifted our principal target market for our apparel
operation from the United Sates to Mainland China and Hong Kong
during the year.

Economic activities were affected to certain extent by weak external
economic growth and the resurgence of COVID-19 cases, causing a
slow down in Mainland China economic growth in 2022.

On the other hand, although Hong Kong economy recorded decline
in the first half of 2022 due to the fifth wave of the local epidemic,
the economy saw improvement in the rest of the year alongside the
stabilised local epidemic situation and relaxation of social restrictive
measures.

As Mainland China and Hong Kong are the principal markets for our
apparel operation, revenue from our apparel operation decreased
in the reporting period due to difficult environment. Revenue from
our apparel operation decreased by 42.5% to approximately
HK$74,337,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$129,254,000). Our apparel operation remained the largest
contributor to the Group’s business, accounting for 82.9% of the
Group’s total revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

Our money lending business primarily offers loans to individual
customers and small businesses in Hong Kong.

In 2022, our money lending business mainly focused on
providing service to existing customers and offered new loans to
them. Revenue from our money lending operation increased to
approximately HK$13,631,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$10,564,000), representing an increase of approximately
29.0% as a result of the increase in interest income received/
receivable from existing customers during the year. Money lending
operation accounted for 15.2% of the Group’s total revenue.

Provision of expected credit loss allowance on loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$21,196,000 (2021: HK$18,042,000)
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2022, increased by
17.5%.

Our loans and interest receivables (net of allowances) decreased
by approximately 14.4%, from approximately HK$114,667,000 as
at 31 December 2021 to approximately HK$98,163,000 as at 31
December 2022. The interest rate charged on all loans receivable
ranged from 2.3% to 24% (2021: 2.3% to 30%) per annum.

IP APPLICATION AND PRODUCTS OPERATION

Revenue from IP application and products operation is principally
derived from selling of gaming and animated characters products
of self-developed IPs or IPs licensed from third party, including blind
boxes, action figures, garage kits. The principal market of our IP
application and products is Mainland China.

In 2022, travel restrictions were imposed in many regions of Mainland
China due to the resurgence of COVID-19 cases, causing short
term impact on the local economy. With the adverse impact of
the pandemic on the consumer industry, the revenue from our IP
application and products operation was approximately HK$1,652,000
for the reporting period. IP application and products operation is a
new business operation for the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COST OF SALES

As there was no direct cost incurred for money lending operation,
cost of sales was incurred entirely for apparel operation and IP
application and products operation only. The cost of sales was
approximately HK$75,560,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: HK$101,119,000), decreased by 25.3%.

The decrease in cost of sales for 2022 was primarily reflected by less
material costs due to decrease in revenue from apparel operation for
the period.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$14,060,000 (2021: HK$38,699,000), decreased by 63.7%. The
gross profit margin decreased from approximately 27.7% for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to 15.7% for the year ended 31 December
2022. During the year, apparel operation recorded gross loss of
approximately HK$161,000 (2021: gross profit HK$28,135,000), while
money lending operation contributed approximately HK$13,631,000
(2021: HK$10,564,000) and IP application and products operation
contributed approximately HK$590,000 to the gross profit.

The apparel operation recorded gross loss of approximately
HK$161,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: gross
profit HK$28,135,000), due to decrease in revenue from apparel
operation and increase in the proportion of revenue from customers
which had lower gross profit margin.

The gross profit from money lending operation increased by
29.0% to approximately HK$13,631,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$10,564,000), as there was an increase
in revenue from money lending operation in the year. The gross profit
margin was 100% for money lending operation for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: 100%), as there was no direct cost
incurred in generating revenue in the money lending operation.

The gross profit from IP application and products operation was
approximately HK$590,000, the gross profit margin was 35.7%.
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Other gains and losses was approximately HK$66,221,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$1,831,000), increased by
3,517%.

On 24 August 2022, the Group entered into a compensation
agreement with Jiaxing Xiubei Development and Construction Co.,
Ltd (“Jiaxing Xiubei”), a state-owned enterprise appointed by the local
authority to execute a transaction, pursuant to which, Jiaxing Xiubei
agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed to sell its land situated
at No. 493, Dade Road, Xincheng Street, Xiuzhou District, Jiaxing
City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the “Target Land”) together with
the properties (the “Target Properties”) located at the Target Land
with aggregate compensation of approximately HK$81,659,000
payable by Jiaxing Xiubei, according to the relevant policy of the
Xiuzhou Government for the purpose of urban area redevelopment.
The transaction was completed in December 2022. Net gain from
disposal of land and buildings of approximately HK$74,762,000 (2021:
nil) was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022.

We received wage subsidies of approximately HK$432,000 in
2022 (2021: nil) granted from the Hong Kong SAR Government’s
Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund for the use
of paying wages of employees.

During the year, resulting from the volatile conditions of the Hong
Kong stock market and the financial performance of the respective
investee companies, a net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$10,111,000
(2021: HK$2,679,000) was recognised from the Group’s securities
investments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL

Goodwill arose on the (i) acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, and (i) acquisition of our IP application and products
operation in July 2022. Goodwill was the fair value of consideration
exceeding the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.
Goodwill is subject to impairment review periodically.

Impairment loss on goodwill for our money lending operation of
approximately HK$34,632,000 (2021: nil) was incurred in 2022.
This arose from our downward adjustment on future revenue from
money lending operation. We expect the business environment for
money lending operation will deteriorate due to intense competition.
The Group has appointed an independent valuer to assess the
recoverable amount of the money lending operation.

Our money lending business primarily offers loans to individual
consumers and small businesses in Hong Kong. In 2022, our money
lending business mainly focused on providing service to existing
customers.

There was no impairment loss on goodwill for our IP application and
products operation.

(PROVISION FOR)/REVERSAL OF EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS ON TRADE RECEIVABLES

Provision for expected credit loss on trade receivables of
approximately HK$550,000 (2021: Reversal of expected credit loss
of HK$125,000) was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2022. We provided impairment loss on trade receivables on individual
assessment.
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PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON
LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Provision for expected credit loss on loans and interest receivables of
approximately HK$21,196,000 (2021: HK$18,042,000) was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2022, increased by 17.5%. In
assessing the provision for expected credit loss for loans and interest
receivables, the Group considered (i) the loan receivables which have
been past due as at 31 December 2022; (i) the repayment history of
loan and interest receivables of each borrower during the year; and (iii)
the probability of default rate due to the inability of the borrowers to
make repayments to the Group when due.

The increase in the provision for expected credit loss was due to
deterioration of the credit status of certain borrowers. The loans and
interest receivables (net of allowances) decreased by approximately
14.4%, from approximately HK$114,667,000 at 31 December 2021
to approximately HK$98,163,000 at 31 December 2022,

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Dreamtoys Inc (the “Acquisition”). Dreamtoys
Inc and its subsidiaries (“Dreamtoys Group”) are principally engaged
in the sale of trendy cultural products in Mainland China. The
total consideration of the Acquisition would be settled by way of
issuance of 1) promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$4,400,000; 2) 120,000,000 consideration shares of the Company;
and 3) 60,000,000 consideration shares of the Company subject
to escrow arrangement, under which the vendor of Dreamtoys Inc.
guaranteed and undertake that the net profit after tax of Dreamtoys
Inc for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Profit Guarantee
Period”) should not be less than RMB3,600,000 (the “Guaranteed
Profit”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

If the Guaranteed Profit is not achieved by Dreamtoys Inc., amount of
consideration shares subject to escrow arrangement to be released
to the vendor shall be adjusted downwards.

Dreamtoys Inc did not perform as expected and recorded net profit
of approximately RMB3,229,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022, which failed to achieve the Guaranteed Profit in 2022. The
Group has exercised the right to extend the Profit Guarantee Period
to the year ending 31 December 2023 and the net profit after tax of
Dreamtoys Inc for the two years ending 31 December 2023 shall not
be less than RMB7,200,000.

Please refer to Company’s announcements dated 25 January 2022,
15 July 2022 and Company'’s circular dated 13 May 2022 for details
of the acquisition of Dreamtoys Inc.
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) transportation
costs for delivery of our products; and (ii) staff costs for our sales
representatives. The selling and distribution expenses were mainly
incurred for our apparel operation. The selling and distribution
expenses incurred in the reporting period were approximately
HK$1,865,000 (2021: HK$17,197,000), decreased by 89.2% on
a year to year basis. Most of the selling and distribution expenses
recorded declines for the period, in particular import duty and
transportation costs because we delivered less products to the
United States in the reporting period, as we shifted the principal
target for our apparel operation from the United States to Mainland
China and Hong Kong. As a percentage of revenue, selling and
distribution expenses decreased to 2.1% for the year ended 31
December 2022 from 12.3% for the year ended 31 December 2021.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs; (i) share-
based compensation; and (i) professional fees. The administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately
HK$76,290,000 (2021: HK$51,070,000), increased by 49.4%. In
2022, we incurred lay off expenses, which was included in staff
costs, relating to relocation of production facilities from our old
factory in Jiaxing City to a new factory premises in Jiaxing City, arisen
from disposal of Target Land and Target Properties. The increase in
the administrative expenses was also attributable to the increase in
share-based compensation arisen from issuance of share options in
the reporting period and the increase in professional fees.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$3,991,000 (2021:
HK$366,000), increased by 990.4%. Finance costs were mainly the
interest expenses derived from our convertible bonds and imputed
interests on lease liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses was approximately HK$7,472,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$251,000), increased by
2,882%. The increase in income tax expenses was mainly due to
the income tax incurred for the gain on disposal of Target Land and
Target Properties.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$65,895,000 (2021:
HK$46,271,000), representing an increase in loss attributable to
the owners of the Company of 42.4%. As previously discussed, the
increase in the loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
year were mainly due to (i) revenue decreased for the year due to
difficult environment, (ii) the impairment loss on our money lending
operation, and (jii) increase in administrative expenses. Nonetheless,
this financial impact was offset in certain degree by gain on disposal
of Target Land and Target Properties and decline in selling and
distribution expenses.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arose on the (i) acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, and (i) acquisition of our IP application and products
operation in July 2022. Goodwill was the fair value of consideration
exceeding the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.
Goodwill is subject to impairment review periodically.

Impairment loss on goodwill for our money lending operation of
approximately HK$34,632,000 (2021: nil) was incurred in 2022.
This arose from our downward adjustment on future revenue from
money lending operation. We expect the business environment for
money lending operation will deteriorate due to intense competition.
The Group has appointed an independent valuer to assess the
value of the money lending operation. Goodwill for our money
lending operation was impaired to nil at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$34,632,000).

There was no impairment loss on goodwill for our IP application and
products operation. Goodwill for our IP application and products
operation was valued at approximately HK$42,543,000 at 31
December 2022.
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INVENTORY

The Group’s inventories increased by 9.1%, from approximately
HK$6,016,000 as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
HK$6,564,000 as at 31 December 2022. The inventory turnover
day increased from 22 days as at 31 December 2021 to 32 days
as at 31 December 2022. In 2022, certain obsolete inventories of
approximately HK$1,297,000 (2021: HK$$521,000) were impaired.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trade receivables increased by 42.1%, from
approximately HK$27,486,000 as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$39,065,000 as at 31 December 2022. The trade
receivables turnover day increased from 72 days as at 31 December
2021 to 159 days as at 31 December 2022, primarily because there
were more orders in 2022 derived from customers who requested for
longer credit period.

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loans and interest receivables decreased by 14.4%,
from HK$114,667,000 as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
HK$98,163,000 as at 31 December 2022. The loans receivables
as at 31 December 2022 were mainly comprised of mortgage
loans receivables, corporate loans receivables and personal loans
receivables.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

The portfolio of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss business consisted of investments in listed securities
of approximately HK$10,634,000 that were held for trading as at 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$15,681,000) and contingent receivable in
connection to acquisition of subsidiaries of HK$2,555,000.

No dividend income was received by the Group from its investments
in listed securities (2021: Nil). Resulting from the volatile conditions
of the Hong Kong stock market during the year and the financial
performance of the respective investee companies, a net fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$10,111,000 (2021: 2,679,000) was recognised
from the Group’s securities investments.

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities in
Hong Kong is to capture profit from the appreciation of the market
value of its invested securities and to receive dividend income. The
Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong will remain
volatile which may affect the performance of the Group’s securities
investments. The Board believes that the performance of the
securities investments of the Group will be dependent on the financial
and operating performance of the investee companies and the
market sentiment, which are affected by factors, such as interest rate
movements and performance of the macro economy. The Group will
continue to adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of
listed securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor
the performance of its securities investment portfolio.

TRADE PAYABLES

The Group’s trade payables decreased by 8.0%, from approximately
HK$19,124,000 as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
HK$17,586,000 as at 31 December 2022. The trade payables
turnover day increased from 69 days as at 31 December 2021 to 85
days as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to less payments were
made to suppliers during the year.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$52,012,000 (2021: HK$15,348,000). Total
borrowings and lease liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$31,457,000 (2021: HK$7,954,000), of
which approximately HK$6,241,000 (2021: HK$7,022,000) would
be repayable within one year and all the remaining borrowing and
lease liabilities of approximately HK$25,216,000 (2021: HK$932,000)
would be repayable after one year.

The current ratio of the Group was approximately 4.42 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: 4.87).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowing and
lease liabilities over total equity was approximately 15.0% as at 31
December 2022 (2021: 4.1%).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$10,634,000 (2021:
HK$15,681,000) were pledged as securities for the Group’s other
borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2021: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Substantial portion of the business transactions of the Group are
either denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) or in Hong Kong dollars.
The Board of Directors does not consider that the Group is exposed
to any material foreign currency exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging
instruments or any other alternatives have been used.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On 15 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital of Dreamtoys Inc. Dreamtoys Inc. and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sale of trendy cultural
products in Mainland China. The total consideration of the Acquisition
would be settled by way of issuance of 1) promissory note in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$4,400,000; 2) 120,000,000
consideration shares of the Company; and 3) 60,000,000
consideration shares of the Company subject to escrow arrangement.

Dreamtoys Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, operation and promotion of trendy cultural products.
Dreamtoys Group has been cooperating with the gaming arm of a
world-renowned Internet and mobile value-added service provider
(the “Gaming Partner”). Owing to the Gaming Partner’s high volume
of high-quality intellectual property resources, leading entertaining
contents and user base, Dreamtoys Group seeks to create synergy
with the Gaming Partner by further exploring the commercial values
of the licenced IPs. The Gaming Partner has authorized the IP rights
of the characters in its most famous games so that Dreamtoys Group
can develop trendy cultural products derived from the elements of the
IPs.
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The operation of Dreamtoys Group forms part of our IP application
and products operation.

Other than stated in above, there was no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the years
ended 31 December 2022.

Please refer to Company’s announcements dated 25 January 2022,
15 July 2022 and Company’s circular dated 13 May 2022 for details
of the acquisition of Dreamtoys Group for details.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment (2021: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 150 employees
(2021: 181 employees). Total staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$50,719,000, as compared to approximately
HK$42,708,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Remuneration is determined with reference to market norms as well
as individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22
November 2013 whereby the Board was authorised, at its absolute
discretion and subject to terms of the Scheme, to grant options to
subscribe for the shares of the Company to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant”). On 19 April 2022, the Company granted options under
the Scheme to Eligible Participants to enable the Eligible Participants
to subscribe for an aggregate of 87,100,000 new shares of the
Company. Details of the share options granted and outstanding
during the year are set out in the paragraphs “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” in this annual report.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: nil).

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Completion of placing of convertible bonds in
January 2022 (the “First Convertible Bonds”)

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the Company
entered into a convertible bond placing agreement on 13 December
2021 in relation to the placing of convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$35,000,000 (the “First CB Placing”) which was
completed on 6 January 2022. The net proceeds from the First CB
Placing, after deduction of fees, commissions and expenses payable,
were approximately HK$34,125,000. The Company has applied the
net proceeds from the the First CB Placing for general working capital
of the Group as per disclosure in the announcements of the Company
dated 13 December 2021 and 6 January 2022 respectively.

Details of the First CB Placing are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 13 December 2021 and 6 January 2022.

The First Convertible Bonds are convertible by the bondholders into
ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.01 each at the option of the
bondholders, at a conversion price of HK$0.1496 per share.

On 12 January 2022, principal amount of HK$1,000,000 First
Convertible Bonds were converted into 6,684,491 ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price.

On 19 January 2022, principal amount of HK$14,000,000 First
Convertible Bonds were converted into 93,582,887 ordinary shares
of the Company at the conversion price.

On 8 September 2022, principal amount of HK$500,000 First
Convertible Bonds were converted into 3,342,245 ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price.
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BEEERWR DT

On 9 September 2022, principal amount of HK$1,000,000 First
Convertible Bonds were converted into 6,684,491 ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price.

On 6 October 2022, principal amount of HK$500,000 First
Convertible Bonds were converted into 3,342,245 ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price.

As at 31 December 2022, principal amount of HK$18,000,000 First
Convertible Bonds were outstanding and had not been converted
into ordinary shares of the Company.

In case the outstanding First Convertible Bonds are fully converted
into the ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price, a
maximum of 120,320,847 new shares will be allotted and issued by
the Company.

Completion of placing of convertible bonds in August
2022 (the “Second Convertible Bonds”)

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the Company
entered into a convertible bond placing agreement on 27 July 2022
in relation to the placing of convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 (the“Second CB Placing”) which was completed
on 15 August 2022. The net proceeds from the Second CB Placing,
after deduction of fees, commissions and expenses payable, were
approximately HK$14,850,000. The Company has applied the net
proceeds from the the Second CB Placing for general working
capital of the Group as per disclosure in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 July 2022 and 15 August 2022 respectively.

Details of the Second CB Placing are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and 15 August 2022.

The Second Convertible Bonds are convertible by the bondholders
into ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.01 each at the option of
the bondholders, at a conversion price of HK$0.25 per share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, principal amount of HK$15,000,000
Second Convertible Bonds were outstanding and had not been
converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

In case the outstanding Second Convertible Bonds are fully converted
into the ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price, a
maximum of 60,000,000 new shares will be allotted and issued by
the Company.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend any payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANGE PRACTICES

Mission Statement

The Company aims at maintaining long-term return for all
stakeholders and achieving assets growth by adoption of flexible
business model and strategies. The Board and the management of
the Company plays an active role in the development of the Group’s
business model. The “Chairman’s Statement” include discussions and
analyses of the Group’s performance, the basis on which the Group
directs to create values in the longer term and delivers the Group’s
objectives. Details of the Group’s business performance and financial
review for the year are set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

Alignment of Culture and Business Strategy

The Company demonstrates its corporate culture in its operations
and relations with its stakeholders. The Board instils a culture that
promotes and maintains a high standard of integrity, openness,
probity and accountability. The Directors always act with integrity,
lead by example, and promote the desired culture of the Company.
Such culture aligns with the core values of the Group of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly which is continually reinforced by
the Company. In order to promote and implement the purpose and
core values continuously, the Board has established various internal
policies and procedures e.g. anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy and
whistleblowing policy, which form an integral part of creating a healthy
corporate culture of the Group.

Board’s evaluation of corporate culture

It is the Board’s duty to ensure the desired culture is reflected in
the Company’s strategy, business model and operating practices.
The Board committees are adequately empowered and resourced
to embed values and assess the corporate culture. They work
collaboratively and report to the Board regularly to help the Board
draw insights into culture. Please see the sections below on the
duties of the Board committees and the work performed by each of
them during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code in force during 2022
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year.

The Board will keep reviewing and updating its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with legal and
commercial standards. The terms of reference of the Board
committees have been posted on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating strategies,
monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group. At the
same time, it also has the duty to enhance the effectiveness of the
corporate governance practices of the Group.

Under the Board, there are four committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. All these Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of
the senior management.

THE BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 8 Directors and
their respective roles are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)

TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHEUNG Ka Lung

CHAN Ming Leung Terence
GONG Xiaochan
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

DUTIES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

Duties of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but not limited to formulating
the Group’s business strategies, reviewing the Group’s financial
performance and results, deciding all significant financial and
operational issues and monitoring, reviewing the Group’s internal
control system and corporate governance; and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Company’s articles of association as
amended from time to time (the “Articles”).

Duties of the Management

In addition, the Board delegates to the Group’s management certain
functions including (i) the implementation of general daily operation
and strategies approved by the Board; (ii) the implementation of
internal control procedures; and (i) ensuring compliance with relevant
requirements and other rules and regulations.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors. All
of them have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the current Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. All the Directors carry out their duties
in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
making decisions objectively and acting in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders at all times.
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The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers them
independent.

Biographies of all Directors are listed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” set out
on pages 10 to 16.

CHAIRMAN AND DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. LI Yang, the chairman, provides leadership for the Board and
ensures that the Board works effectively and that all important issues
are discussed in a timely manner.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Lung, the deputy chief executive officer of the
Company, is responsible for managing the Group’s day-to-day
businesses and implementing major strategies and policies of the
Group.

The positions of the chairman and the deputy chief executive officer
are held by separate individuals so as to maintain an effective
segregation of duties.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance of the Group, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Additional
meetings are held when significant events or important issues are
required to be discussed and resolved.

The Company held 11 Board meetings and one annual general
meeting (“AGM”) and two extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”)
throughout the year. During the year, the chairman also held meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director is as follows:—

REZMHECHWT

Number of Board Number of AGM Number of EGM
meetings attended/ attended/ attended/

Name of director eligible to attend eligible to attend eligible to attend
ESEEELR/ RRBEASHE/ RRGAAELE/

£33 RERLERE  RERERERE  SERHEAH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: UrES:

LI Yang (Chairman) 305 (2E) 9/9 1/1 212

(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (R=E-ZE-RTNBEZT)

TIN Yat Yu Carol B4 11 il 22

CHEUNG Ka Lung REE 1M 1 2/2

CHAN Ming Leung Terence Rz A1 1/1 212

GONG Xiaohan EER 111 il 22

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:  BuFHTEE !

TANG Shu Pui Simon B 111 il 22

HON Ming Sang Bt 111 171 212

LO Wing Sze Bkt 11/11 11 22

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and business as well as
his/her responsibilities under the relevant laws, rules and regulations.
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The development and training of Directors are an ongoing process
so that the Directors can perform their duties appropriately. The
Directors are provided with periodic updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, the Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
they continue to make contribution to the Board in an informed and
relevant manner.

The chart below summarises the participation of the individual

Directors in continuous professional development during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report:

Name of director
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Participated in continuous
professional development

EENE SEGEEERR"
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: HITESE

LI Yang (Chairman) =% (£E) v

(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (RZZE_ZF—A+ILBEZE)

TIN Yat Yu Carol H—17 v
CHEUNG Ka Lung RRH v
CHAN Ming Leung Terence BREA S v
GONG Xiaohan e IR v
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: BV EHTESE :

TANG Shu Pui Simon BRI S v
HON Ming Sang FRERAE v
LO Wing Sze B KT v
* Attend seminars/conferences/forums/briefings/workshops/programmes; and/or LR EERE  CEERAENEER

read materials relevant to the business, director’s duties, corporate governance
or regulatory updates, etc.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment (as the case may be) with the Company for a period of
three years.

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall
retire from the office and being eligible offer themselves for re-election
provided that every Director shall be subject to the retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A new Director is subject to
re-election by the shareholders at the first general meeting after his or
her appointment in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, Mr. LI Yang, Mr. HON
Ming Sang and Ms. LO Wing Sze will retire from office by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee on 22 November
2013. The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang.
Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others:

- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- identifying suitable and qualified individuals to join the Board;

- assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Throughout the year, 2 meetings of the Nomination Committee were

held and the attendance record of each committee member is as
follows:—

Name of director

PREARE
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PEERIT2AIREZLZETEEZNTEE

BREFEHNRE - RIRRAEK
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i -

mE}

BB FECENT

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

EEHA HESEREEERRE

LI Yang (Chairman) =5 (FE) 2/2
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (RZZE=F—A+NBHEZE)

TANG Shu Pui Simon B8 2/2

HON Ming Sang A 2/2

During the year, the Nomination Committee performed the following
work:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board with
reference to the Company’s board diversity policy;

- provided recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors;

- reviewed the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
AGM held on 21 June 2022;
- reviewed the confirmations of independence from the

independent non-executive Directors; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. Taking into
account the following, the Nomination Committee considered that the
Company had in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board:

- a sufficient number of three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board by
(i) participating in board meetings to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conduct; (i) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise; (iii) serving on the audit, remuneration, nomination and
corporate governance committees; and (iv) scrutinising the
Company'’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.

- the Chairman holds meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors at least annually without presence of other
Directors providing effective platform for the Chairman to listen
independent views on various issues concerning the Group;
and

- independent professional advice would be provided to

independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable request
to assist them to perform their duties to the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has established a set of nomination policy setting out
the approach to nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies. The criteria of nomination have been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, skills, experience,
qualifications and aspects as detailed in the board diversity policy.

During the year, the Company reviewed its nomination policy for a
formal, considered and transparent procedure to help identifying
and nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination
of candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would be
given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience and
qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed that
members of the Nomination Committee collectively have required
relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and evaluate individuals
nominated for directorships.

The process of our appointment and re-election of Directors are as
follows:

Potential new Directors are identified and considered for appointment
at any time by the Board upon recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. Nomination Committee considers the candidates based
on merit having regard to the knowledge, experience, skills and
expertise as well as the overall board diversity which, in the opinion of
the Directors, will enable them to make positive contributions on the
performance of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board
as appropriate. Emoluments of new Directors will be considered by
the Remuneration Committee.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has established a set of board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board with the aims
of enhancing the Board’s effectiveness and corporate governance
as well as achieving our business objectives and sustainable
development. Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, required
expertise, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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The Board currently consists of a diverse mix of Board members ZEZEBARZTLESTSKEARK - UE&
, Hits

appropriate to the business needs of the Company, whose ZAAFIMERTE - HESBIEOT :
backgrounds are briefly set out below:

Designation Executive Director Z1E HITES
Independent non-executive Director BUIERITES
Skills, knowledge Accounting R - MERk =
and professional Business Development H KR EERE
experience Not) Compliance s
Corporate Finance PEFE
Corporate Management TR
Entrepreneurial =IES
Finance Rl
Financial Management TRIEIE
Legal e
Trading 25
Sales and Marketing SHE K& H
Strategic Planning B g Tl
Gender Female %5 g
Male S
Note: Directors may possess multiple skills, knowledge and professional experience. WeE - EEYHEA ZIERRE - A REELSR -

A summary of the gender statistics in the workforce of the Group for  ANFEAREER 8 TEBKH MR ZUEZR
the year is disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance ANAFIAIRE - LS NREAMEPHEE - K
Report of the Company. At present, the Group does not set any SE BRI EREETEKER MR Z Tk
targets for achieving gender diversity in the workforce. Nevertheless, M EAB1R - @EE WL - AEEE(E S BE
the Group’s policies on human resources in the recruitment and REHFTEMHA N ERBEKERES AEL
promotion of employees would ensure candidates or employees are  {E B JhiRIEF gL -~ A - KB ARRERE
assessed based on objective factors such as their skills, knowledge, HEZMm#EITaIE - TREMR - BIRIRH
experience and performance, irrespective of their respective gender, 517 + # L A T FE 8 THER B

race or religion, with the aim of facilitating a fair and equal working & °
environment and opportunities.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Remuneration Committee on 22
November 2013. The Remuneration Committee currently consists
of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr.
HON Ming Sang. Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among
others:

- formulating remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment, employment
conditions, and responsibilities, and individual performance of
the Directors and senior management;

- ensuring that no director or any of their associates is involved in
deciding that director’s own remuneration; and

- reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Throughout the year, 4 meetings of the Remuneration Committee
were held and the attendance record of each committee member is
as follows:

Name of director

E2ECRTIRFHEEEERNERES

FXE M FRET

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

BEEfSE HEEEREESERE

TANG Shu Pui Simon (Chairman) BOEE (F/%) 4/4

LI Yang =5 3/3
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (KRB =F—AT+hHEZT)

TIN Yat Yu Carol (ceased as H—F 11
a member since 19 January 2022) (BAZE=_=F—ATNLBTERKE)

HON Ming Sang FRERAE 4/4

During the year, the Remuneration Committee performed the
following work:

- reviewed the performance of the Directors and senior
management, and made recommendations as to their
discretionary bonus and remuneration package;

- reviewed the remuneration policy and annual bonus policy;

- provided recommendations to the Board in respect of
remuneration of executive directors and senior management,

including grant of share options; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Corporate Governance Committee on 22
November 2013. The Corporate Governance Committee currently
consists of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui
Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang. Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee.

The main duties of the Corporate Governance Committee include,
among others:

- developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Throughout the year, one meeting of the Corporate Governance
Committee was held and the attendance record of each committee
member is as follows:

Name of director

ESfR

EFEDET-REXERZEEERNEER
SR 939 E’Jﬁfuﬂfﬂlﬂ’

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HESERHEERRY

LI Yang (Chairman) =5 (FE)

(was appointed on 19 January 2022)

TANG Shu Pui Simon BEE
HON Ming Sang FRERE

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee performed the
following work:

- reviewed and monitored the policies and practices of the Group
on corporate governance;

- approved the Corporate Governance Report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company

for the year then ended,;

- reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 22 November 2013.
The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, Mr. HON Ming
Sang and Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr. HON Ming Sang is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others:

- monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual and interim financial reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments and accounting policies contained
therein;

- satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and as
to the adequacy of the external and internal audits;

- making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor; and

- reporting the findings and making recommendations to the
Board on a regular basis.

Throughout the year, 2 meetings of the Audit Committee were held
and the attendance record of each committee member is as follows:

Name of director
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Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

EENE HE SEREEER R
TANG Shu Pui Simon BOE E 2/2
HON Ming Sang FREEAE 2/2
LO Wing Sze ZEIKET 2/2
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During the year, the Audit Committee performed the following work:

- reviewed the re-appointment and remuneration of BDO Limited
as the Group’s auditor;

- reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems;

- reviewed the annual and interim financial statements, reports,
and results announcement of the Group prior to publication;
and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group’s results and cash flows for
the year then ended and was properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which
may affect the Group’s business or cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out
in the Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry with each of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Board has also adopted written guidelines based on the Model

Code for relevant employees of the Group in respect of their dealings
in the Company’s securities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group highly values the importance of internal control and risk
management for the smooth running of its business. The Board is
responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information, and ensuring
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations.

The process used by the Group to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks are twofold:

Internally, the Corporate Governance Committee closely monitors
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports to the Board regularly. The Corporate
Governance Committee shall report to the Board immediately once
any non-compliance issues are noted.

Externally, the Company engages an independent external
professional firm to perform the internal audit function, who is
responsible for carrying out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

Below is a specific disclosure of the credit risk assessment policy and
internal control procedures of the Group’s money lending business:

Credit Risk Assessment Policy & Internal Control
Procedures

The Company’s money lending business has been conducting
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Delta Wealth Finance Limited
(“Delta”), and it focuses on individual consumer and small business
markets in Hong Kong.
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Delta undergoes the following general procedures in assessing loan
applications:

(A)  Obtaining identity proof

(B) Obtaining address proof

(C) Repayment ability assessment
(D)  Credit worthiness assessment

Based on the above procedures, the Company considers that the
credit risk and the risk of breaching the relevant laws and regulations
in connection with anti-money laundering or antiterrorist financing are
relatively low. Nonetheless, the Company has in place all necessary
measures to mitigate the risk of money laundering or terrorist
financing risk of potential customers’ businesses, such as the nature
and details of the business/occupation/employment of the potential
customer; the anticipated level and nature of the activity; location of
potential customer; the expected source and origin of the funds; and
the initial and ongoing source(s) of wealth or income.

Furthermore, for guarantors who provide personal/corporate
guarantee in favour of a loan, where applicable, are also required to
meet the same basic eligibility and approval criteria as the borrower
of loans, and will be required to go through the same verification and
approval procedures. In case where loans are secured over certain
properties in Hong Kong or personal assets such as diamonds and
jewelries, the Company would engage independent third parties such
as legal advisors to investigate on the title deeds of the properties and
for personal assets charged, certificates of authenticity are requested
for verification.

After credit assessment and review of the loan applications, with
the loan terms determined (having taken into consideration factors
such as the credit risks of the customers, their recoverability and the
prevalent market interest rates), loan documents will be prepared
by the finance manager and the loans will be recommended to the
executive Director in charge of the Group’s money lending business
for review prior to reporting to the Board or approval (as the case may
be). Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, being an executive Director and the sole
director of Delta, is responsible for the approval of loans in relatively
smaller amount, and reporting the same to the Board.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

UTRBEFAERHR BN —RIET

(B EUSHULFEE
©) EReENFHE
O) EEFHE

HEHR LAEF - ARRARREERRLER
B kRSBmO FESEEFHNIEE
ERERMARBRE - @EML - ARFE
R0 BERREEERPRBLE
RO FEZEERR  HIMEEEFPH
BB EROME RS EHEH
KERME  BEEPUE  ELWTEME
IR IREE - DA B B S AR F)46 Ko R R
R e

A REFEREEAEEEROERA
(@Em) mFdime BEREBERARRNE
RER R ERE - XHFLBERNEZ R
HERF - HRUABBETUERREAEE
(Bl a RIRE) SERNERER - AR
AIREERE =T (FIIERER) #E
AZEMENRREZE - RN EAEE
mE » BRFEENEFAURZE -

HERBBETEENELEELETER
fFm (REREFHOEERE - HrllEE
RBRITHEMNEERR) & - MHEE/E
BEZXM - ERESGRRIIE (RB
ATE) Bl ERBEETAEAEEER
MEXBNITESTES - A—TRLTER
ARAMHITEEMRMENK—EE B85
HESHERINEN  WAEESHR -



Corporate Governance Report

Delta would report the potential loan(s) to the Company and its Board
of Directors for the consideration by its members, if it is of larger
amount (i.e. by assessment of size tests under chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules, may constitute a discloseable transaction or above),
in which case, such potential loan(s) shall be reported to the Board
for discussion and approval, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) shall then consider whether such loans are
on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, for any
potential loan(s) which may involve connected person(s) as defined
under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, such loan(s) will be reported
to the Board immediately for assessment with respect to size tests
and assessment by the Board as elaborated above.

Last but not least, Delta would conduct regular review and carry out
follow up actions (on a monthly and continuing basis) in respect of
overdue amounts to minimise the Group’s exposure to credit risk and
follow up closely with its customers as to the deadlines in payment
of interest of the loans. An aging analysis of the debtors would be
prepared on a monthly basis and would be closely monitored to
minimise any credit risk associated with these debtors. Status of
Delta’s loan portfolio would be reported to the Board on a monthly
basis, such that the Board may closely monitor the loan portfolio
and continue to adopt risk control and management strategies while
broadening the customer base.

Delta has standard procedures in dealing with default in payment. In
case there are any minor defaults, its management will send reminder
and/or demand letters to its customers. In case the default for loans
persists (i.e. delay in repayment has exceeded for three months or
above), the collection procedure will commence and Delta will engage
lawyers in advising on the loan, its recovery and enforcement action.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 1 September
2022 for more details.
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Review the effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board conducted an
annual review of its risk management and internal control systems
and reviewed the reports issued by the independent external
professional firm. The annual review considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience etc. of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. The
main features of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include financial, operational and compliance controls.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and as such, can only
provide reasonable (rather than absolute) assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The risk management and internal control
systems also serve to improve communication of identified risks with
management, measure the impact of the identified risk and facilitate
the implementation of coordinated mitigating measures.

The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board
will continue to assess the effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems by considering reviews and
recommendations made by the Corporate Governance Committee
and senior management.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a
decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

- the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;
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- the Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved. Inside information is restricted to relevant parties on
a need-to-know basis so as to ensure confidentiality;

- the Group strictly prohibits unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information;

- the Group has also implemented procedures to guard against
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group
including natification of regular blackout period and securities
dealing restrictions to Directors and relevant employees; and

- the Group keeps the Directors and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside
information.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide
risk is a top priority of the Company. The Company is convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O
Insurance is reviewed and renewed annually.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Ms. WONG Ka Man, a
representative from an external secretarial service provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Wong has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person with the company secretary of the
Company is the deputy chief executive officer of the Company.
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AUDITOR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, remuneration payable to the
auditor of the Group is approximately HK$990,000 for audit service
and HK$125,000 for non-audit service.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the EGM held on 25
March 2022, the Company adopted its second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association. The latest version
is available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Articles, shareholders holding not less than
10% of the paid up capital of the Company can convene an EGM
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company. In addition, shareholders can raise any questions relating
to published information and latest strategic plan of the Group with
the Directors. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholders
can also submit enquiries to the management and send proposals
to be put forward at shareholders’ meeting to the Board or senior
management by sending e-mails to ir@vmh.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles and guidelines in relation to declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders. The
distribution of dividend will be considered and determined by the
Board based on the Group’s operating results, cash flow, financial
position, business prospects, and statutory and regulatory restrictions
relating to dividend distributions as well as other factors that the
Board considers appropriate.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level
of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors.

The Company maintains various communication channels with
its shareholders and the investment public to ensure that they are
kept abreast of the Company’s latest news and development. The
Company updates its shareholders on its development, financial
results and major events through its annual and interim reports. All
published information is promptly uploaded to the website of the
Company at www.vmh.com.hk.

The Chairman, other members of the Board and the external
auditor attend the Company’s annual general meeting to meet the
shareholders. The Directors and management of the Company are
available to answer questions and listen feedbacks from shareholders
regarding the performance of the Group. The Company has reviewed
its Shareholders’ Communication Policy during the year, and believes
that the Shareholders’” Communication Policy remains appropriate
and effective.
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RIR - HERERHE

The Board is pleased to present this report on environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) which set out the Group’s support to various
sustainable development efforts and ESG concepts, visions and
policies during the year ended 31 December 2022 (“the Year”).

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The ESG Report mainly describes the environmental and social
policies of the core businesses of the Group in the PRC and Hong
Kong of the PRC, comprising design, manufacturing and trading
of apparel products, and money lending business. The Group
continues to take the environmental and social performance of the
manufacturing plant in Jiaxing, China (“Jiaxing Plant”) and three
offices in Hong Kong as the disclosure focus of the environmental
and social key performance indicators. For details about the Group’s
corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 34 to 57.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is compiled in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide”) under
Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange, which applies the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality:

The content of the ESG Report is determined based on the
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment, which covers
the identification of ESG-related issues, gathering and review of the
opinions from internal management and stakeholders, assessment
on the relevance and materiality of the issues, and preparation and
verification of the information of the ESG Report. The ESG Report
provides comprehensive coverage of the key ESG issues of concern
to the Group’s stakeholders.

Quantitative:

The Group has disclosed the quantitative environmental and social
key performance indicators (“KPI”) in the ESG Report. The criteria,
methods, reference and conversion factors used to calculate the
KPIs are stated to enable stakeholders to have a comprehensive
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.
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Consistency:

The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation methods so
far as reasonably practicable and details the significant changes in
methodologies in relevant sections to facilitate the comparison of
ESG performance between years.

COMMENT AND FEEDBACK

We value your views on this report, and please email any comment or
suggestion on the report to: info@vmh.com.hk.

ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group is committed to the implementation of corporate goals
and visions as well as the active fulfillment of social responsibilities.
We have developed ESG management approach to benefit all
stakeholders, contribute to society and protect the environment
under the principle of sustainable development. In the meantime, the
Group values the opinions of different stakeholders, which are taken
as the basis for the development of our sustainable development
policies. We are committed to communicating with stakeholders in a
diversified way, understanding and trying our best to respond to their
expectations and requirements, so as to improve our performance in
ESG.

Governance Framework of ESG

For the sake of effective top-down implementation of sustainable
development strategy, the Group has developed an independent
internal control and risk management framework with the Board,
deputy chief executive officer and senior management of the
Company as the core. Moreover, we will review and adjust relevant
sustainable development policies from time to time to understand
and meet the expectations and needs of different stakeholders.

RIR - HERERHE
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RIE - HERERRE

The ESG governance framework of the Group is as follows:

Board of Directors

Developing and approving the Group’s development and
business strategies, policies, annual budget and business
plan;

Reviewing, tackling and reporting all environmental and social
issues under the subject areas and aspects of the ESG
Guide;

Overseeing the Group’s execution and performance of ESG
related matters; and

Making timely adjustments to the Group’s strategies.

REERESGERRBANT ¢

E=g

B RBERAEE 2 BR N FBER
B~ BOR - FEFRAENMEBIIER |

=B - MR N IERAESGHESI T
PIBERREAMEEENEENE
|
EEAREENESGHBEER L1
BITRKRE &

Ro s 8 B 7 5 | O SR S o

BIEEHITE

‘(

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Executing the duties entrusted by the Board, including the
overall strategies and approach on operational, financial,
environmental and social issues and obligations;

Analysing and establishing key performance indicators; and

Coordinating with the objectives, visions and policies of the
Group to carry out supervision and continual actions.

v

Senior Management

Leading and supervising the implementation of sustainable
development objectives and policies of the Group;
Formulating and executing ESG policies;

Keeping track and reporting to the Board of emerging market
trends regarding ESG-related issues that may potentially
impact the Group’s business operations;

Overseeing, reviewing and discussing the content and quality
of the annual ESG Report, and presenting the ESG Report to
the Board; and

Informing the Board of the Group’s development in ESG
performance, visions and strategies through Board meetings.

v

Business Units

Coordinating and implementing ESG policies and measures
of the Group at different stages of business operations; and
Collecting ESG related information and data.
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To evaluate and prioritise material ESG issues, the Group has
engaged an independent ESG consulting firm in the Year to
help identify material ESG issues and provide advice on its ESG
performance. The consulting firm assisted in gathering and analysing
the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders (including the Board,
senior management and employees) on ESG issues and conducted
materiality assessment. The issues would be reviewed and prioritised,
and those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders
are considered as material. The senior management reviews and
presents to the Board the results of the assessment and identifies
material ESG issues of the Group.

In the aim of formulating and executing effective ESG policies and
measures, the Board reviews the plans and execution of ESG-
related work with respect to its targets and goals during regular
meetings. The Group also shares its progress in ESG with different
stakeholders, most notably through the Group’s annual ESG Report.
The senior management will continue to oversee ESG-related work
and keep abreast of the latest ESG disclosure requirements of the
Stock Exchange for the Board to lead the Group’s ESG progress
effectively.

RIR - HERERHE
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Engagement

The management and staff from various departments of the Group
jointly prepare the ESG Report of the Year and assist the Group in
reviewing its operating conditions. The solicitation of views from the
management and other staff enables the Group to identify major
issues at the environmental and social levels and make relevant
disclosure and response in the ESG Report.

K ESH

AEENEEEREHFFIREAREEAF
EHESGHE - M 15 B AN B et & &M
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Stakeholder Expectations and Ways of Communication and
Requirements Response
BHHE HRBEER BEEDERX
Government and e Abiding by national and regional e Timely reporting of information
Regulatory Authorities policies, laws and regulations TR IE RS B
TR B ES S PRI B[R BOR OAREAR ¢ Ongoing communication with
e Promoting local employment regulatory authorities
HENM TR FHEREERIBEER
e Paying taxes on time e |nspection and supervision
R mE REE
Shareholders e Returns e General meetings
IR (B %R &N
e Compliant operation e Company announcements
BRES NSIVN-S
® |ncrease in company value e E-mail, telephone communication
RARREEA and company website

e |Improving information
transparency and effective
communication

EEEMBRRARER

Partners e Business integrity
BYERH WSS
e Fair competition
NFHF
e Due performance of contracts
BITEH)
e Mutual benefit and win-win result
B HEF
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholder Expectations and Ways of Communication and
Requirements Response
BHE HIZEER BEEEERN
Customers e High-quality products and services e Customer service center and hotline
ENS B E m B AR S BRI OFIZAR
e Health and safety e Customer communication meetings
ERET 2 EFARE®
e Due performance of contracts e Social media
B1TEH) AR
e Business integrity
MEEE
Environment e Discharge in compliance e Communicating with
IR with standards local environmental authorities
EZBER HE M IRIFEPIZR
e Energy conservation and
emission reduction
B EE IR HE
e Ecological protection
A REIRE
Industry e Promoting industrial developments e Participate in industry forums
7% fRETTRE R DEITERE
e Visits and inspections
ZRE5
Staff e Occupational health e Staff communication meetings
BT B ER BIE®Eg
e Remuneration and benefits e Employee mailbox
A BI{E4
e Career development e Employee activities
BEER BIE®
Community and the e |mproving community environment e Company announcements
General Public HEMRIRIE NEIVNGS
HEEAR e Participating in public welfare e Company website
undertakings NSIFED
DENTHEE * Social media
e Information disclosure and FERR RS
transparency
B FIFER
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RIR - HERERHE

Materiality Assessment

To develop a clear and effective ESG management approach, the
Group has conducted a materiality assessment to identify ESG issues
that are important to its business and stakeholders. The materiality
assessment was based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps
provided by well-known external institutions' and advice from the
independent ESG consulting firm. The Group identified 10 material
ESG issues to be discussed in detail in this report.

BRI

REH R BB EIE ESGER T E - ANEH
BEETEEHE - UEBIE AR T EB R
HEHEZHERNESGEE - E2MFTE
DERFNERAE - MBI BEIBREHNE
EEGE LA RIS ESG B EZETT
AEBE BB AR RERSFAT RO 10IA
ESGEZEHE °

Aspects Material Issues
[EmE EZEE
Environmental ° Environmental Compliance
1215 IRIBAH
° Energy Consumption
BEIRERE
° Use of Water Resources
IKEJRE
Employment and Labour Practices ° Employment compliance
BREKBIER BIREHA
o Remuneration and benefits
FE A
o Occupational health and safety
BERERETE
Operating Practices o Customer privacy protection
EIEED BRILBRE
° Intellectual Property Protection
AR
° Anti-corruption
RES

° Customer Health and Safety

EFRERLE

! The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment have included
the ESG Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced
respectively by Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) and the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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GREEN OPERATION

The Group adheres to the approach of “observing environmental
protection regulations, raising environmental awareness,
emphasizing pollution prevention, optimising resource utilisation,
striving to conserve energy and reducing consumption, continuous
improvement” during apparel manufacturing to shoulder the social
responsibility of environmental protection. Besides, the Group strictly
abides by environmental laws and regulations enacted by the country
and local environmental department, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes and Law of the People’s Republic of China on Promoting
Clean Production, as well as carries out close monitoring on activities
with potential impact on the environment so as to have a solid grasp
of the impacts of the operation on the surrounding environment, and
fuffill its responsibilities and obligations of environmental protection.

During the Year, no violation of relevant environmental laws and
regulations was involved or discovered by the Group.

Environmental Goals and Progress

The Group is committed to maintaining transparency and tracking
progress on the various initiatives to achieve the goals we set during
the Year. The table below highlights our environment-related goals
in different aspects. The Group also ensures that the environmental
impact of the Jiaxing Plant is minimised through continuous
improvement and is committed to continuously monitoring the
progress of its goals.

RIR - HERERHE
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RIR - HERERHE

Section with

Aspects Our Goals Corresponding Measures
B RMANBEE e &
Emissions Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions intensity Green Operation
HER ARG = RS S BeEE
Emissions Management
PR E IR
Waste Harzadous and non-harzardous waste Green Operation
BEEY) disposal in compliance KREEE
BEREZEEYNSHRE Waste Management
BEEYEIR
Water Improve the utilization efficiency of energy and Use of Resources
7K water resources EREMA
@ ALIR KB IREI N A RER
Electricity Improve the utilization efficiency of energy and Use of Resources
ES water resources EREMA
SRR KK B TRE)F K
Environmental Management System RIEEEEAR

The Group has established an environmental management system,
including but not limited to relevant systems and procedures such
as environmental management, pollution control management and
solid waste management. The environmental management system is
composed of four parts of “planning, implementation, inspection and
correction, and review”. The environmental management objectives,
indicators and plans shall be strictly implemented within each
department upon approval, and managers shall be responsible for
supervising and inspecting the implementation of the plan. The Group
also holds regular environmental management review meetings to
ensure the effective implementation of environmental approaches,
objectives, indicators and plans to maintain the continuous
applicability, adequacy and effectiveness of the environmental
management system. Environmental protection report is an important
part of the environmental management review meeting, which enables
the Group to understand, research and resolve major environmental
issues in a timely manner.
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The environmental management system of the Group is as follows:

Planning

B

Identifying, assessing
and confirming significant
environmental aspects;
Bl FHE REREARR
RREE

Identifying applicable laws,
regulations and other
requirements; and
BRIEREERE  ER R
HMER : Rk

Formulating environmental
objectives, indicators and
plans.
HEREBEBR - HBER

Wik

Implementation

Bt

Implementing
environmental objectives,
indicators and plans
according to its
responsibilities by each
unit;
BURBHBEERER

AR EEMSR

Providing staff training on
relevant laws, regulations
and environmental
approaches; and
RUEBERERIIRE
FEHENETE : &

Implementing emergency
preparedness and
response measures.
B ERMELR

e
B0t ©

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

Inspection and

Correction

BEHEAIE

Monitoring and measuring
activities with significant
potential environmental

impacts;

YA RAEEARETLE

BY)E BT EDRIANAI 2

Carrying out compliance
evaluation and internal
audit at least once a year;
and
BFETRL—REHRE
FHE RAEEZ 0 &

Investigating and dealing
with non-compliance and
taking measures to reduce
impact.
AEFRIBIERIBER
RSB D HE -

REBRRFERRBEMNT

Review

HE

Holding at least
one environmental
management review
meeting every year.
GERNB D —RBAE
EEEE -
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RIR - HERERHE

Emissions Management

The Group has been committed to environmental protection to
reduce emission and waste during production and operation by
adopting clean energy and controlling resource consumption
as much as possible and has spared no effort in environmental
protection over the years. Jiaxing Plant has taken measures to
reduce emissions and is committed to reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. The Group also provides training on pollution prevention
for staff to fulfill its environmental protection responsibilities. The daily
operations of the Group are mainly located in offices and plants, and
the production process only includes cutting, sewing and apparel
manufacturing processes, so no significant amount of exhaust gas or
other air pollutants with significant impact on the environment will be
generated. In addition, the Group’s exhaust gas emission was mainly
derived from vehicle use and the data of relevant exhaust emissions
are as follows:

BRER

AEB-—BEHNRERE  ZBARKAR
R R LG EREE - WD EEMK
LBREFHBBARE - ZHEKR - AKRER
RERFTHE R TNEHRN - REBEER
HUBHHEN - BUOEREREEHM - K&
Br A B TiIRIHABENRIRSRNEI -
NETTRERENSIE - AEENBFEE
TBURBRELRE  MEEBRERBRE

(5T - 424 BREIF - AATEELX
EERIEMUREAEATENETRIGR
Yo REBERBERENEZRNEMER
THEAEE RBEREE T

Exhaust Gas Emissions!' Unit 2022 2021
BER M By —g-=F —T-—F
Nitrogen oxides kg 35.86 35.31
gkt T

Sulfur oxides kg 0.11 0.16
Haty T

Particulates kg 1.80 1.84
FERLY) T

Note: MIE

1. The calculation and emission factors used are from the Appendix Il “Reporting 1. FTE A ERFERA T TR BB R AR SR =

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” (the “Appendix II”) published by the Stock
Exchange and the “Land Transport Enterprises - Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas
Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) of the PRC.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

CREBRHERIERERESD (TH#=)) RHE
BRERMBELZES ([BERENE]) #hHH
(ELZBERDE - RERBIMRENERR
S (A7)



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The greenhouse gas emission of the Group mainly comes from

Bl HEREA

wE

$%IE’95 EREYNEBRREEWMAFIH

vehicle fuel consumption, purchased electricity consumption and BENEEREIMEER - ANEE
employees’ business air travels. The greenhouse gas emission data & *ﬁﬁfﬁﬁk%@%ﬁﬂ—lt :
of the Group are as follows:
Greenhouse Gas Emission Unit 2022 2021
AZEREHERK B —EBCF —B—F
Total greenhouse gas emissions' tCO.e 254 303
mERBEHEE WE—SLIRE 2
Scope 1: Direct emissions? tCOe 24 25
—  BEHEWRA WS i E S
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions® tCOe 198 265
#E_ - geIREEBERC Mg — ’ﬂ LIREE
Soope 3: Other indirect emissions* tCO.e 32 13
SE= - HbEEBERe Mg — %M CIRE &
Greenhouse gas emission intensity t CO e/employee 1.46 1.74
BERBNEE WE_ftiREE EE

Note:

Total greenhouse gas emissions are calculated in accordance with the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the”Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purpose) in Hong Kong” published by the
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department. The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions include carbon dioxide,
methane and nitrous oxide. For ease of reading and understanding, the data of
greenhouse gas emissions are presented in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(‘1 CO,e").

Scope 1 covers emissions from mobile combustion sources and emission
reductions from tree planting. The emission factors used are from the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the “Land Transport Enterprises -
Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued
by the NDRC of the PRC.

Scope 2 covers emissions from electricity purchased from power companies.
The emission factors used are from The Hongkong Electic Co., CLP Holdings
Limited and the “Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factor of China Regional
Power Grid in 2011 and 2012” issued by the NDRC of the PRC.

Scope 3 covers emissions from water treatment, waste paper disposal and
employees’ business air travel. The emission factors used are from the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange, “Study on Energy Consumption of Urban
Water Supply System in China” published by Tsinghua University, “Statistical
analysis and quantitative identification of the law of energy consumption in urban
sewage treatment plants in China” published by Tsinghua University and Nation
Urban Water and Drainage Engineering Technology Research Centre, and the
International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon Emissions Calculator.
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Wastewater Management

The production process of the Group only includes cutting, sewing,
apparel manufacturing and other processes, so the Group does not
involve the discharge of production wastewater. The discharged
wastewater by the Group is mainly domestic wastewater. The
domestic wastewater generated by the Jiaxing Plant is discharged
into the municipal pipelines equipped with filter facilities and treated
by the wastewater treatment station to reduce the impact on the
environment.

Waste Management

The Group has developed policies with regard to solid waste
management, collected waste separately in various departments and
working units so as to improve recycling. In addition, the random
stacking of solid waste is strictly prohibited, while non-hazardous
and hazardous wastes that cannot be reused must be collected and
handled by qualified units. With effective waste disposal strategies
and policies, the Group has minimised the environmental risks and
impacts caused by waste. During the Year, the non-hazardous
wastes generated by the Group are mainly domestic wastes, paper,
kitchen wastes and production wastes, including waste cloth and
waste electric wires. 135.56 tonnes (2021: 109 tonnes) of non-
hazardous wastes? were generated by the Group during the Year,
with an average of 1.40 tonnes (2021: 0.62 tonnes) of non-hazardous
wastes per employee. Moreover, the hazardous waste of our Group
mainly comes from office operations, such as light tubes and ink
cartridges, and the generated hazardous waste was handled by
qualified collectors. During the Year, the hazardous waste® generated
by the Group was 49kg (2021: 268kg), with an average of 0.28kg
(2021: 1.50kg) of hazardous waste per employee.

2 The production waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of
waste. The other non-hazardous wastes are calculated based on the volume of
waste. The volume and weight unit conversion factor is derived from the United
States Environmental Protection Agency and “Inquiry on the Charging Standard
for Volume Measurement of Non-residential Daily Waste and Food Waste” issued
by the Beijing Municipal Commission of Urban Management.

8 Hazardous waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of waste.
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Noise Management

The Group adopts noise reduction measures on equipment that
generates heavy noise to meet the emission standards of the industry
for noise, including the Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises
Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008), and strives to reduce the
significant impact of noise on the surrounding environment. Through
sealing the glasses of production units, intensifying maintenance of
equipment and adjusting the shock-absorbing function of equipment,
and preferentially selecting low-noise equipment, the Group has
effectively controlled noise generated during the production process.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group strives to optimise resource utilisation rate and enhance
energy saving and consumption reduction so as to reduce wastage
of resources and pollution. Therefore, the Group has formulated,
implemented and improved resources and energy management
policies and procedures to standardise and effectively use of
resources thereby enhancing production efficiency. Our environmental
protection approaches are published on the corporate bulletin
board, meanwhile, we actively promote environmental protection to
employees to enhance their awareness of environmental protection
and indoctrinate the concept of energy-saving, consumption
reduction, reduction of wastes at source, effective use of resources
and green office. We also monitor the use of water, electricity, paper,
packaging materials and other resources, thus effectively controlling
the use of resources and reducing wastage. Because the water
consumption and discharge of the Group’s three offices in Hong
Kong are solely controlled by the property management company
of the building, we have no access to the water consumption data
of these three offices. During the Year, the water consumption* was
13,123 cubic meters (2021: 20,886 cubic meters) in total and 75.42
cubic meters (2021: 120.03 cubic meters) per employee on average.
In addition, the Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose during the Year.

4 The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.
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The Group’s data on use of resources are as follows:

AEEERERSBIELT

Use of Resources Unit 2022 2021
EREA By —EB-CF T —F
Use of Energy
BEIRBE
Total energy consumption MWh 368 501
BLIREFEEE JKEFLBF
Non-renewable fuel consumption’ MWh 86 103
PRI BAEREFEE JKEL B
Purchased electricity? MWh 282 398
SNEEEE )2 JK FLB
Energy consumption intensity MWh/employee 2.11 2.88
BERFEERE KEK,EE
Packaging materials consumption
BEMEMER
Paper consumption tonnes 7 6
MmEBEAE Mg
Paper consumption intensity kg/product quantity 0.01 0.01
MEERATE Tr/EmEE
Plastic consumption tonnes 0.26 0.26
BRERE i)
Plastic consumption intensity kg/product quantity 0.001 0.001
BRERTE FTr/EnfE
Note: FI3E -
1. Non-renewable fuel consumption is from the use of vehicle fuel, which is 1. T BEREREE I REERRRNER @ 1%

calculated based on the actual amount consumed. The fuel and energy unit
conversion factor is derived from the “Land Transport Enterprises - Guidelines on
Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued by the NDRC
of the PRC, the Chinese National Standard GB17930-2016 “Gasoline for Motor
Vehicles” and GB19147-2016 “Automobile Diesel Fuels”.

2. Purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.

In parallel with actively developing its business, the Group also keeps
in mind the concept of energy-saving, reduction of waste at source,
efficient use of resources and green office. Therefore, the following
measures have been adopted for our commitment to applying our
environmental protection concept in our daily operation:
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R -HERERHRE

Energy Saving and Consumption Reduction HiBEpRTE

e Monitor main energy consuming equipment and manage ¢ ESB|IEEEERENEESEPINE
each department’s energy consumption to avoid energy BB AR R BRI
wastage;

e Replace existing high energy consuming equipment with new ¢ {FRFAEEREZRBEENSELE

energy efficient equipment; A

e  Study and enhance technical standards and utilise new ¢ FFZEMWIRFARAMIZAE - FIFFHTTE -
processes, new materials and new equipment to improve MR R RS EEWE - H D
production efficiency and reduce resource consumption; BIRBFE

e Tumn off all idled energy consuming equipment; o AR TNMERAMFERER

e Set the air conditioner in any office to a temperature of no s WMAEREEMNZ=FHEBETSENE
lower than 26°C in summer and no higher than 23°C in K268 i REFEMNZFRAETEFRRN

winter: BEK23E

e Regularly organise air-conditioning inspection and ¢ TEHABEMZERARSE - #1& - ABRZE
maintenance to ensure the efficiency of air-conditioning; FRNEE

e Install light switches which allow independently controlled o  7E-1~[A] 88 BF [& 13 5% 37 AT ¥8 37 12 1) ) AR
lighting in different lighting areas; B

ERERE B B AR S BRE X -
FRRINFE M BERE © K2
HMEMAMBE T ETHHRES
Al o

TR SRR

REURSEIEF] - 428 I H R ERF
RERARDELRERY © &

AR AT R EE & — F ARk B e
HMAOERREE -

ERER

R AERBRFRESRREF
7 HEEREHORKIRIESE

° Use energy-saving transformer to improve power switching .
rate and reduce power and energy consumption; and
° Train all new employees in the plant on energy saving. .

Reduction of Wastes at Source

o Adopt measures of source control, comprehensive utilisation °
and recycling to reduce the waste; and

° Resell surplus fabric to second-hand fabric recyclers to .
reduce fabric disposal.

Effective Use of Resources

° Post up environmental protection information and reminders °
in office to encourage employees to save water and to

enhance their awareness of water-saving; ARKER

e Instruct all new employees in the plant about the water- o  HUIXBEFT A 8 TE A A KE
saving measures; and i

e Check the water use, regularly maintain valves and pipelines, o ZERKEBER THHEERPIKR

B TRBERREEEREE
B LB R BER -

BERLE
BB TEABEREAENMRA

and replace and repair leaking pipelines in time so as to
prevent running, leaking and dripping.

Green Office

° Encourage employees to reuse paper and print on both °

sides;
o Promote paperless office and communicate internally with °
emails instead of paper documents;

° Reuse office stationery; °

° Separately collect classified office wastage for recycling; .

o Encourage employees to use public transport; and .

° Use video conferencing to replace non-essential business .
trips.

R

HITEA(CH D - ABEHG AR
REBARMHEREEE
ERERXERM
DRWERNEREMAETRER
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group attaches importance to the impact of our business
operation on the environment and natural resources. In addition to
our compliance with applicable environmental laws and international
standards, we also have included the concept of environmental
protection and environmental management into our business
decision, daily operation and internal management. We are committed
to balancing economic, environmental and social development.

In order to reduce the impact on the environment and natural
resources, the Group has actively identified the environmental
factors within our business scope and established relevant control
measures and environment improvement targets. We have also
assigned specific department to follow up and handle any problems
with respect to the environment and natural resources utilisation. We
have kept on file all the environmental protection works monitored
and recorded materials relating to contamination accidents, pollution
prevention and control.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The world is currently facing the challenge of climate change. The
Group is concerned about climate-related issues and has taken
different measures to assess and mitigate the risks. The Group has
identified physical risks such as an increase in extreme weather
events and changes in precipitation patterns, which could pose
threats to the business and its financial performance. In addition,
climate change may bring about various transitional risks, such as
shifts in consumer preferences and increased pricing of greenhouse
gas emissions. As a result, the Group may face an increase in
operating costs and a change in revenue sources.
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The Group reviews updates to policies and regulations in regions
it operates to identify potential climate-related risks on a regular
basis. The Group issues safety warnings and makes special work
arrangements in the event of extreme weather conditions or incidents
to ensure the safety of its employees.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

The Group understands that employees are the foundation of
corporate development, so it adheres to the management approach
of “people oriented” and attaches great importance to the rights and
interests of the employees. In addition to providing employees with
generous remuneration and benefits, the Group also pays attention
to the training, development and safety of the employees. Especially
under the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, various pandemic prevention
measures have been implemented to protect the health and safety of
our employees.

The number of employees of the Group during the Year are as
follows:

RIR - HERERHE

REBETFREEHLEMEHNBER AR
B - ABRIBIE R RIRAERER R o A&
BN ARIBEN A EREEF R R L2E
SEXEHRR TIEZBE - AEREEENZ

7_:Eo

LA B

AEBARABTIREEHRNRE - R
[AABKIWERLEH  SEEREIH
R L - R T BB TIREERERFE M
BN NREETIEDEE TRIIER L
2 BHAE019ERBEEREET - BT
RIBERER - WREETITHWREREZZ -

AEEAREEREAZMT

2022 2021
Number of Employees EBEAE —E-CF T —F
Total et 150 181
By gender =R
Male B 56 59
Female g 94 122
By employment type ZIEREER
Full-time 2% 145 178
Part-time TR 5 3
By age group REBAER
Aged below 30 30BRAT 10 10
Aged 30 to 50 30 ZE505% 117 125
Aged above 50 50 5% A = 23 46
By geographical region i@
The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) R (NEREEE) 127 137
Hong Kong B 23 41
USA 351 0 3
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The employee turnover rate during the Year are as follows:

2022 2021
Employee Turnover Rate’ EERKER —E=-Z T —F
Total b 67% 31%
By gender =M RIE D
Male B 88% 42%
Female pegc 55% 26%
By age group RERAERIEI D
Aged below 30 30 AT 160% 90%
Aged 30 to 50 303 £ 50 5%, 41% 20%
Aged above 50 50BRAE 161% 50%
By geographical region R = &5
The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) FE (MRIEEE) 64% 35%
Hong Kong BB 87% 17%
USA Sl N/A & F 67%
Note: MIE
1. The employee turnover rate in the Year is calculated in accordance with the 1. REBMAANFE B ERBRARE IR
Appendix IIl “Reporting Guidance on Social KPls” published by the Stock BRI = (g AREMIEIRERIES) 5
Exchange. g
Employment Standard EEZEA|

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations related to
employment, including but not limited to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. The
Group has gained a Gold Certificate awarded by the Worldwide
Responsible Accredited Production (WRAP), marking an affirmation
of our efforts to protect workers’ rights and interests. In order to
improve efficiency and standardise the procedure of recruitment, we
have established recruitment-related management and controlling
procedures according to the principles of fairness and impartiality,
avoiding misemployment of child labour or any discrimination. In
order to strive for creating a fair and equal working environment and
ensure that employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair treatment,
we treat all employees and applicants equally in the aspects of
recruitment, transferring, training, promotion, remuneration and
benefits, regardless of race, gender, age, religion, belief, marital or
fertility status. For resigned employees, we will terminate the contract
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, and pay the
outstanding wages on time.
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To prevent forced labour, the Group specifies the details of the
workplace, working hours and job responsibilities in the contract.
If employees have to work overtime due to business needs, the
Group will pay overtime wages according to the regulations. We also
forbid taking any monies or belongings as “security deposit” from
employees as well as forcing them to work or restricting their freedom
in any way, so as to ensure that they are employed voluntarily. Apart
from prevention of forced labour, the Group promises not to employ
child labour. The Group requires new employees to provide genuine
identification documents with accurate personal information when
commencing employment, aiming at identifying the true age of
the employees and avoiding misemployment of child labour. The
Group will also occasionally check whether child labour has been
misemployed in various departments. Once it is discovered, the
Group will immediately return the child labour to their original place of
residence and bear all necessary expenses.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
employment and labour standard, avoiding child labour and forced
labour was involved or discovered by the Group.

Salary and Benefits

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of China
and Hong Kong, including but not limited to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong,
ensuring that the employees’ working hours and wages meet local
requirements and providing social insurance and mandatory provident
fund to employees as required by local regulations. The Group’s salary
is established according to several factors such as the positions, work
performance and abilities of the employees, and would be adjusted
with reference to market salary level. We evaluate the performance of
employees according to different positions and adopt the knowledge
and skills, attitude and enthusiasm to their positions as the evaluation
criteria. The results will be used to determine promotion and annual
salary adjustments of employees. The Group offers its employees
extra benefits such as attendance incentives and bonuses based
on the Group’s annual financial performance and the individual
performance of employees. Employees also enjoy paid leaves, such
as annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate
leave, apart from statutory holidays.

RIR - HERERHE
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Employees are the important asset of the Group, whose sense of
belonging is closely related to the success of the Group. Aiming
to promote the idea of work-life balance, create an excellent
environment for work and enhance employees’ sense of belonging
to the Group, the Group hammers at improving its policies and
measures, and providing employees with the following benefits
(including but not limited to):

° Distributing allowance and welfare gifts during festivals;

° Providing reimbursement on transportation costs for employees
returning home during Chinese New Year;

° Providing medical health insurance for employees;

o Offering free meals or meal allowance for our staff in the plant;
and

° Under specified circumstances, employees can enjoy
allowances of meals and transportation for overtime work.

Development and Training

The Group has established a comprehensive evaluation system for
work, according to which the Group would evaluate employees’
working attitudes, abilities, performance and disciplines, thereby
enhancing employees’ understanding of their work and allowing
supervisors to give feedback about their work performance. The
evaluation results also serve as the standard for their position and
salary adjustments and discretionary bonus, which will greatly benefit
employees’ individual development and productivity enhancement.
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Aiming to improve staff’s professional proficiency and follow the
development of the Group, we formulate training plans annually for
our staff in the plant in order to provide different types of training,
including internal training, external training, induction training and
on-the-job training, on the basis of the training needs of each
department. New recruits are required to attend induction training,
including job responsibilities and objectives, operational skills and
procedures, as well as regulations and policies. In addition, we
encourage and support employees to participate in personal and
professional training to keep abreast of the development of new
technologies and equipment. Eligible employees completing the
training can apply for subsidies on course fees and be reimbursed
with partial or full cost of the training course.

The average hours of training per employee and percentage of
employees who received training during the Year are as follows:

Average Hours of Training

RIR - HERERHE

BRABIMIfE  AEHAEES
RES - BNEREBHABY . 555
BRR 0B THIE I8 - RETRAR
S BIEREEY SN AR
RAEWSENIS - 31 AME THEEE AW
I ENAE RETEREMNR R - B
SRR - ARREHES o lsh - RIS
MREHER 2 REAREEEI - AER
FRITRFRBOER - BREV0AER
B IAMRMRERILA - REABHE
RIZHHH R AER -

RAEEFREENTHXIKELZIEER
FeplanTs

per Employee and Percentage of BEEENTHEZIRER 2022 2021
Employees who Received Training’ ZIES B —E-CF T —F
Total gt 18(97%) 20(82%)
By gender =R E D
Male El i 12(93%) 19(75%)
Female g 22(99%) 21(85%)
By employee category REBERES
Senior =R 13(100%) 6(44%)
Middle AR 10(87%) 6(38%)
Junior IR 22(99%) 25(94%)
Note: 3T -
1. The percentage of employees who received training is calculated in accordance 1. ZPE Bt ) TR SZ R M M i = (e e

with the Appendix Ill “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.
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Health and Safety

The Group prioritises the health and safety of its employees, and
adheres to the production principle of “Safety First”. The Group
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment
and complies with national laws and regulations on safe production,
including but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment so
as to reduce accidents during work. Jiaxing Plant has established
an accountability system for different positions regarding production
safety, listing clearly the safety responsibilities of each unit and
unifying the standards for safety production and the managers shall
be responsible for ensuring the safety of the working environment,
and shall guide and supervise the employees to reduce the possibility
of work-related injuries.

We provide safety protection equipment and supplies as well as their
user guide for our staff in the Jiaxing Plant to safeguard their health
and safety as well as to prevent and reduce accidents. For employees
who may have access to hazardous materials, we provide an annual
health check to monitor the impact of the production process on their
health and identify and resolve possible safety impacts in a timely
manner. Moreover, we regularly provide employees with occupational
safety training. Employees are required to attend three-level safety
training, including education at plant, working units and position
levels. They can only operate the equipment individually after passing
the assessment. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted a number
of safety-related training for all employees, including chemical use
protection and personal labor protection supplies training, equipment
safety operation training, environmental, health, safety manuals as
well as first aid knowledge training, accompanied by oral or on-site
operation assessment, in order to enhance employees’ awareness
and understanding of work health and safety.
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In order to improve employees’ danger awareness and emergency
response capabilities, the Group has formulated corresponding
emergency plans for different emergency conditions, and conducted
regular exercises. In addition to implementing the accountability
system regarding production safety, we encourage our employees
to provide advice on work safety and report on accidents and other
share views actively, so as to control risks of workplace and reduce
accidents. The Group also would investigate and eliminate potential
accidents to protect the safety of its employees and properties.

To strengthen the safety management of hazardous chemicals,
Jiaxing Plant has set a safety management policy for hazardous
chemicals, which lists out the solutions and safety regulations for
storage, use, transportation and disposal. Through providing training
to its employees on the hazardous chemical safety management
policies, the Group effectively reduces accidents related to hazardous
chemicals, thereby protecting employees’ health and safety as
well as the surrounding environment. In addition, Jiaxing Plant has
implemented safety management policy for special equipment,
which requires the special equipment operating personnel to obtain
corresponding certificates before working. Jiaxing Plant also inspects
special equipment regularly and entrusts qualified units to carry
out maintenance and repair, ensuring the safe operation of the
equipment.

During the Year, there is no lost days due to a case of work injury
among our employees. In the past three years, there was no work-
related fatality.
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RIR - HERERHE

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group understands that product and service quality is the
cornerstone of corporate success. Therefore, the Group selects
suppliers in a stringent manner, establishes a quality management
system to ensure product quality and safety, and values customers’
feedback to continuously improve product and service quality.
The Group is also committed to maintaining business ethics in its
business operations, attaching importance to the protection of
intellectual property rights, eliminating infringements, and prohibiting
all bribery.

Supply Chain Management

Supply chain management is always considered as an important part
of controlling quality by the Group. The Group adheres to the quality
oriented principle and establishes a supplier evaluation management
policy, standardising the evaluation process and daily management
of suppliers. In selecting suppliers, we strictly review the supplier’s
product quality, delivery capability, capacity and service quality, and
require them to provide samples for reviews by our customers, so
as to ensure the quality is up to customers’ requirements. Beyond
that, we also track and monitor the progress of entrusted processing
suppliers, ensuring that the quality of processed products is in accord
with the requirements. The checked suppliers will be added to our
approved supplier list, which will be reviewed regularly. To strengthen
the management of suppliers, promote and improve the supplier
management system and optimise the operation of supply chain, the
Group eliminates suppliers that do not correspond with the corporate
development regulations. The Group has incorporated the concept
of “green purchasing” into its procurement process and established
strict environmental protection requirements. For example, Jiaxing
Plant prioritises the selection of products and services with the
minimum impact on the environment and promotes the use of
environmentally friendly materials instead of purchasing materials that
are harmful to the environment or the human body in accordance
with national restrictions.
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The Group also attaches importance to environmental and social risks
in the supply chain. Therefore, the Group regularly communicates with
internal and external stakeholders to identify potential risks. When
selecting suppliers, the Group would also consider its environmental
and social conditions, and give priority to suppliers with outstanding
performance in energy saving, occupational safety, supply chain
management and anti-corruption, as well as suppliers with relevant
certifications or internationally recognised suppliers.

The Group’s business in money lending has no significant suppliers.
During the Year, the Group’s design, manufacturing and trading of
apparel products business had a total of 74 major suppliers, which all
are from China, divided by region as follows:

RIR - HERERHE
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2022 2021
Number of Suppliers RS E —EB-CF —E-—F
Northeast China it 1 1
East China E3 3o 66 56
Central China #=oh 0 0
South China ] 6 1
Southwest China [iilE| 1 1
Management on Product Quality EREEEE

The Group attaches great importance to the product quality and label
use of the apparel manufacturing business, and therefore strictly
abides by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance in
Hong Kong. Thus, the Group has established a quality management
system, aiming to standardise inspection procedures and regulations,
ensuring the products manufactured are in line with the quality and
safety requirements. We review the system regularly, ensuring that the
system is still appropriate, comprehensive and effective. According
to customers’ specific requirements, the Group is open to inspection
and monitoring by the customers, and assesses its production
procedures every year, ensuring the system can operate continuously
and effectively, and meet customer requirements pragmatically.
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RIR - HERERHE

To ensure that equipment condition is able to achieve production
targets, relevant equipment operating personnel will check the
equipment condition daily prior to production. We also conduct
occasional inspections on production procedures and take corrective
measures as soon as a failure is found. In addition, the quality of
raw materials, semi-finished products and finished products are
inspected. Only qualified products can enter the next production
stage, aiming that the products will meet the criteria of relevant
standards. The unqualified ones will be labelled clearly and stored
separately, and then the relevant department will analyse the cause
and implement corrective measures. The Group has established a
policy on reporting incidents to standardise quality reporting, ensure
timely handling of product-related issues and control potential
risks effectively. Meanwhile, we review product sales and market
information as well as supervise the content of product labels to
ensure that the information contained is clear, true and in compliance
with legal requirements. We will also keep customer feedback in track
in order to continuously improve product quality and safety.

During the Year, none of the products of the Group were required to
be recalled due to safety and health reason.

Customer First

The Group is committed to enhancing customer satisfaction,
since fulfilling customers’ needs is the ultimate goal of the Group’s
development. We have established a set of policies on customer
rights and interests to regulate the handling of complaints from
customers, so that the Group’s reputation will be maintained
and customer satisfaction will be improved. Customers can
complain through letters, calls and emails, which will be handled
and investigated by our designated personnel in time. During the
Year, the Group receive a complain on behalf of product damage
during delivery. The Group re-shipped the product to the customer
immediately to solve the issue.
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In addition, the Group also provides money lending services in
which customer personal data needs to be collected and stored, so
protecting customer privacy is a very important part of our business.
Employees must abide by relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. They are forbidden
to disclose customers’ information to third-party without prior
consent, adhering to professional ethics at all times. The customers’
data is accessible by authorised personnel exclusively, while staff
from other departments can only retrieve and provide information
upon application to and approval by the company.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to strengthening the protection of intellectual
property rights. Therefore, we require employees to strictly abide
by the laws and regulations such as the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China and Copyright Ordinance in Hong Kong. We also have clear
requirements for the application, management, use and protection
of intellectual property for our customers and the Group, enhancing
internal awareness of protecting intellectual property rights and
corporate interests. The Group only uses genuine software, and
employees are required to submit an application to the Group before
installing any software to avoid infringing on the intellectual property
rights of others.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property was involved or discovered by the Group.
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RIR - HERERHE

Anti-corruption

The Group advocates employees to consciously abide by the law,
act in good faith, be self disciplined and build an integrity culture.
The Group abides by the laws and regulations on anti-corruption,
including but not limited to the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong.
The Group has formulated employee handbooks and systems to
regulate their behaviour, especially in the money lending business,
encouraging employees to be honest and self-disciplined. Thus, the
operating risks will be reduced, and the interests of the company and
employees will be guaranteed. In addition, employees should not
seek personal or indirect benefits by their authority and should avoid
situations that may involve or result in potential or actual conflicts
of interest. Once any violation is discovered, employees should
report it in written or verbal ways. The identity of the whistle blower
will be kept confidential by the Group while relevant violators will be
dismissed and bear legal responsibility upon confirmation of violation
after investigation. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted anti-
corruption training for all employees to increase their awareness in the
response to corruption, so as to enhance ethical management and
employee integrity. In addition, the Group has provided training for all
of its employees in Hong Kong and directors on their respective roles
and responsibilities in corruption prevention.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to anti
corruption was involved or discovered by the Group.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group attaches great importance to social responsibility and
regards the prosperity and stability of society as the cornerstone
of its development. For this, the Group spares no effort to promote
the development of charities, and to support charitable projects and
activities. We also encourage employees to participate in volunteer
activities and charitable donations, enhancing their sense of social
responsibility. During the Year, the Group’s community investment did
not make any significant resource contribution.
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The Board hereby presents its report together with the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally engages in (i) design, manufacture and trading
of apparel; (i) provision of money lending services; and (i) sale of
trendy and cultural products. Details of the principal activities of the
Company and its subsidiaries are set out in notes 1 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by geographical
areas and businesses is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
its state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 244.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five years is set out in the financial summary
on page 5 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the year are set out in note 41(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively in this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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ESEREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders, comprising share premium and
contributed surplus, amounted to approximately HK$157,622,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentages of sales
and purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and
suppliers, respectively are as follows:

Sales
— The largest customer 22.9%
— The total of the five largest customers 66.5%

Purchases
— The largest supplier 13.7%
— The total of the five largest suppliers 51.8%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company, which owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, to the best knowledge of the Directors, had any interest in
the share capital of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles nor the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been audited by BDO Limited, who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)
(was appointed on 19 January 2022)

TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHEUNG Ka Lung
CHAN Ming Leung Terence
GONG Xiaochan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 10 to 16 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has
entered into any service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.
The Directors may also receive options to be granted under the
Company’s share option scheme. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 November 2013.

(1)

2

(3)

Purpose

It enables the Company to grant options to the Eligible
Participants (as described below) as incentive or reward for
their contribution to the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.

Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants under the Share Option Scheme include,
among others, directors, employees, advisors, consultants,
service providers, agents, customers, partners or joint-venture
partners of the Group.

The total number of securities available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme together
with the percentage of the issued shares that it
represents as at the date of the annual report

The total number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue
as at the date of approval of the scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit), provided that the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under all share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

As at 1 January 2022, there was nil option available for grant
under the Option Scheme. At the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 25 March 2022, the Scheme Mandate
Limit was refreshed to a maximum of 179,026,737. On 19 April
2022, a total of 87,100,000 options were granted under the
Share Option Scheme. At the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 21 June 2022, the Scheme Mandate Limit
was again refreshed to a maximum of 179,026,737. As at 31
December 2022, there were 179,026,737 options available for
grant under the Share Option Scheme.
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4)

()

(6)

As at 31 December 2022, options exercisable into a total of
146,000,000 shares of the Company remained outstanding.
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme during
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue for the year was approximately 4.72%.

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022
was 179,026,737, representing approximately 8.98% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of this
annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to each Eligible Participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company.

Timing for exercise of options

The exercise period of the options granted is determinable by
the Board, and commences on the date of the grant of the
options and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the grant of the options or other expiry date(s)
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the
earliest.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and specified at the
time of the offer, there is no performance target required to be
achieved before an option can be exercised.

The minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time in whole or in part
during the option period.
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(7) The amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be repaid

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21
days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 by the grantee.

(8) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price per Share in relation to an option shall be
a price to be determined by the Board and shall be no less than
the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date on which the option is offered to an Eligible
Participant, which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; or

(c) the nominal value of the Shares on the offer date.

(9) Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 22 November 2013, which
was the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the movements of the options during the year ended REZ-_ZT-__F+_A=+—HIEFER
31 December 2022 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: MR IERT BB T 2 B BB T

Cancelled/

Granted Exercised lapsed  Outstanding at

Exercise Outstanding at during during during 31 December

Directors Date of grant Exercise price period 1 January 2022 the year the year the year 2022

-3 Sk

-A-8 RER  TZR=1-H

£ RitiAH iR ks AR RERRE RERAE HEIEN AR

LiYang 8 December 2021 HKS0.155* 8 December 2021 to 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
7 December 2026
55 ZRT-ETZANR 015ET “R-F1ZANBE
ZEAETCATE

TinYat YuCarol 8 December 2021 HKS0.156* 8 December 2021 to 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
7 December 2026
i ZEC-FHZANR 01sET :T:—ﬁ ANRE
- S /\E+ ﬂfﬁ

CheungKaLlung 8 December 2021 HKS0.155" 8 December 2021 to 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
7 December 2026
R5E ZET-ETZANE 015ET BT ANRE
ZEINETZAH

Chan Ming Leung 8 December 2021 HKS0.155" 8 December 2021 to 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
Terence 7 December 2026
RER ZEC-EHCANR 01ER “E--%t-ANRZ
“EAETCATE

19 Aprll 2022 HKS$0.278" 19 April 2022 10 - 15,900,000 - - 15,900,000
18 April 2027
ZECCERATAR 028%T “EZZE¥MATNEE
ZECHERATR

(Gong Xiaohan 8 December 2021 HK$0.155" 8 December 2021 to 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
7 December 2026
LS 5 1= R E_-E1ZRN\EE
ZRIETZALA

Tang Shu Pui Simon - 8 December 2021 HKS0.155* 8 December 2021 to 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
7 December 2026
HHE ZEC-EFZRNR O 0495ET ZE-F1ZANRE
ZEoETZAtH
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Cancelled/
Granted Exercised lapsed
Exercise Outstanding at during during during  Outstanding at
Directors Date of grant Exercise price period 1 January 2022 the year the year the year 31 December 2022
W-B-CE AZB-C

-A-8 RER  TZR=1-H

£ RitiAH iR s AR RERRE RERAE HEIEN BATR

HonMingSang 8 December 2021 HKS0.155¢ 8 December 2021 to 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
7 December 2026
i ZE-F+ZANE 01T “E--F+zR\BE
ZRIETZALH

Lo Wing Sze 8 December 2021 HKS0.155* 8 December 2021 to 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
7 December 2026
Bils ZE2-F+ZANR 01T “B-1ZANRE
ZEINETZALH

Employees and 8 December 2021 HKS0.155" 8 December 2021 to 2,300,000 - - 50,000 2,250,000
personnel of 7 December 2026

the Group

BERASEAE -T--Et-ANE OISR ZE-ErZf\BE
ZEINETZALH

19 Aprll 2022 HKS$0.278¢ 19 April 2022 o - 35,400,000 - 1,050,000 34,350,000
18 April 2027
ZECCERATAR 02i8ER “E--F¥PATHRE
ZECCEEATAR

Consultant 19 April 2002 HKS0.278¢ 19 April 2022 o - 17,900,000 - - 17,900,000
18 April 2027
Ef ZECCERATRA 0278ET “E--F¥PATHRE
ZECHERATR

Senvice Provider 19 Apri 2022 HKS0.278' 19 April 202210 - 17,900,000 - - 17,900,000
18 April 2027
RERRE ZECCERATAR 0218ER “E--F¥PATHRE
ZECHERATR

Total 60,000,000 87,100,000 - 1,100,000 146,000,000
5

Note: PEE -

HK$0.151.

# Closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the date of grant was

HK$0.28.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and chief RZ-ZE - —F+_-_A=+—H ARQRFEZSE

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to ~ ARz
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in Shares of the Company
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BERAR

REZITBABRARE REREEZE (B
ERBHFLPEGRO (TEHEBEEN])
FEXVER) Bkt - HEERD MEEETER
RIRES REERGIEXVEE 7 K8 H &R
EAMGARA R Ao ER (BERE
RIFFE 5 NS GBI Z BT EGRB AR
REAENERMXR)  IRBESFLPE
{6151 28 352 {545 FE R AL 8 AE SZ 1K Pt & Eﬂﬁ
 RRBIRETRIZAMG AR
B PEV BRI T ¢

REXTRBEER

Nature of shares/underlying
shares held/interested in

i/ BERERRG,HEROMEE
Shares

issuable Approximate

Ordinary on share Total percentage of

Name Capacity shares options held interests  shareholdings

FisERE2 IREBA

H"H L EER AETRG mrER BO

(Note 1) (Note 2)

CGERD (FiFE2)

Li Yang Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 0.85%
x5 EnEAA

Tin Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 0.85%
H—17 EnEAA

Cheung Ka Lung Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.10%
RKH EnEAA

Chan Ming Leung Terence Beneficial owner - 17,900,000 17,900,000 0.90%
FREAZ EnEEA

Gong Xiaohan Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 0.85%
BER EnEEA

Tang Shu Pui Simon Beneficial owner 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000 0.30%
s ExEAA

Hon Ming Sang Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
IR EnEEA

Lo Wing Sze Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
KT EnlEA
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Notes:

1. The options were respectively granted by the Company on 8 December 2021
and 19 April 2022. For details of the options granted, please refer to the
announcements of the Company published on the respective dates.

2. Based on 1,983,636,359 Shares as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company have or are deemed to
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were natifiable to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or recorded in the register required to be maintained by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the
particulars of the corporations or persons (other than the directors
and the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:

Long positions in Shares of the Company
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RAERBRGBHFR

Nature of shares/underlying
shares held/interested in

Fifs/ BERES R HEROEE

Underlying
shares in
respect of the
share options

Approximate

granted/the percentage
Ordinary convertible Total of
Name Capacity shares  bonds issued interests  shareholdings
ERLE
R BRIT
ARRES FREEBLA
Z8 07} EER ZHEBR% R Aot
(Note 1)
(P5E1)
World Field Industries Limited Beneficial owner 283,994,000 - 283,994,000 14.32%
(Note 2) EnBEA
BEEXARAF (FIFF2)
Anli Investment Fund SPC-Anli  Beneficial owner 265,650,887 - 265,650,887 13.39%
Greater China Opportunity ~ Ezm#A A
Fund Segregated Portfolio
(Note 3)
GEX)
Value Convergence Holdings Beneficial owner 132,186,000 66,844,919 199,030,919 10.03%
Limited (Note 4) BB A
ERERARAR (FHFE4)
Dreamtoys Ltd. (Note 5) Beneficial owner 180,000,000 - 180,000,000 9.07%

(fEE5)

fb}

EnEBA
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Notes:

Based on 1,983,636,359 Shares as at 31 December 2022.

Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 19 July 2022, World Field
Industries Limited is owned as to 100% by Green Astute Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 100% by Hao Tian Media & Culture Holdings Limited, which is
in turn owned as to 100% by Aceso Life Science Group Limited (“Aceso”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
474.HK). Based on the disclosure of interest forms in relation to Aceso filed on
25 March 2022 and 24 August 2021 respectively, Aceso is owned as to 49.19%
by Asia Link Capital Investment Holdings Ltd. (“Asia Link”) and as to 10.83% by
Century Golden Resources Investment Co., Ltd (“Century Golden”). Asia Link is
owned as to 100% by Li Shao Yu (Z4>5). Century Golden is owned as to 50%
by Huang Tao (&%) and as to 40% by Huang Shiying (& t%%).

Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 16 September 2022, Anli
Asset Management Limited, the investment manager of Anli Investment Fund
SPC-Anli Greater China Opportunity Fund Segregated Portfolio, is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Anli Holdings Limited.

Based on the disclosure of interest forms filed on 20 July 2022, Value
Convergence Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 821.HK), was the beneficial owner of
199,030,919 shares / underlying shares of the Company, of which 66,844,919
referred to interests in underlying shares (unlisted derivatives — convertible
instruments). Value Convergence Holdings Limited was deemed to be interested
in 66,844,919 underlying shares of the Company which may be issued and
allotted upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds
at a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 at the conversion price of HK$0.1496
per share. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
13 December 2021 and 6 January 2022,

Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 16 July 2022, Mr. Zeng Ge
() is a director and the beneficial owner of 100% shareholding in Dreamtoys
Ltd., and is thus deemed, by virtue of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested in
180,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Dreamtoys Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons or entities (other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, its
Group members or associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or as

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, or their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) has engaged in any business that competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to business of
the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party for the year ended 31 December 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Such related party transactions constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter14A of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under article 164 of the Articles, every Director, company secretary,
other officers and auditor for the time being of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said
persons.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate D&O Insurance.
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Directors’ Report

ESEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE EER

A detailed corporate governance report is set out in pages 34 to 57 A EEAMEENAFHREI4ES7H o
in this annual report.

By order of the Board EEEGm
Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited AEEZERBERAT
Li Yang =k
Chairman FE
30 March 2023 —T-=F=R=+H
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +8522218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

B R BENRE

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
A
EEE 1 +85222188288 EETHEEP1115E
{858 : +8522815 2239 JKE 2558

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VIRTUAL MIND HOLDING
COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 116 to 244, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables

Refer to notes 5(b), 9 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s loans and interest receivables
amounted to HK$98,163,000, representing significant balances
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group.

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group’s debtors
and assessed expected credit losses (“ECL”) of loans and interest
receivables. These assessments were focused on the debtors’
settlement history and their current ability to pay, and took into
account information specific to respective debtor.

We identified this area as a key audit matter because significant
judgements have been made by the management during the
assessment of the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and the
estimation of ECL of loans and interest receivables.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables
(Continued)

Our response:

Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit loss policy
and methodology for impairment assessment in relation to the
application of ECL model;

Inquiring management for the status of the loans and interest
receivable as at year end date and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding of credit status of debtors, checking of historical
and subsequent settlement records and other correspondence
with the debtors;

Evaluating the appropriateness and reasonableness of
methodology, parameters and assumptions used in the
assessment of ECL such as criteria for judging significant
increases in credit risk, definition of credit-impaired financial
assets, key data inputs and forward-looking information;

Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the management’s
calculation of impairment loss allowances under ECL model;
and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding
loans and interest receivables, and the related risks such as
credit risk.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets)

Refer to notes 5(d), 14, 15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s non-current assets (other
than financial assets) principally comprised goodwill, intangible asset,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of goodwill, intangible
asset with indefinite useful life and other non-current assets as at
31 December 2022 based on higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal (“FVLCOD”) and value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU and
FVLCOD calculations requires, management to exercise significant
judgement and make critical accounting estimates, particularly in
relation to the determination of valuation techniques and the selection
of inputs like projected cash flows during projection period, growth
rates beyond the projection period and discount rates to discount the
projected cash flows and cash flows beyond the projection period.
The Group has also engaged an independent professional valuer to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation methodology and
inputs.

We identified impairment assessment of non-current assets (other
than financial assets) as a key audit matter because the impairment
assessment involves significant judgements and assumptions by
management underlying the determination of the VIU and FVLCOD.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets) (continueq)

Our response:

° Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the management and key
assumptions adopted for valuations based on our knowledge of
the businesses and industries;

° Assessing the objectivity, capability, and competence of the
independent professional valuer by considering its qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

° Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuations;

° Involving an auditor’s valuation expert to assist our work
in assessing the valuation methodology adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations;

° Discussing with the independent professional valuer and
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions in the cash
flow projections covering the projection period, growth rates
and discount rate; and

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the impairment
assessment in the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin

Practising Certificate Number P0O6162

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EHE R ER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-_F —E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FERT F&T

Revenue PN 7 89,620 139,818
Cost of sales SHE RN (75,560) (101,119
Gross profit EF 14,060 38,699
Other gains and losses, net HEhies R BEFEE 7 66,221 1,831
Impairment of goodwill [EEEAE 16 (34,632) -
(Provision for)/reversal of expected credit loss & 5 fE U R IETE A

on trade receivables EEEE (8% #E 20 (550) 125
Provision for expected credit loss on FEW E R & FI B FEER

loans and interest receivables EEEERE 21 (21,196) (18,042)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (1,865) (17,197)
Administrative expenses THRAX (76,290) (51,070)
Finance costs EE =D ®N 8 (3,991) (366)
Share of results of associates paK(u] /N E (160) -
Loss before income tax BRATSBIAIE I8 9 (58,403) (46,020)
Income tax expense FrE iR 11 (7,472) (251)
Loss for the year FEEE (65,875) (46,271)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, ARATEHEE AELEAM

net of tax, attributable to owners 2m (FR) i (BRBiE)

of the Company
Item that may be reclassified ATREZEH I EEER

subsequently to profit or loss: HIERE :
Exchange (loss)/gain on translation of BMEBINEB I B HRETE

financial statements of foreign operations B3 (B518) /Was (2,358) 362
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEEBEASE (68,233) (45,909)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

EFET

FH-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE FERT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: E{EEE (F5iE) Ik :
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE 2 =N (65,895) (46,271)
Non-controlling interests SRR 20 -
(65,875) (46,271)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEFEERE (BR) @8
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE 2 =N (68,253) (45,909)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR 20 -
(68,233) (45,900)
Loss per share attributable to owners EARHEEARLEEREE
of the Company 13
Basic (in HK cents) AR (Breil) (3.57) 2.74)
Diluted (in HK cents) B (Bil) (3.57) @2.74)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wn e BRI R

As at 31 December 2022 W =—Z - —F+_-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—EB-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B RE FET F&TT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in associates PR A RIS 18 840 =
Property, plant and equipment W - WE MEE 14 2,367 8,237
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 2,818 5,486
Loans and interest receivables R EF R FI B 21 - 1,803
Other receivable E b eI FRIR 22 400 —
Goodwill EES 16 42,543 34,632
Intangible asset mEE 17 800 800
Deferred tax assets B IAE E 30 554 562
50,322 51,520
Current assets RENVEE
Inventories FE 19 6,564 6,016
Trade receivables =) e Q] 20 39,065 27,486
Loans and interest receivables ENE R KT A 21 98,163 112,864
Deposits, prepayments and B BARE
other receivables H i pE U RIAE 22 29,003 5,534
Tax recoverable AU e A5 T8 55 383
Financial assets at fair value through RAETER#
profit or loss EHERNTKEE 23 13,189 15,681
Cash and cash equivalents B NIBE&HEER 24 52,012 15,348
238,051 183,312
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B SN FIR 25 17,586 19,124
Accruals, other payables and receipts TEIREA - HME[RIE
in advance NSELEeE] 26 22,074 10,968
Contract liabilities BHAE 27 893 529
Other borrowings EfbfEsk 28 4,760 4,057
Provision for taxation HHIaREE 7,063 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 1,481 2,965
53,857 37,643
Net current assets RBEERE 184,194 145,669
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBEME 234,516 197,189

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

As at 31 December 2022 A =—ZE - —F+—-_H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FERT T
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 29 1,192 932
Other borrowings HAb S 28 24,024 —
25,216 932
Net assets EEFE 209,300 196,257
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners KATHE ABIEER
of the Company
Share capital &7 31 19,836 16,900
Reserves fEf 32 188,596 179,357
208,432 196,257
Non-controlling interests IR 868 =
Total equity R 209,300 196,257

On behalf of the board of directors

RREFS

Li Yang Tin Yat Yu Carol
£ H—fF

Director Director
EF EF
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EFET

FH-A=t—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &}

KATERARGER
Share-based Convertible Non-
Share Share Merger  Staftutory ~ payment Translation bonds equity Accumulated controlling Total
captal  premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  reserve  reserve losses Total  interests equity
DUEE TARES
Ba  RORE  AHRE  GERE NIARE  REEE  BERE  RRER B8 FoRER  EREE
HK000  HKS000  HKSO00D  HKSO00  HKS00D  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HK$000  HKSO000
T Thr TEm TR  TEm TR TEm TR TEr TR Thn
(note32a)  (ote32)  (oted2c) (oted2d) (oted2)  [note 32
(W) (o) (REson)  (Miesad)  (Rsoe)  (Rsoan)
At1 January 2021 H=§=-%-F-A 16,900 375963 2988 3344 - 1485 - (162205 2384% - 238,425
Loss for the year 35 - - - - - - - e ) - an)
Other comprehensive income A2EYE
- Exchange gain on translation of financial -BERNEREH
statements of foreign operations FRNERME - - - - - 32 - - 32 - ki
Total comprehensive loss for the year 3] - - - - - 32 - ) B - (B9
Equity-setled share option scheme amrangements  HERE B NERE 8% - - - - 374 - - - 374 - 3741
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 WoE=-E+2R=1-AR
Z§CE-B-R 16,900 375,963 2988 3344 374 1847 - (0852) 196,257 - 196,257
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - (65895  (658%) N (6587
Other comprehensive income R2EhE
- Exchange loss on translation offinancial -REENERHE
statements of foreign operations FRNERER - - - - - 2,358) - - (2359) - (2.358)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERATHRLE - - - - - (2,358) - (B (E825)) N (6829
Issuance of shares in respect of acquisition SEKEATRRE
of subsidiaries (note 34) (Kists4) 180 4030 - - - - - - R - Lin
Equity-settled share option scheme amrangements  HEREENERET 8% - - - - 8638 - - - 8638 - 8638
Issuance of convertible bonds (note 37) YTRRES (W) - - - - - - 18,800 - 18800 - 18800
Issuance of shares in respect of conversionof ~ RERTRREXERA
convertible bonds (note 37) (Hitan) 1,136 9,734 - - - - (6,314 6,314 10870 - 10870
Contribution from non-controling nterests FERERTE - - - - - - - - - 848 8
At31 December 2022 b g o | 19,836 426,017 2,088 3,344 12319 (611) 12486 (20807 208432 868 209,300
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-C-E —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(i THAT FAL
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHNELRE
Loss before income tax BRETE TR R (58,403) (46,020)
Adjustments for: Bt TFIRIEAE
Bank interest income RITHIBHA 7 (105) (1)
Interest expenses FIEFZ 8 3,991 366
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BE R ETE 9 1,384 2,341
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELERE 9 3,663 4,547
Gain on disposal of land and buildings HE L REFHE 7 (b) (74,762) =
Provision for inventories FERE 9 1,297 521
Provision for other receivables H it MR R 9 2,586 =
Impairment of goodwil HERE 16 34,632 =
Net fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL MAT(EE 2 RS EE AL BB
WEBEENATESEFE 7 10,111 2,679
Loss arising from derecognition of loans and BIFRREKE SR RAE
interest receivables MEEHER 7 - 3,959
Share-based compensation AR 5 Bt O SR 36 8,638 3,741
Provision for expected credit loss on loans and PR E SRR A 2 TR
interest receivables EEFHERE 9 21,196 18,042
Provision for/(reversal) of expected credit loss g %f BN ERSREERE
on trade receivables BtE/ (Bm@) 9 550 (125)
Share of results of associates AMEHE D AIEE 160 -
Operating cash flow before working capital changes a @ BLEHRMCERERE (45,062) (9,950)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories g (Em) /R (1,412) 5,855
Increase in trade receivables féf%r Wezkossg n (11,671) (7,896)
Increase in loans and interest receivables FEME SRR M B A (4,692) (27,900)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepayments and "e  BRREEM
other receivables YE Wezom (gh0) /R (18,605) 8,139
Increase in financial assets at fair value through ARTFE quzH“ A
profit or loss B ERERNEEELN (8,761) (18,360)
Decrease in trade payables B S EMAFIER D (1,767) (4,661)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, other payables and BRER - AtEMAFER
receipts in advance T, (i) 10,678 (1,988)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AxaEEn/ (id) 364 (2,022)
Cash used in operations EEMARSE (80,928) (58,789)
Income tax paid BRMGEH 81) (3)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEHARSTE (81,009) (58,792)
Cash flows from investing activities REREZHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE  BER&E (1,478) (731)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and RELENE - BERFE
equipment and right-of-use assets R REEEFEZE 75,774 =
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries, net WEEN B A R E £ TR 577 -
Increase in investments in associate A YNGIE vl (1,000) =
Interest received YIS 105 1
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETHEL/ (FR) B 38
investing activities 73,978 (730)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—ECCE —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(i TR FAL
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNRERE
Interest paid ERHE 33 (297) (366)
Proceeds from new borrowings eSS 0E 33 50,000 4,057
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilties BEREARREHD 33 (3,886) (4,619)
Contribution from non-controling interests KR TE 848 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETBHEL (FA) BLFE
financing activities 46,665 (928)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRHELEEER
cash equivalents #in,/ (Rd) B8 39,634 (60,450)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FHRERELZEER 15,348 78,547
Effect of foreign exchange rates, net R 2R (2,970) (2,749)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FERASRREEEER 52,012 15,348
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 19 June 2013. The address of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
is disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” in
the annual report. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
25 March 2022, the shareholders of the Company passed a
special resolution which approved a change of the Company’s
name from “CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment Company
Limited BBEEERIREAR AT to “Virtual Mind Holding
Company Limited AHEIZERE B R A R] .

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the design, manufacturing and trading of apparels, provision
of money lending services and sale of trendy and cultural
products.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2023.

1.

—RER

AREBRAERAR (KRR R=F
—=F XA+ NBERSHSEMKIL
RERRERARTF] - ARFNEMPE
BRIA N E B RN EN AR B AN IR
[RRIER] —8 o KRR R B
RFFERET

N-B-—F=A-+HBETHEAR
ARREFRAE £ AARIREAA—
HERRZESR  HESARALETEHR
[BBEEERREBRAR BATX
HIEREBR AR -

AR B —EHRE R A B ME R M
BoR (BEAIAKE]) TERER
#RRET - BUERE S RIRRERRE
AR - LA RSHER M 3LEm

B2 "F#+_A=1+—HIHFE
NGAMBREREN _E-_=F=A4
—t+HRESSRETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1

2.2

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2022

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the current year’s consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contract - Cost of

Fuffiling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments improvement to
HKFRSs

The Group has early adopted above amendment to
HKFRS 16 for its annual reporting period beginning on 1
January 2021. The adoption of remaining amendments
to HKFRSs has no material impact on the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior period. The
Group has not early applied any new or amended HKFRSs
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

2.2 New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective continueq)

2. ZRMWEBMBREER
(TERMBHREER ) )

2.2 B BB R E R HTHT
5 RIS E] B R MR

S8 )

=i

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as BAGEA KRENERRE
Current or Non-current 2 F1% (BFIX) H IR E>

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilties with ERQIERE 1% NHZENERD
Covenants ? CEHEN =0

HK Interpretation 5 (2022) Presentation of Financial BERREEST Z5IMBHRE -
Statements - Classification (Z2z=F) ERALHEBEZ
by the Borrower of a Term Loan EXEEET
that Contains a Repayment on EHEFET
Demand Clause nig2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies * BEEHENE 1R LHBERIEE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 REBUBIRE
EREBEH
VL ACHES)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BAL R ERICaPS =3
Estimates ' £8% (BaIA)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BAe R HE-RIEEL
and Liabilities arising from F125 (B31K) EBERAEGEH
a Single Transaction ' ZEERE
Amendments to HKFRS 10and ~ Sale or Contribution of BAMBREEN REEEEEE
HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor and F10RREE ARSEERE
its Associate or Joint Venture ¢ S EAIE8S  ANEELE
CEHEN EEy -
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BAUBREERN EREANEE
Leaseback 2 F16% (BiIAX) AR?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. L RZT_=F—A—Hzz®&MK

R FEHARI AR o
z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 2 R-ZZZWF—HA—Hxkz&FHB
B E HAR AR
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be E RAFE B #isk 2 & FAmaFE HARE
determined. AR o
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of REBEFEFTEZERT LS

A
AIAEMBEREENEERER
ROFE BE2HE  25ER
RRFEATSHAEE I
RARMBERRELEATE

the impact of these new or revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. Up to now, the Group considers that these
standards will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial performance and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosure
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention, except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) as disclosed in the
accounting policies and explanatory notes below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events
and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., EREBTBEME

POLICIES

4.1 Business combination and basis of 41 ¥ EHRGEREE

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. WWhere necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities
and assets meets the definition of a business and control
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the
Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive
processes and whether the acquired set has the ability to
produce outputs.

REVBHRRBEALRE REH
BRANPBRE - ARIFEHR
% SERNRRIEEHIARER
ot MR AR LR & 1S R I B
B - REREBEENRZ T TN
it BRIERFBERBR TS
REEHLBRRE ERBERTA
KBS HERERE -

REAREXHEMNBRARNE
BBEKREESMEEHE AL
(m@Em) RiEazmfiaiRA
R BRE  ARESHEN
BRARNMBHRE  FESHHK
REAREEEMAE A RIFTRA
EFH

EREN A REENS
EBMEE AEFIREBELRE
B - AEEERWREERES
BHAR - REE —HERFEAD
REERBR—AERE K&
BFHEFT BN —AEENES
ERELBRE-BERAREESR
2 URFFREN —HEEERE
BRGEFGLEEHNMES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.1 Business combination and basis of

consolidation (continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group,
as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-
date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised
in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in
the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which
case the costs are deducted from equity.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss
and each component to other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this
results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value to the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest; and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (i) the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss,
if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.3 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation
to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate
has been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment
is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.3 Associates (Continued) 4.3 &N T) ()

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be an associate.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing a part interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
are recognised on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest it that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.4 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree,
the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount
(see note 4.17), and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year. When
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each
asset will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount
to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable)
or its value-in-use (if determinable), whichever is the
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in
profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.5 Foreign currencies

4,5 Hpis

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
it operates) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took place are
used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the translation reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their
estimated residual value over their estimated useful life,
using straight-line method as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Leasehold improvements 4 to 5 years, or over
the lease terms,

whichever is shorter

Machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

The assets’ estimated residual values, estimated useful
lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.7 Leasing — as lessee 4.7 HE - EREAEA

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases; and/or (i) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-
value assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of less than 12 months. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The depreciation method used for
right-of-use assets is the same as that used for property,
plant and equipment. Right-of-use assets in which the
Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. The depreciation rates of the
different classes of right-of-use assets are as follow:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.7 Leasing — as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset (Continued)

Leasehold land 45 years
Office premises 4 to 5 years, or over the lease
terms, whichever is shorter

Office equipment 5 years

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to
be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
in-substance fixed lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.7 Leasing - as lessee (Continued)

4.7 HE -1EAEBEA @)

Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of
any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is
similarly revised when the variable element of future lease
payments dependent on a rate or index is revised, except
the discount rate remains unchanged. In both cases, an
equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the
right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being
amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to
zero, any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms
of a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results
in one or more additional assets being leased for an
amount commensurate with the standalone price for
the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification
is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease
(whether that is an extension to the lease term, or one
or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability
is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on
the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being
adjusted by the same amount. If the renegotiation results
in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying
amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are
reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or
full termination of the lease with any difference recognised
in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted
to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of
the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term,
with the modified lease payments discounted at the rate
applicable on the modification date and the right-of-use
asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.8 Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property, plant
and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable and are
recognised as other revenue, rather than reducing the
related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate
of interest is treated as a government grant, measured
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair
value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Intangible assets 49 BLEE

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the CGU
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

4.10 Financial instruments

() Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, and financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

The Group measured loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provisional matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(@ Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and i)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(©

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(d)

(©

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables from sales of apparels, when
the amounts are over one/two year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(e

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and loans and
interest receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non-
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at
fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial liability at FVTPL, except
where the embedded derivative does not significantly
modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of
the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria are
met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on a different
basis; (i) the liabilities are part of a group of financial
liabilities which are managed and their performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management strategy; or (i) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise, except for the gains and losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost trade payable,
accruals and other payables, other borrowings and
lease liabilities issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets
the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into their respective items
on initial recognition. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as
an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(vi)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to
the liability component, representing the conversion
option for the holder to convert the convertible
bonds into equity, is included in equity (convertible
bonds reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be released to the retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
on initial recognition. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period
of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

411 Cash and cash equivalents M BRERFESEEER

Cash and cash equivalents, including cash and bank
balances, comprise cash on hand and demand deposits
and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For
the purpose of cash flows presentation, cash and cash
equivalents include bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

4.12 Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares
are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental
costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.

RekBFeZHERR (BERE
NIR1T#TF) ALATIEB AKX -
FERAS MEHER - LAKRATEE
RERSEMEENREBETRE
FEEREES TR H MRS H
lﬂ/}lu@JETXéf MEEREZ®W
HekBHeEHEERBE
Mﬁgi%ﬁMﬁﬂﬁi 2R
REBRSEBNEKBD o

412 &

FEIR R ATER - ERIEK
7K Bk A] 2 3R % (E M E K E
R RABEMBRBKA - &
BRAREFEDER AR K&
IRREPTEE AE RO B MBRK AN © P AT
RAMEFLEEETE - AIERF
BRBAEEKERETPOMGEEE
ARG ETE TR K H & T 3 EY
fAEtERE -

413 IR A

BB D AR o AT IR
RERTRONEEERE °

HE TR MBI X 5 KA

EE&@EE(E%EHW%%
BHAZE) PN HERNRE

&XE@@%%W FIERCAN o

Annual Report 2022 %5k

163



154

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.14 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

414 Revenue recognition Continued) 414 IR ATERR ()

Customers obtain control of the apparel products when
the goods are delivered to and have been regarded
as accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when
the customers received the apparel products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. The Group
does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to
the customer and payment by the customer exceeds
one year. Sales are made with a credit term from 10 to
180 days, which is consistent with market practice. As
a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money as no
significant financing component is deemed present and
the sales are made with the credit term.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers from the
sale of apparel products provide customers a right of
return. These rights of return allow the returned goods
to be refunded in cash. The right of return gives rise
to variable consideration. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until the
associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The
application of the constraint on variable consideration
increases the amount of revenue that will be deferred. In
addition, a refund liability and a right to return asset are
recognised.

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis on
the principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Subcontracting income is recognised upon the
subcontracting goods are delivered and the customer has
accepted and obtained control of the goods.

Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods or
services to customer for which the Company has received
consideration, or for which an amount of consideration is
due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Company has transferred to
a customer when that right is conditional on something in
additional to the passage of time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.15 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for (i) goodwill not deductible for tax purpose, (i) initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that are not part of the
business combination which affect neither accounting
nor taxable profits, and (iii) taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences are
not arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction other than in a business combination that
affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the
asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

4.15 Income taxes (Continued) 415 FRri8% (&)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity.

4.16 Employee benefit

()  Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong
manages a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF scheme. The Group makes
contributions based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries funded by the Group and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.16 Employee benefit (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Defined contribution retirement plan (Continued)

The Group’s entities established in the People’s
Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong and Macau
(the “PRC”) make monthly contributions to a state-
sponsored defined contribution scheme for the
local staff. The contributions are made at a specific
percentage on the standard salary pursuant to laws
of the PRC and relevant regulation issued by local
social security authorities.

In addition, the Group’s entities incorporated in the
United States of America (the “USA”) make monthly
contributions to a defined contribution scheme under
the relevant federal program for the local staff. The
Group makes contributions based on a percentage
of the local staff’s funded by the Group and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
the rules of the scheme.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after
the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)
417 HittEERE

4.17 Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets, interest in associates and
interests in subsidiaries to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note
4.4), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or cash generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

4.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Income earned on temporary investments
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those
assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

4.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is
probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that
can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.20 Share-based payments

4.21

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
services received is measured by reference to the fair
value of the options at the date of grant. Such fair value is
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve within
equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at the end of each reporting period so
that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number of options that
eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into
the fair value of the options granted. As long as all non-
market vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made
irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions
are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for
failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:
()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)

is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.21 Related parties (continueq)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

M

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

4.21 Related parties (continued) 421 B (&)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

4.22 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its consolidated financial statements prepared
under HKFRSs, except bank interest income, unallocated
finance costs, and unallocated corporate expenses, which
are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment, are not included in arriving at the
operating results of the operating segment.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes,
timing of payment of related taxes and interpretation
of relevant tax regulations. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

In addition, deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. This requires
significant judgement on the tax treatments of certain
transactions and also assessment on the probability that
adequate future taxable profits will be available for the
deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. EEGTHEREETHE

ERENEZRIR

T R A AR AL - YERNBEL
BEEMAZ  BREABER NMAE
BERREMFNEIERY -

REEFARKAEL At RRR - BHE
SEtfAstER BEE D RENEFER
R - AEERRBREBMEMBRFE
NEERBENREEHREECHEN
Er RRRAHBAT

(@) FTEBiRIEEFTEH

REE B2 (B RARE R BB FT
B RETEMEHRNEZIRE
8 - AERE T RR T SR i e AR
WA < FR B A (E B A HI i
ETRPREFFET A IARETE
REHIA - AERBEREMGEEEIN
BMIER A I - BAIRE HIRRER
BE - WZxSFEKKBAGR
HEERGNRBEMER " A
=R EFELAHETEHE
K FTISR RO AT R A -

ESN - B 1R AT BE B R R FEER T s
o AHBBINRNERERT
DA SH - Rl B SR AR FE HOIE R IR
BE - @a2KIETRHNHE
BRI (EH E R A - X BRFF A
RIKA & 5 E) FE SR at A1l A S U
EIEERIRE R Al GENE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(b) Impairment of receivables

(c)

The impairment allowances for trade receivables, loans
and interest receivables and other receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected credit
loss rates. The Group adopts judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting inputs for computing such
impairment loss, broadly based on the available historical
data of the parties, existing market conditions including
forward-looking estimates at end of reporting period.

Provision for inventories

Management of the Group reviews the inventories at each
reporting date, and makes provision for impairment of
obsolete, slow-moving and impaired items. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the expected future market conditions
and the estimated selling price. The Group makes
provision for impairment if the net realisable value is below
the carrying amount.

5. EEGTHEREETHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

(e)

(including goodwill)

The Group assesses the recoverable amount of goodwill,
intangible asset with indefinite useful life and other non-
current assets as at 31 December 2022 based on higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD”) and
value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU and FVLCOD
calculations require management to exercise significant
judgement and make critical accounting estimates,
particularly in relation to the determination of valuation
techniques and the selection of inputs like projected
cash flows during projection period, growth rates beyond
the projection period and discount rates to discount
the projected cash flows and cash flows beyond the
projection period.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, the Group has to consider various factors,
such as expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset,
and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The
estimation of the useful life of the asset is made based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that
are used in a similar way. Depreciation charge is revised
if the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant
and equipment are different from the previous estimation.
Estimated useful lives are reviewed, at the end of each
reporting period, based on changes in circumstances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &&= — T~ —4F+— A

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may earn
revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the basis of
the internal management reporting information that is provided
to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (being the executive directors of the Company)
in order to allocate resources and assess performance of the
segment. During the year, the Company has identified design,
manufacture and trading of apparels and provision for money
lending services as the reportable and operating segments of
the Group.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of them requires different business strategies.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain cash and bank balances and other corporate
assets not attributable to the reportable segments;

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
certain lease liabilities and other corporate liabilities not
attributable to the reportable segments; and

- segment results represent the loss or profit incurred or
earned by each segment without allocation of certain
other income, certain administrative expenses, such as
the Group’s headquarter administrative staff costs and
directors’ emoluments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

a2\
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. oHER @
The segment information provided to the executive directors for FAMBTESRENAIBREDH 29
the reportable segments during the year is as follows: HERAT
Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading lending and cultural
of apparels services products Total
FREmERET - nRE R
BERES FRH ERHE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FiEn TEr FiEn
Year ended 31 December 2022 Hz-E-—&4-H
St-BLEE
Revenue from external customers REINPZFHMA 74,337 13,631 1,652 89,620
Segment profit/(loss) AEpEF,/ (BB) 44,711 (58,719) (1,631) (15,639)
Reconciliation %
Bank interest income SRATHEBA 105
Unallocated corporate expenses RAMEETH (38,878)
Finance costs BARA (3,991)
Loss before tax BREAERE (58,403)|
At 31 December 2022 R=Z-Zf+-A=t+-H
Segment assets DEpEE 105,758 116,949 51,123 273,830
Other corporate assets J NAIEE 14,543
Total assets BEE 288,373 |
Segment liabilities NHaE 35,933 6,685 3,043 45,661
Other corporate liabilities Hiw R rlgE 33,412
Total liabilties wafE 79,073
Other segment information Hittp HER
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-B--%1ZAR
St-HILEE
Amounts included in the measure FTAGES BBEE
of segment profit or loss or DEEERNFE :
segment assets:
Provision for inventories FERE (1,297) - - (1,297)
Provision for other receivables i UGB R (2,586) - - (2,586)
Provision for ECL on trade receivables B SR EREEEEBRRE (550) - - (550)
Provision for ECL on loans and EREF KA EEH
interest receivables FEBERE - (21,196) - (21,196)
Impairment of goodwill BERE - (34,632) - (34,632)
Gain on disposal of land and L& T RETFhE
buildings (note 7(0)) (7)) 74,762 - - 74,762
Fair value change on financial assets DYNTERS-E L RINS-
at FVTPL BRMBEENRTESR - (10,111) - (10,111)
Depreciation (note (a)) & (M) (2,084) (1,239) (466) (3,789)
Capital expenditure (note (a)) EART (M) 2,075 16 524 2,615
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. oHER @
Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading lending cultural
of apparels senvices products Total
FREDERET - ERmE el
HERES AR EmHE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT FEL
Year ended 31 December 2021 Bz-Z--%4+C8
=+-ALEE
Revenue from external customers REIBZERIBA 129,254 10,564 = 139,818
Segment loss PEER (4,129) (20,521) = (24,650)
Reconciliation E2lid
Bank interest income RITHEIA 1
Unallocated corporate expenses AOMEESTH (21,009)
Finance costs BENA (366)
Loss before tax BRHAIERE (46,020)
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%+-A=1-H
Segment assets NHEE 53,033 179,104 232,137
Other corporate assets HtARBE 2,695
Total assets BEE 234,832
Segment liabilities NHaE 28,500 5,865 34,365
Other corporate liabilties HitARBE 4,210
Total liabilties BaE 38,575
Other segment information HttpBER
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--%1=R
=t-ALEE
Amounts included in the measure FAGTEN B B E
of segment profit or loss or BEMFE -
segment assets:
Provision for inventories FERE (521) = = (521)
Reversal of provision for ECL on B oRUGEEREE
trade receivables BERERD 125 - - 125
Provision for ECL on loans and T E T LA ST
interest receivables EEBERE - (18,042) - (18,042)
Loss arising from derecognition of RIFERERETRFE
loans and interest receivables MEARER = (3,959) = (3,959)
Fair value change on financial assets AATEHEEEHFARS
at FVTPL B HBEEN N TES - (2,679) - (2,679)
Depreciation (note (a)) & (M3t (a) (3,508) (2,151) = (5,659)
Capital expenditure (note (a)) BEARY (Fi3E (@) 1,463 2,133 - 3,596
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal places of the Group’s operations are in the PRC
(including Hong Kong). Management determines the Group
is domiciled in both Hong Kong, and in the PRC, which is the
Group’s principal operating location. No revenue was earned
from transactions with other operating segments of the Group.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the
following geographical areas, based on locations of customers:

DEER @)

ARARR—EREZERAR - MASK
B ENTBEMHUNTE (BRE
)  ERERTEMREEERLIEE
[BREFAEN - BETRAKENERE
BiE o EAKEEMEED RS
I B FRERAEAATHLA ©

REER AN T P R ARIBR P AL
BIRATHEES -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

The USA EH 2,031 89,056
Hong Kong 5% 27,654 40,106
The PRC s 59,935 10,656
89,620 139,818

Geographical location of external customers is based on the
location at which the customers are domiciled.

The principal non-current assets held by the Group are located
in the PRC (including Hong Kong).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from each of the major customers which accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out

6.

DEER @)

KEFREAREERAT10%A L
BEEXBEPHWRAHIIIMT :

below:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Customer A ZEA 20,536 N/A N B
Customer B =FB 12,916 N/A N3 A *
Customer C =FEC 12,319 N/A i A *
Customer D EFD N/A RE A~ 30,749
Customer E BFE N/AFEH * 29,435
Customer F BEF N/AFEH * 23,168

*

The revenue from this customer accounted for less than 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, 59% (2021: 12%) of the Group’s
trade receivables was due from these customers. Revenue
earned from these customers were reported in the design,
manufacturing and trading of apparels operating segment.

Note:

(@) Depreciation and capital expenditures, which represent the depreciation,
additions and lease modifications of property, plant and equipment and

* REAREHNBSIEANEEHEE T ——
ER-_EBE-__F+-_A=+—HILEED
IES D 10% °

R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8  ZE%
FRZRBIEAEEE S ERFKER
50% (Z T = —F : 12%) - &SR
PEREMK D 25N AR ET - 23E

NEZEEDHR

BAE

@ BEATISEFEREAFRX - BT
14 R MIEE 15 PTIRER R 2 - IR AR RY

right-of-use assets as disclosed in note 14 and note 15, have been

e FEREEERARERREE

included in:
Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading of lending cultural
apparels services products  Unallocated Consolidated
FRe AT - BRX
HERES EBRRERE ER#E i) &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TR TET TiER FET
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-ZE-—£+-A=1-HIEE
Depreciation & 2,084 1,239 466 1,258 5,047
Capital expenditures BARHY 2,075 16 524 1,217 3,832
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ-F--F+-A=1-HIEE
Depreciation & 3,508 2,151 - 1,229 6,888
Capital expenditures BRHAX 1,463 2,133 - 676 4272
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

7.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the interest income from loans receivable,
and revenue from sales of apparels and trendy cultural products,
net of returns, discounts and sales related taxes. Further details
regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 6.

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers represents
revenue from sales of goods which is recognised on a point in
time basis. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income

and gains, net, are as follows:

7. WAREAMBEARKE

WASE W E AT S WA - AR 5w
MXALERBFEWRA » WERERE -
Ik ERHERRRADIE - BRASE
EEXHHE - SFHBRERWES °

AREBEXRBREF AR WRIENFE—
R R R SHE Ean il - AERERIL
ARFEMBA RIS FEOTT -

2022 2021
—EB-CF| ZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts REEEFEHHKE :
with customers:
Sales of goods HEEm 75,989 129,254
Revenue from other source: REHMARRA W
Interest income from loans receivable  FEURE ZREYFI B UL A 13,631 10,564
Total revenue FEU PN 89,620 139,818
Other gains and losses, net Hitlh a5 R S8 358
Net fair value loss on financial assets WAFEFEBZ8TAZHER
at FVTPL W EEN AT EBEFHE (10,111) (2,679)
Bank interest income HITHBEUA 105 1
Subcontracting income, net (note a) ITWAERE (H5Ea) - 4,621
Gain on disposal of land and HE it REFUE (MiEEb)
buildings (note b) 74,762 -
Government subsidies (note c) B &R (FirEce) 432 1,764
Loss arising from derecognition of KR ERE R R FE
loans and interest receivables EEREE (MizE21)
(note 21) - (3,959)
Sundry income IR 1,033 2,083
66,221 1,831
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Subcontracting income, net, refers to other income generated from
provision of assembling services on apparels by the Group to other
manufacturers, after deduction of the Group’s incurred cost of services
mainly including staff cost and material cost.

On 24 August 2022, the Group entered into a compensation agreement
with Jiaxing Xiubei Development and Construction Co., Ltd (“Jiaxing
Xiubei”), a state-owned enterprise appointed by the local authority to
execute a transaction on land, pursuant to which, Jiaxing Xiubei agreed to
purchase, and the Group agreed to sell its land together with its buildings
attached with aggregate compensation of approximately HK$81,659,000
payable by Jiaxing Xiubei, according to the relevant policy of the
Xiuzhou Government for the purpose of urban area redevelopment. The
transaction was completed in December 2022. Net gain from disposal
of land and buildings of approximately HK$74,762,000 (2021: nil) was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, included in profit or loss is
HK$432,000 (2021: nil) of government grants obtained from Employment
Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by
the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s
employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these
grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce employee head count below
prescribed levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not have
other unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, included in profit or loss is
HK$1,714,000 of government grants obtained from Paycheck Protection
Program launched by the United States Government supporting the
payroll of the Group’s employees and office rental expense. The Group
does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.

The disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with

BfAE

(@

7. WAREAMBEARKE
()

MTRAF AR B Rt 2UER Rt
BR &AL 5 AR EE £ O LA (AR HIBR AR
SEELNRBEA (ERBEETHEA
RMBRA) 1) -

NR-ZE-_—_FNA-+HHE  "REBFERE
EmAILRAERERERAR ([FEMF
k) (M FEREERIT I HRINEE
©2) ST —MFERR - Bt - RES
MBS AT M REENMARMECE - 28
FUARAEEEMAEBRE HEZ T hiE
RZEYE  FEFIENFERREAD
81,659,000/ c ZRXHE R T ==
FH+_AZK -BE_T__F+=A4
=+—HIFE EERALELHRIETF
W FE4974,762,00087C (Z T =—4F :
) o

BE-_E-_—_S+-A=+—RHIEE -
WE B RNITEE BT HEH A TR E
E& BT MR 518 ((RyETED
LA B AR &5 B g B 5 < 15 5 BUT 1 BY
432,000 T (ZT=—4% : T) Bt A
= o ARIR [IRBLE | 518 - AEBAEEES
ZEMBART MY - WERTHBEA
TERKEBBASRLDEREKRKFEUT »
2N ER [ I 4 ELqth BRI AT BB BR A (R R B AT
T e

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A-+—HIEFE"
WEBRBFH LA [ TEFRETS] A
AEEEEFSRPATHE I EENK
FF# B 1,714,000 T E 5t AfBm » A%
B LA B AT R B R M R EIT R AT ©

AEERBEEEFANHET MM

customers on sale of goods are as follows: ZARIT
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Geographical markets HhEm 5%
The USA e 2,031 89,056
Hong Kong B 14,023 29,452
The PRC H 59,935 10,746
Total revenue from contracts REEBEFEHNNNSETEE -
with customers, recognised R — R B HER
at a point in time 75,989 129,254
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7.

(Continued)

The following table provides information about trade receivables

WA R E At A R W 3
()

TREHABETPEONE 5 RUGK

and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. EREHEENER -
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T

As at 31 December Rt+-—A=1+—H

Trade receivables (note 20) 2 5 rEWEIE (FiFE20) 39,065 27,486
Contract liabilities (note 27) aHar’E (skar) 893 529

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts of apparels products and trendy cultural products and
therefore no information is disclosed for revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts for apparels and trendy cultural
products production that had an original expected duration of

one year or less.

75 B S EL AR A E i SRR SU(LEE AR Y
HEANRKREREEE - FtIWE
BREWAER - {EMAKER R RRE
HARARR 78— SF sl DA T RRE BUH R AR £ K2
MR CEREHNETHRBENE
75 o

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. REMNI

2022 2021

—E-CF T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FETT

Interest on other borrowings E A& K F B 137 141
Interest on debt element of AR ESZ

convertible bonds BEBHAEKE D FIE 3,694 —

Interest on lease liabilities HERENE 160 225

3,991 366

174 Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K#3%2 %A (R A 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

BRET S BRI 1B

BRETISTATE IR EMB, GTA) T
B IRZZER -

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9.

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN <
— Audit service - ZERT 990 798
— Non-audit service - IR ERTE 125 -
Cost of inventories recognised EERAERYNFEERA
as expense 75,560 101,119
Depreciation of property, plant M - BE REETE
and equipment (note 14) (M= 14) 1,384 2,341
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE (M 15)
assets (note 15) 3,663 4,547
Foreign exchange loss, net & X =R 1855 207 219
Provision for inventories FERE 1,297 521
Write-off of other receivables 8 B A FE UK SRR 2,586 -
Provision for/(reversal of) ECL on trade & 5 B G IETE = & EE
receivables (note 20) BB (Bm) (FIsE20) 550 (125)
Provision for ECL on loans and R EF KA SBHEEEIERE
interest receivables (note 21) (FizE21) 21,196 18,042
Short-term lease expense SHHEBA 667 352
Employee benefit expense R EEHIF
(including directors’ emoluments (BEESEME (H3E10))
(note 10))
— Wages and salaries -TEKH® 41,826 38,175
— Pension scheme contribution — RURET IR
— defined contribution plans - REBFETE 2,230 779
— Share-based compensation — DARS A7 75 5 A R B 5,566 2,897
— Other benefits - Efb i F 1,097 857
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. EE@H%&EH%EﬁHﬁA

PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of each of the directors for the years

(a) EEME

R FEBREZTME N

presented are set out below: ™
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind contributions compensation Total
#e 2R i
ne BEA  BAGHEMR  ARENEM @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén
Year ended 31 December 2022 Bz-E-Cf
TZA=t-HBLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
M. Li Yang Xyt
(Apnointed with effect fom 19 January 2022)  (R=F=—%-F+7BEZRNT) - 2718 18 - 2,736
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (‘Ms. i) Bt ([A%L]) - 1,200 18 - 1,218
M. Cheung Ka Lung FRELE - 1,200 18 - 1,218
Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence RHARESE - 850 18 1912 2,780
Mr. Gong Xiaohan BRRLE - 2,016 - - 2,016
- 7,984 72 1,912 9,968
Independent non-executive directors: BUAHIEE:
M. Tang Shu Pui, Simon WEELE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BEELE 20 - - - 240
Ms Lo Wing Sze JP Eacint 240 - - - 240
720 - - - 720
Total emoluments Hees 720 7,984 7 1,912 10,688
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. EEMERAERSH A

PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq) mall-)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@ EEME 2
The emoluments of each of the directors for the years RANEEERESHIE N
presented are set out below: (Continued) T (&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions  compensation Total
e BER HiR{3
ok EnEN  RIGIEER  AREREM &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

Year ended 31 December 2021 H2-B--E+-A=t-HLEE
Executive dlrectors: H1EE
Ms. Tin i = 1,200 18 1,153 2311
Mr. Cheung Ka Lung E i = 2,068 18 139 292
Mr. Guo Lin I
(resigned with eflect from 11 January 2021) ~ (B=E-—%-F+-REEE) = 3% 1 = 3
M. Jiang Mingsheng ZREEE
(resigned with eflect from 11 January 2021)  (B=E--%-F+-HEEE) - 18 - - 18
Mr. Jiang Tianging BRELE
(resigned with effect from 11 January 2021) ~ (E-E=—%—-A+—B#&E) - 18 - - 18
Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence RoStE
(appointed with effect fom 2 August 2021 (B=E=—F/\A-BEERT) - 33 6 136 465
M. Gong Xiaohan BEREE
(appointed with effect from 8 December 2021 (B=Z-—%+-f/\BE
EZ{) - 130 - 1,158 1,283
- 3,792 43 2,578 6,413
Independent non-executive drectors: BUFHITEE:
M. Tang Shu Pui, Simon WEELE 240 - - 68 308
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BELLE 240 - - 68 308
Mr. Wu Fei AREE
(resigned with eflect from 18 January 2021)  (B=Z-—%—F1/\BEEE) 12 - - - 12
Ms Lo Wing Sze JP Bt
(appointed with effect from 22 January 2021)  (B=Z-—%-F-+-HB#
EZH) 226 - - 68 294
718 - - 204 922
Total emoluments Meed 718 3,792 13 2,782 7,33
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

The remuneration of the directors disclosed above only included
their remuneration during the period when they are holding the
office as directors of the Company.

ii. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
as directors of the Company.

(b)

Senior management’s emoluments

Senior management includes directors and other senior
executives. The analysis of the emoluments for senior
management, excluding the directors whose details have
been reflected in note 10(a), for the year is set out below:

10 EEMERABREFA

+ @)
(a)

G

(b)

BEEME )

EXFBRENEETHERERS

&

T HE A 7R X B = BB 5 S ) A

PRATEENFHN IR ERRSE
MEEARRERAEEEHMEH
BIRT - LB EITE RN H
HWEBERRERAARELTES

PR e iR

EREERNME

SREEERREFLREMSR
THRAE - FASREEE (T
BEFBCRBRIHE10@MWE

=) WEFMeT

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHET

Salaries, allowances e EEREYWET
and benefits in kind 3,508 1,055
Pension scheme contribution RIRGTEIEFK 18 18
Share-based compensation VABRAR £ EL 01 & FR A 2,174 12
5,700 1,085

The emoluments of the senior management excluding the
directors fell within the following bands:

SREEBENFHFMEN T

:

Number of employees

B8 AE
2022 2021
g8 — T4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 7T 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 &7 % 2,500,000 7 7T - =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 7T % 3,500,000 7T - —
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,001 /&7t 4,500,000 7 7T - -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,500,000 4,500,001 &7t £ 5,500,000 7 7T 1 -
2 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiE—E - —F+-_A=+—HIFE
10 EEMEREEREHFA
()
c) EBAEEHAL
AEEAEENAERSHAL

BR=ZF%2(ZE=_—%: =Z4)
B tMMeE RERENTE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 3
(2021: 3) directors for the year, whose emoluments are
reflected in note 10(a). The analysis of the emoluments

of the remaining 2 (2021: 2) highest of the five paid
individuals for the year is set out below:

10@) ° A mEFHA TR TN
Z(ZE——F BB RAFEE
HENE AT T ¢

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T

Salaries, allowances e R NEYER
and benefits in kind 3,516 3,377
Pension scheme contribution RIRETEIER 18 36
Share-based compensation LARS AR A2 ZE 08 A = B 3,517 12
7,051 3,425

Number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

it

MERENA THENIFEFTRR
FREEABWT :

Number of employees

EE AE
2022 2021
—E-—fF B4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& £ 1,500,000% T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 /&£ 2,500,000 % T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 /&£ 3,500,000 % T - =
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,001 /&£ 4,500,000 % T - =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,500,000 4,500,001 /& T £ 5,500,000 % T 1 -
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no director or any of the highest paid individuals waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments and there were no
emoluments paid by the Group to the directors or any of
the highest paid individuals of the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office.

REBEEZT_—_FR_FT_—%F
+ZA=+—HLFE #EE
EFEMEERHFATREXRE
WMEANMNE  BASEBER
B AERHFALTIMNER
e - tEAMAREELINAR
HERE - SkEEERAE(E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. fTEFHEX

2022 2021
—E-=F T -—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAET

Current income tax charged REEAHFRABHAX

for the year:

Hong Kong profits tax BEFEH 87 251
PRC EIT A B 1 NS 7,385 -
7,472 251
()  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin () BEABHERESD ([HBER

Islands (“BVI”) and the Cayman lIslands, the Group is not
subject to any taxation under these jurisdictions.

(i) Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: (ii)
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of qualified
entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25% (2021:
8.25%), which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime.

(iiy  PRC EIT is provided at 25% (2021: 25%) on the estimated (iii)
assessable profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries for the
year.

Under the law of the PRC on EIT, corporate withholding
income tax is levied on the foreign investor for the
dividends distributed out of the profits generated by the
foreign investment enterprises. The Group’s applicable
withholding income tax rate is 5% (2021: 5%).

(iv)  The USA CIT comprises federal income tax calculated at (iv)
15% and state and local income tax calculated at various
rates on the estimated assessable profits of the Group’s
subsidiary in the USA.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

REE] MRASEHEMRAIE
Bl NEEBBBGRZS B
[ B EfRIAREIR ©

BEBNEHEATFEERBESE
B EET FEEREL R T 16.5% (=&
Z—F :16.5%) i E - BIRE
MRFIFESHE - GEREED
B 2,000,0007% 7T F& &% £ i A 1%
8.05% (=—FE = —4F :8.25%) =t
i o

PR EATER IR A S E T
M A RANFEE Rt RS
FE25% (ZB=—4F : 25%) &t
=R -

RIBEFRBCEMERE  HINK
REERIINECEMELEZ R
DR 2 R B BB EENAE
e REBEB 2 BMAMEHE
KEE%(ZE=—F :5%) °

XBECEMBRE/REARER
BB 1 B A0 {5 FE SR 4
MIZ15% st BB FH TSI K
BRI R R AN R 5 RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

1. 88X )

A recondiliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before BEAEMEAEHRAGEHAIEERER
income tax at the statutory tax rate to the income tax expense RIFTISHAY - BIRER R E TR
at the effective tax rate is as follows: SHAZEERINT
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Loss before income tax bR FT{S AR A5 18 (58,403) (46,020)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable LAE AR B BRI Ak
to profits in the tax 5B EFTERTIE
jurisdictions concerned (5,146) (8,626)
Tax effect of non-taxable and BAR R T eI E
non-deductible items, net CoFsrhyS -7 o x:al 10,900 6,928
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR S E BTG E 1,718 1,949
Income tax expense FrS B2 7,472 251
DIVIDENDS 12. [RE

No interim dividend was declared during the year (2021: Nil) and
the board of directors of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$65,895,000 (2021: HK$46,271,000) by the weighted
average number of 1,845,279,000 (2021: 1,690,000,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

As shares options granted by the Company under its share
option scheme, and convertible bonds issued by the Company
have an antidilutive effect to the basic loss per share calculation
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.-

13.

AEETESERPHARE (ZT=—
F:8) BARAESSETEREN
BE_T-_—_#+-_A=+—HItEE
BIRHIRE (ZT=_—F : &) -

FREE

BREXNEBEBIIZANRRESR AEN
E518#765,895,000 87T (ZFE = —4F :
46,271,000 70) BRIAFRNE BTEB
R% # N4 S 159 81 1,845,279,000 /% (=
T — —4F : 1,690,000,000 %) 5t& -

HRAR AR REERES AR LA
B AR AR RIBI TR I AR B 5
HE-_ZT-_—FRZF-_F+=A
=+t HULEFENEREREBNE
BEREERE - Bt BEZT=—F
—E-—F+-A=+—HILFEHN
BREEEBRESRENESIBER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - BERFE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings  improvements Machinery  equipment vehicles Total
il - %EBR
BF HENERE BE  BOZERE AE szt

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TiL TiL THL TAL TAL

Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE-Z--E+-A=t-ALLEE

Opening net camyingamount ~~ EAIBASE 6,743 1,556 753 429 139 9,620
Additions WE = = = 451 280 731
Depreciation i (752) (1,266) (117) (133) &) (2,341)
Exchange differences EXES 193 - 21 10 3 21
Closing net carmying amount EREEE 6,184 290 657 757 349 8,237
At 31 December 2021 R-BZ-F+ZA=t-8
and 1 January 2022 k=%-=%-A-A

Cost 7 16,967 11,959 3973 9677 1,726 44,302
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (10,783) (11,669) 3,316) (8,920) (1,377) (36,065)
Net carrying amount REYE 6,184 290 657 757 349 8,237
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ-E__F+-A=1-HLL%E

Openingnet camyingamount TR FE 6,184 290 657 751 349 8,237
Additions AE - 496 18 9207 57 1,478
Acoisition of subsicleries (note 34) WEEHBAR (HizE34) - - - 285 - 285
Disposal e (5,265) - (341) (284) - (5,890)
Deprecifion & 672) (299) (33) (320) 1) (1,384
Exchange differences EHES (247) - (37) (66) 9) (359)
Closing net carrying amount ~ EXREFE - 488 264 1,219 336 2,367
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z£+Zh=t1-R

Cost A - 12,455 1,702 1,828 1,692 28,671
Accumulated depreciation ZihE - (11,967) (1,438) (6,549) (1,356) (21,310)
Net carrying amount BEFE - 488 264 1,219 336 2,367
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FAEEE
Leasehold Office Office
land premises  equipment Total
HELH WAME BAERE M@t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR TR FiET TER

Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z_-5+-B=1-H

ILFE
Opening net carrying amount FONREFE 1,682 4,174 589 6,445
Depreciation e (50) (4,262) (235) (4,547)
Addition B - 3,541 - 3,541
Exchange differences BN R 47 - - 47
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 1,679 3,453 354 5,486

Year ended 31 December 2022 BZE-_E__&£+-fF=1+-H

LFE
Opening net carrying amount FNEEFE 1,679 3,453 354 5,486
Depreciation e (46) (3,404) (213) (3,663)
Addition NE - 2,183 171 2,354
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)  UEEHTB A A (FizE34) - 363 - 363
Disposal e (1,490) - - (1,490)
Exchange differences [EHESE (149) (89) - (232)
Closing net carrying amount FREMFE - 2,506 312 2,818
As 31 December 2021, the Group’s right-of-use assets RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—8  ~5HF
represented by leasehold land comprise leasehold interests in a DHE T HRENFEREEEREER
land in the PRC and held under long-term lease. Bl —3R i FARHIEERBNHEER

9
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

16. GOODWILL

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from

16. &

EGAMELEAMEBFEENDE

business combinations, is as follows: R
HK$°000
FERT
Cost EEZF
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 AT —F—H—HK
—E_—F+_HA=+—H 99,109
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) Bk B AR (H93E34) 41,346
Exchange difference bE X Z5E 1,197
At 31 December 2022 R-B=-Z=F+=A=+—H 141,652
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Z:HTE REEEE
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 EA_ T_—F—HA—A8K
—E—F+-A=+—H 64,477
Impairment RE 34,632
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+=-HA=+-—H 99,109
Net carrying amount BREEE
At 31 December 2022 —E__HF+=ZA=+—H 42,543
At 31 December 2021 ——#+=ZA=+—H 34,632
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill are allocated to HREARNES BEIEEEASE
the CGUs in relation to the Group’s provision of money lending RHERREREEHENRESEESN
services (“Money Lending CGU”) and sale of trendy cultural ([EXmEBRSELESM]) MBRX

products (“Trendy Cultural Products CGU”) as follows:

B T

fEEMEE (R CERREEL

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET T

Trendy Cultural Products CGU Bt EmRE EA BN 42,543 =
Money Lending CGU EXmERSEESN - 34,632
42,543 34,632

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
from value-in-use calculation based on cash flow projections
from formally approved budgets by management covering a
five-year period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is ranging from 12% to 17.5% (2021: 12.7%). Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
steady growth rate of 2% (2021: 2%), which does not exceed
the long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflected specific risks relating to the
relevant CGU. The growth rates of cash flows ranging from 2%
to 3% (2021: 3%) within the five-year period have been based
on past experience.

The key assumptions used in the budget plan are as follow:

Discount rate — the discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks related to the CGU.

Long term growth rate — the weighted average growth rate used
to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

No impairment was recognised on goodwill allocated to the
Trendy Cultural Products CGU for the year ended 31 December
2022 as the recoverable amount of the Trendy Cultural Products
CGU was higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December
2022.

The Group expects the business environment for money lending
operation will deteriorate due to intense competition and this
will result into a downward adjustment on future revenue from
money lending operation. An impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$34,632,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to write down the carrying amount
of the Money Lending CGU to its recoverable amount as at 31
December 2022.

16. B2 »)

ReELEMHNAIKESBERBRER
FHEXEEREENTEEMARE
nERAFENEREEETE - @EARN
Eﬁi/)lh%?ﬁ/ﬂ”ﬂ@ﬂﬁiﬁ%%)l?12%1
175% (ZF=—%F : 12.7%) - BB H
i%%ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁwmdz
T —F:2%) HH - ZEREXBR
H%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁT F R RGIR & B H
AIBRIA R - RMREAEAERELSNE
BRI ERR - METMEN T2%E3%
(ZF=Z—F : 3%) WAFHPEREIZ
WAL MERE ©

ARTAE BIMBERERRANT

B % - PR R AR E -
RULERIE & 7t A RA IS A -

REMER - BRRNEEHERS
REHIMETHRESR -

HRARXICERREELESBRMAA]
KEeEaRNAER_T-__F+=-A
=+—H/REE - EBIER R
MM tERREEABUNEERE
—EC_HF+_A=1T—BHILFEER
A °

$%lﬁﬁﬁ NRE E R ERIRE A
BmEEZImEB AT AL THEERR
é%ﬁmixwk EREBEE—_T—_—
FH+_A=t+—HILFEEREERE
E518.34,632,000/8 T * A EF ﬂé
ReEEBMNEREERREER=
::¢+_H:+—H%TW@i%O
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

17. B & &

Money
lending
license

BEXAE R
HK$°000
FET
Cost and carrying amount RARRE{E
As at 31 December 2021, R-B-_—F+=-HA=t—HK
and 1 January and —E-__f-F—HK
31 December 2022 +=A=+—8 800

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every
year at minimal cost. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group would renew the license continuously
and has the ability to do so. Various studies including product
life cycle studies, market, competitive and environmental trends,
and brand extension opportunities have been performed by
management of the Group, which supports that the license has
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the provision of
services restricted by license are expected to generate net cash
flows for the Group.

As a result, the license is considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead, it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

For the key assumptions applied in determination of value-in-
use calculation of Money Lending CGU containing the license,
please refer to note 16 for details.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEE N TN ER

2022 2021

—E-—fF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FT

Share of net assets other than goodwill B B2 ASMNT{E R & 2 FE 605 -~
Goodwill on acquisition WHERSFTE AR E 235 —
840 -

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had interest in the RZE_—F+=—A=+—8 ' &~5&E

following associates which are accounted for using equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, as follows:

NS AR R A S - LR

BERERE M BRERARAOT

Issued share

Form of capital/paid-up Equity
business Place of registered interest Principal activity and
Name of company structure incorporation capital held place of operation
BRITRE/
REER FREBEA iR EHREmRE RERE - IEXBREFBE
Wake Hong Kong Limited liability Hong Kong 4 ordinary share 25% Provision of promotion
Limited company BH of HK$1 services in Hong Kong
BRAT ARBIREE BT REB R R
VERK
Helix Global Limited liability Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 36% Provision of event
Management Limited company B of HK$1 management services
BRATA 100 R EREET BT in Hong Kong
VR REBREEDERRG
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

In the opinion of the directors, these associates are not material
to the Group, and the aggregate financial information in respect
of the Group’s associates as extracted from their management
accounts are set out below:

18. REtE N RINER @)

EERA - REHEATUAEETS
WREA - BUAEEREAFOH B
RS (R E RS ERER) 05
T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FA&T
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Aggregate carrying amount of 1I%'J3F$7(H§ﬁ%’&
individually immaterial associates in W& B MRRVARE S
the consolidated financial statements 840 -
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Year ended 31 December HE+=-A=+—8H
Aggregate amount of the Group’s REBEDEZERE A RNERE
share of those associates
— Loss for the year - FRNBHE (160) =
— Other comprehensive income - B emiias - =
Total comprehensive loss ZHEEREE (160) —
19. INVENTORIES 19. BE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Raw materials and consumables JRR K FEA 25 2,053
Work in progress & 1,089 170
Finished goods BURK i 5,450 3,793
6,564 6,016
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

=h
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. E 5 EIWFIE
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables 2 ZEWEIE 40,135 28,006
Less: provision for impairment loss B REBERE (1,070) (520)
39,065 27,486
Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice B o REWGIBIRREAEERER - B%E
amounts which represented their fair values at initial recognition. B S EYGIIEN ) SRR A TE o
The Group’s trade receivables are attributable to a number of NEFENE SHEKRFTIBESENZEEEHE
independent customers with credit terms. The Group normally EHNBEYER AEFEBREETER
allows a credit period ranging from 10 to 180 days (2021: 10 to PNTF10E180K (—ZFE - —4% : 10
180 days) to its customers. Trade receivables are non-interest £180K) ZEH] - BZEINFIBT
bearing. BN
Ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date and BEREFHNE S EIRGIE (KB E
net of loss allowance is as follows: BEE) REROTAT -
2022 2021
—EC-CF B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 15,611 20,037
31 to 60 days 31260H 9,218 6,037
61 to 90 days 61290H 3,452 73
91 to 180 days 912 180H 4,987 154
Over 180 days i@ 180 H 5,797 1,185
39,065 27,486
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on trade
receivables are as follows:

20. EZEWFIE »)

& 5 IR AR R R 2B ER
T

HK$’000

FH&T

At 1 January 2021 R-E=—_—F—H—H 645

Reversal of provision for loss allowance recognised FAERTHEEERERD

during the year (129)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R=—ZE—_—%+=-HA=+—H

R=B--%—-A—H 520

Provision for loss allowance recognised during the year £ REERETIE B E 550

At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H 1,070

The Group provided for impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note
4.10(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as security
over the trade receivables. However, for the year ended 31
December 2021, in order to minimise the credit risk of not
receiving payments from its customers, the Group has entered
into arrangements with a financial institution in the USA and
a bank in Hong Kong (which in turn entered into certain
arrangement with an insurance company in this connection),
and Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation (a
statutory body which provides Hong Kong exporters with
insurance protection against non-payment risks arising from
commercial and political events), which offered trade receivable
underwriting arrangement against the Group’s trade receivables
for certain major customers. As at 31 December 2022, no
trade receivables (2021: HK$16,532,000) were under such
arrangements of which if the Group ultimately becomes unable
to collect the trade receivables, the Group will be entitled to
receive compensation for the trade receivables from the financial
institution, the bank and the statutory bodly.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

AN IR IEBAFE 4.1000) FT7 @ 5K
ZERFHE A7 AR EE B L RE -
BT - —F+-_A=1+—HItF
B AEBUYENE ZRRFIEFEET
AEAGR - A - AREREEZER
FREBFENEARR  AEBEHEXE
BE—RemEERES —RIBTRES
HOERARERE (—FREERBURSE
fHEXRER R MBS L O ERER
RIRME 2 A TEMRE) - FT &8 (Mm%
& RIS R ARTT RIBE L B AR B A RIRT 32
ET%H) mETEEREPME AR
SENE ZRKFIERME 5 EIFIE
EELTH  c RZE_ZF+H=1+—
B SMEEKESHE(ZE=—F:
16,532,000/ 70) BB Z EKFIBEXZE
BERALTHHRE - Bt - WAEERER
REI D E B RINEUE - AEE A EE
2o RS - RITROATHRBIRERAE
S EWGRIBLA THE(E o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customers
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provisional matrix:

20. EZEWFIE »)

RS B RBBEREETRED
i At EFRBEEER - BEXIE
REFBRUBERANZERF 2 &4
BIRYBIER B BT - &t ERBRKAR
AR - EEREEERNREAH
AN ARAESER - ERRRERR
REARRTDANSIE LI SEER -

AN RAR ARSI ERAAREES
FEUKIRM (EERR A

2022 —E-_F
Past due
al
Less than 3to6 610 12 Over
Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
BB 3z 6%
BN 3f8A 618 A 12188 #EB1F #E
ECL rate HEEEEREX 1% 3% 6% 10% 20%
Gross carryingamount  BREEEE (T
(HK$’000) 33,600 - - 5,730 805 40,135
ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEEE (TAT) 336 - - 573 161 1,070
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

20. EZEWFIE »)

2021 —ES-—F
For the receivables under underwriting arrangement: BABRHERNEWRIE !
Past due
ekl
Less than 3106 6to12 Over
Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TiEh BES ES
BN 31EA 616 A 128 HBB1F Fats)
ECL rate HBHEEERX 0.6% 1.5% 3% 5% 10%
Gross carryingamount  BREAS%E (FAT)

(HK$000) 15,037 1,336 159 - - 16,532
ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEER (TAT) 75 20 5 - - 100
For the receivables not under underwriting arrangement: EABTHENERRIE :

Past due
b

Less than 3106 6to12 Over

Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TR B 6ZE

ENE 3fEA 61& A 1287 #BB1EF k)

ECL rate HEEEEREX 1% 3% 6% 10% 20%

Gross carryingamount  BREEEE (AL

(HK$'000) 9,870 - - - 1604 11,474

ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEEE (TET) 99 - - - 321 420
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

21. BEIREFR

R FE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Non-current JEEPER
Loans receivable FEUE TR - 1,807
Less: impairment loss B OREEE - (4)
- 1,803
Current ENHA
Loans receivable e E TR 137,108 143,913
Interest receivables JrE LRI 8, 11,782 4,998
Less: impairment loss R REEE (50,727) (36,047)
98,163 112,864
98,163 114,667

The Group’s loans and interest receivables, which arose from
the money lending business of providing corporate loans,
personal loans and property mortgage loans in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HK$.

As at 31 December 2022, loans and interest receivables of
carrying amount of HK$73,769,000 (2021: HK$81,420,000)
were unsecured while remaining loans and interest receivables
of carrying amount of HK$24,394,000 (2021: HK$33,247,000)
were secured by charges over certain properties in Hong Kong
and personal properties such as diamonds and jewellery, and
guaranteed by certain independent third parties. The interest
rates on all loans receivable are from 2.3% to 24% (2021: 2.3%
to 30%) per annum and loans receivable are due within 12
months (2021: 24 months) and contain repayment on demand
clause. The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the
reporting date is the carrying value of the loans and interest
receivables mentioned above.

REE R EUEFRRAM BB TTEHE
ELXARERRHEEER  @AAER
EMFZBEFRNERRE XL ©

RZTEZ—F+=ZA=+—H" ' K@
{8 /573,769,000 7 7T B & I & 3 & F)
BEEE (=T = —F 81,420,000
BL) BREERR MHRTEEREAR
24,394,000 7% 7T K & I & 3¢ K I B BR
HE (=T = —4F : 33,247,000/8 7T)
HERETESMEREAYE (NE
E&%%H’E#ﬁﬁﬂ WEBBETEILE
=R - 2HEE RO TR IZE AR
?23%i24%(_?_ F 23%i
30%) s B REWEFMN12@A (=
——F : 24{8R8) REIH - I%kﬁéﬁﬁz
ESREBIEK - Fmiﬁiaﬁ;ﬁmrﬂf
ERKRRE SR ERF SRR
g o
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21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers.
Limits attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management
regularly.

As at the reporting date, the Group reviewed its loans and
interest receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual
and collective basis. The Group recognised impairment loss on
individual assessment based on the accounting policy stated in
note 4.10 (ii) under HKFRS 9.

The Group has measured impairment loss for loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECLs unless there have been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, then the
allowance will be based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
assessed the ECLs on loans and interest receivables based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. As at 31 December 2022, provision
for impairment of approximately HK$42,864,000 (2021:
HK$32,411,000) was made on loans and interest receivables
that were credit-impaired, and provision for impairment of
approximately HK$6,520,000 (2021: HK$1,800,000) was
written-off.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

21. EIWERRAE @

FSNEEA TR EE AT - AEREEHAA
MEEHEREFHEEEERANEE
E% WEFE#R TERANEERR -

LTERANREESHERECHR
ﬂ

RepE HE - AEEZERIFSBELE
R ERRFE - LERARLTEE
ARERRE - AEBERIBEHBHIEHR
S AR QSR IB N RBIEE 4.10(i) AT AY
25 BURIZ @RI h 5 A R EE
18

AEBER12EABBEERBTE
R EFR TSR EEEE  (RIEBRE
ERBELBZERAE LA - HEgig
ERFERBHEEBBRELRE - K
SEENAEEMNBF EEEBERT
HEKER K EMNERERRSE - I
REBABFENATEEEZREERE
me% RZZE—=—F+=A=1+—
H - HEEERENE R &ERF S
E Rl 1B B8 #5 #042,864,00078 7 (—
T —4F 32,411,000/ 7T) © MRE
B 546,520,000 0 (ZF = —F :
1,800,000/ 7T) B TH#fiH o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continues)  21. BIRE R R AR o)

The movements in provision for impairment of loans and interest EWEFR LA ERERENZBHT
receivables are as follows:

2022 2021

ZECCE “E--F
Non credit- Credit- Non credit- Credt-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
Provision for impairment AEERE BEERE AEERE EEERE
measured at 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
12f8A HED HED 12184 i L &S
HERRBNHEL BHCEEE RHCEEE RHCEES | EEESEE RHESERE HHESER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiERn TAL TAL TAL

At beginning of year REA] 899 274 32,41 153 17,856 1800

Transfer to 12 month ECL eBZNERRBEEER - - - 486 (486) -
- non credit-impaired - KEERE

Transfer to Lifetime ECL EYSHENRNEERR (1,253) 1,253 - (22) 2 -
- non credlt-mpaired -REERE

Transfer to Lifetime ECL BYSRENRNEEFR - (344) 344 (102) (13,678) 13780
- credit-impaired -EERE

Charged for the year (note 9) Epuik: (F3t0) 378 4,189 16,629 384 (973) 18631

Written-off s - - (6,520) - - (1,800)

At end of year RER % 7,839 42,864 899 2741 32,411
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying
amount of the loans and interest receivables that explain their

21. EIWERRAE @

TREBEEEFR LA ENRHESHE
23 HEEBEEYEKRES &ﬂﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬂ

significance to the changes in the ECL allowances for loans and EBEBERESHNEZN
interest receivables:
2022 2021
—EoCE —E-F
Non credit- Credit- Non-credit- Credit-
Loans and interest impaired impaired impaired impaired
receivables, gross, measured at 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-monthECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
AEEREN EREEREN | AEEHEN EEERE
EYEHRASKEELEN 12188 R R 12{8R FE8 FES
tEAR BBCERE RHCEFE ROGCEEE | BOGEEE EHRESE RHGEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TEn TR Thn Thn Fihn
Gross carying amount ®—A-A
asat 1 January LERESE 65,287 15,950 69,481 61,831 64,940 1,800
Transfer to 12 month ECL eRZNERRBEEER - - - 9,099 (9,099 -
- non credit-impaired - XEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL EYSHENRNEERR (43,53) 43532 - (9,125) 9,125 -
- non credlt-mpaired - KEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL BYSHENRNEEFR - (1,445) 1,445 (29,226) (40,255) 69,481
- credit-mpaired -ZERE
New loans originated B HRER 13,200 - - 54,100 - -
Repayments B (8,292) (7,212) - (22,928) (4,600) -
Changes in modifcation g - - - - (3,959) =
Written-off i - - (6,520) = = (1,800
Changes in interest receivables  FEUH|E 28 (1,429) 2,034 5,485 153 (202) -
(Gross carrying amount R=A=1+-A
asat 31 December LERESE 25,240 53,759 69,891 65,287 15,950 69,481

In October 2021, the Group and a borrower agreed to
the modification of the terms of certain loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$12,584,000, under which the
modified loans and interest receivables would be reduced to
HK$9,000,000 and settled by instalments with maturity date
extended to 5 November 2022 (the “Modification”).

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

ﬁA:i:_—EH% AEBR—HE

FAREBRE TRKERRF B4
12,584,000 JT B0 1650+ B » &&45
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continuea)

In the opinion of the management, as the Modification resulted
in a significant extension of the maturity date and reduction
of outstanding amount of the relevant loans and interest
receivables. It is a substantial modification and accounted for
as derecognition of the original financial assets. The difference
of approximately HK$3,959,000 between the carrying
amount of the outstanding loans and interest receivables of
HK$12,584,000 prior to the modification and the amount
recognised as new financial assets, being the fair value of the
modified loans, has been recognised in other gains or losses
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The fair value of the
modified loan receivables at the date of the modification was
determined by a firm of independent professional valuer, based
on discounted cash flows method that does not only use data
from observable markets, was approximately HK$8,625,000.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

21.

22.

FEWERRAE @)

EREERE  BRZEREHEIHA
AIEER - HAEKEREFEHR
BESBERLY  WA—EHEXREKRIL
RIREERRBEVBEEAR - 8%
A oK (838 FE W B X & F1) B 12,584,000
BITHRMERERRSNIENGEEE
e (AEERRATE) 2HNERE
#13,959,000 B TEREBEE-_T=-—F
+ A=+ —BIEFEEEMKRESE
BYURER - IWMEXRBE - BBy EE
HEMARRBRASREE (&
FRAREEMISEIER) BENLISE
WEFKAFEL A 8,625,000 7T °

Be - BARREAmER

/8]

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&TT
Non-current FERE
Other receivable E A e IR 400 —
Current T
Prepayments SELNES 9,759 871
Other receivables, gross HE R oaRzE 18,850 5,046
Less: provision for impairment losses & : JR{BEEE (1,918) (1,918)
Other receivables, net H b W OB R 16,932 3,128
Deposits e 2,312 1,535
29,003 5,534
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

22.

23.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits of HK$2,114,000
(2021: HK$1,320,000). Other receivables mainly represent
amounts due from business partners. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, deposits and other receivables of the Group have
no comparable companies with credit ratings can be identified,
hence ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
loss rate applied for deposits and other receivables that are not
credit-impaired, where there are no comparable companies,
was ranging from 3 to 5% (2021: 3 to 5%).

As at 31 December 2022, the provision for impairment of
HK$1,918,000 (2021: HK$1,918,000) was recognised for
deposits and other receivables that were credit-impaired.

22. Z#E ANREEMWER

FE ()

R ETE2EAELR£2,114,000%8 T
(ZZ——% :1,320,00087T) - HAftb
FENGRIE + 2RSS 1ER AR
HeZEZ_FR-ZF-_—F+=A
=+—H AEE®NES REMERK
B EAFAEETRNLERAF -
IEHEESIERAFABERE &
S2EAREBABEEERLSE - AR
1Bk R RRIR A MR R
RAC AR IEA - ML E AR « Al
BRARTEEERENZS REMMRER
FBERBARLRAEIESD (T = —
F:3585%) °

R-ZZE-_—_F+-A=+—H B
B ARERNIZRS kA R UIRIERER
BB E1,918,0008 7T (T ——4F ¢
1,918,000 7T) °

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH ~ 23. A AFEEt B HE BT A
PROFIT OR LOSS ERERNMBEE
2022 2021
—EC-_F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FETT
Listed equity securities held RIEEENER LMRAZ S
for trading in Hong Kong 10,634 15,681
Contingent consideration receivable in & B EHT B A RIA
connection to acquisition AW E (FI7E34)
of subsidiaries (note 34) 2,555 -
13,189 15,681
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  23. LA AF{EFTE HE EEt A

24,

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s listed equity securities
approximately HK$10,634,000 (2021: HK$15,681,000) were
pledged for other borrowings (note 28) of the Group. During
the year, net fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$10,111,000 (2021: HK$2,679,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 39(f).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group included cash at banks
which earn interest at floating rates based on daily deposits
rates.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounting to
approximately HK$40,804,000 (2021: HK$1,062,000) which
were placed with certain banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed
by the PRC government. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through
the banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business. The bank balances are with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

24,

EBRRNVKEE @

R_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 ~5H
B RS AR FE A 47 10,634,000 78 7T (=
T ——14 :15,681,000/870) AAEE
HAbfERAEA (H5E28) - FA -+ A
N EFEBEBT AR BESROTE
BEMAFEEEL10,111,0007% 7T
—T 4 :2,679,000/87T) BERIE

AR -

BT E AR AT ENTE 2515 -
B2HMWEE39() ©

ReRhREEFEHEER

ReMRLZEER BEFARITHR
% ' R EBERFIRZE)F = BRELF]
5 o

R-_ZE-_—_F+—-_A=+—8  &&
BAARKESENRE RIBRTER
#) /40,804,000 7L (—ZF = — 4 :
1,062,000 7T) * FRIFRBBRAAE T
BT - ARBTEEER A BREMER
P BB R EIR NN B AR B BT A S
PE & IS HEAR PR o IRIRRBIA) (HMNEE
ARG K (EEHE - SiERMNESIER
B AEEEAEEBBEETINESE
BRRITEAREHRAHMER - R
TRHBEEEEEBENRITET &
HANI R B HE R 708% o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

£
25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EZ ENFRIE
Credit periods of trade payables normally granted by its HERGTAEEZEZRNRENGEE
suppliers were ranging from 15 to 120 days (2021: 15 to 120 H—MNTF153120Kk (T - —4F :
days). 15E120K) °

Ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting RBEARBEBEEZEHNE ZENK

period based on invoice date is as follows: TEAREC DATIA T
2022 2021
—EC-C—F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
0 to 30 days 0= 30H 8,250 337D
31 to 60 days 312 60H 2,956 6,485
61 to 90 days 61290 H 5,328 303
91 to 180 days 912180 H 888 3,821
Over 180 days @180 H 164 5,140
17,586 19,124

26. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND RECEIPTS 26. FEIRE A - Ht (K=

IN ADVANCE RAEKHE
2022 2021
—E_C =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Accruals TEIRE A
— Accrued staff costs - JEIRE TR 2,433 1,708
— Accrued other operating expenses - BREMEERY 6,260 3,546
Other payables E A ET IR
— Amount due to a related party (note)  — FEf RS 5 538 (P &) 5,510 =
- PRC social security fund - B AR 4,083 3,841
- Others - EAfth 3,788 1,845
Receipts in advance TEU IR - 28
22,074 10,968
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26. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND RECEIPTS 26. FHiEE A

27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

IN ADVANCE (continued)

Note:

As at 31 December 2022, other payables included an amount due to a related
party of approximately HK$5,510,000 (2021: nil) collected from Ms. Tin in
connection with a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) dated 8 December 2022 and entered into between the Group and
Ms. Tin under which the Group has agreed to assign, and Ms. Tin has agreed
to purchase from the Group all of the Group’s legal and beneficial right in certain
loans and interest receivables of the Group at a consideration by way of cash
compensation in total of approximately HK$22,953,000, subject to the passing
of resolution by the shareholders of the Company to approve the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

In the event that the resolution is not passed, the Sale and Purchase Agreement
shall be terminated, all payments received by the Group from Ms. Tin in
connection with the assignment would be refunded without interest to Ms. Tin.
The resolution was passed and the Company obtained the approval from its
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 February 2023.

A - H i e FE
REWFE @)

R-ZBE-_—F+-A=+—H8 " HENZRER
ERAEBEAL LIV ARE T - —F+—
ANBREERS ([BEE ] mmHEZ T UE
—E RN —BE S FIEH 5,510,000 (=ZF
——F  E) - RE% DS ASEREEEMH
Z+REE A £4922,953,000 8 LIRS MET
NIZBREBEAEERE TREERRFEHN
ERRERSER - EAESAARRRBEBERR
ERILEEERRE I BIER -

fHZORBRA BB - EBEHHS TRLE M
AXEIpBERERAAEE X NNAEHEA (K
FAR) BRETHRL - WRBRNRARRE
“EC=F- A N\HETHRREIRS L
BRI R R AL ©

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EHEE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Short-term advances from customers: R HIFER K -
Sale of goods HEEm 893 529
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Balance as at 1 January R—H—HNE&ERF 529 2,551
Decrease in contract liabilities AERTAFVE HES
as a result of recognising revenue WEFRAZHE B ERD
during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (529) (2,551)
Increase in contract liabilities as RIS N EEREFE
a result of billing in advance of [iE=E2 =N Oh=Fr-s: il
manufacturing activities 893 529
Balance at 31 December R+ A=1+—B0&EF 893 529
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

28.

29,

1t =X,
OTHER BORROWINGS 28. H A& 5K
2022 2021
—E-CH —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Non-current FERE
Liability component of convertible ARBREREBHS (FsE37)
notes (note 37) 24,024 -
Current B
Promissory note (note 34) A ERE (H7E34) 4,400 _
Margin loan payable, repayable ERNFFRER - —FAK
within one year or on demand RERER 360 4,057
4,760 4,057
28,784 4,057

As at 31 December 2022, margin loan payable of the Group
was denominated in HK$, carried interest at the prevailing
interest rate of loan prime rate plus 3.00% per annum
and secured by the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$10,634,000 (2021: HK$15,681,000) (note
23).

LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group leases various offices under lease agreements. The
lease agreements are between one to three years (2021: one to
three years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants. Leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

29.

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 ' ~5£H
R FFREFRABITAE - RERER
FIRIBITHRAN3.00% I EFIR:HS
BUAEBEZUATFENEBEFHA
=B R 15 E E 410,634,000 %
TEEE (ZZ2 = —4F : 15,681,000/%8
70) (FizE23) °
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== ==
29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea) 20. HEE @B »
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate MENRERBEENRE SRR o 1§
implicit in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined, AR SETZMNE (BASEHEER
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s —MRIER) - Al AAE AR EER
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the A= - BE R A A BB EIR R
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds T ARG - BRYRIGGISAESR
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use BUCREEEBENEERAMEER
assets in a similar economic environment with similar terms, EMAZTRIFIE o
security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: RETEEERFE  ALH
—  where possible, uses recent third-party financing received -  GEARBERAT  EAMERIAMEA
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to IIESNE=FTME BRI
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party ELAE  URMBEEGE=H
financing was received; B DATR B & (R ey &)
—  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free - FREINE BAREHBEANE
interest rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and ERRARERRTE &
- makes adjustments specific to the lease terms. -  BHEERKETITHAE -
None of the leases contain variable lease payments. MEAEREUEHEENK -
Office Office
premises equipment Total
YN WARRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FAT TAEL
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-_-%-H-H 4,351 624 4,975
Addition NE 3,541 - 3,541
Interest expense FBRAX 200 25 225
Lease payments MERZ (4,584) (260) (4,844)
As at 31 December 2021 R=B--%+=-A=+-H
and 1 January 2022 kR=ZE--%-H-H 3,508 389 3,897
Addition NE 2,183 171 2,354
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) WEaH B A (KizEs4) 374 - 374
Interest expense FEREX 147 13 160
Lease payments HAERZ (3,791) (255) (4,046)
Exchange movement & i & (66) - (66)
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Zf+=A=1+-H 2,355 318 2,673
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

== ==
29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea) 20. HEE @B »

The present values of future lease payments as at the reporting RIREEMNF R WS HIRE DT I

dates are analysed as: T
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Current liabilities mEBE 1,481 2,965
Non-current liabilities FERBAEE 1,192 932
2,673 3,897
2022 2021
—EC-C—F =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Short-term lease expense CHHEZA 667 759

Aggregate undiscounted e EAME E R ARG AR B

commitments for short-term leases - 667
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEAERE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as FRECEHIEEERBBEZEHNAT -
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEBIEE E

Impairment of
trade receivables
and loans receivables

B 5 EWEE
REWERHRE
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—F—H—H 599
Exchange realignment bE H AR 37)
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-—-F+=A=+—8H
and 1 January 2022 E—ZE-_—_%—H—H 562
Exchange realignment bE 8B ®)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—F+=-HA=+—H 554
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried RIER IR A B TR IBE P B R Pl BEEE AR HY
forwards to the extent that realisation of the related tax AR FE R T & 2R R 4B A B TE U 2 e
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at BIRIEEEAEMER RN TF
31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of +=—A=+—8 ' AEENREFHAHRIEAE
approximately HK$86,210,000 (2021: HK$81,300,000) available 518 4 586,210,000/ 7T (=T = —
to offset against future taxable profits of the companies that £ : 81,300,000/ 7T) + Al A{EEE 4
incurred these losses, in which no deferred tax assets were ZEBBZ ARIRRERTR MK -
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as H A\ Er G B RS AR R FE SRR RS
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available HEE - AR T KA IR a] AR
against which the above item can be utilised. LA_ET8 B R FERBLm A ©
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30.

31.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding income tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. A lower
withholding income tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The applicable rate for the Group is 5% (2021: 5%). In
estimating the withholding income taxes on dividends expected
to be distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008, the
directors have made an assessment based on the factors which
included the dividend policy and the level of capital and working
capital required for the Group’s operations in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2022, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised amounted to
approximately HK$1,590,000 (2021 HK$1,903,000)

30.

ERERIE ()

BEPECEMEE B2 N\F
—A—H#- #HMTJ%/&ETE%B%HXZ
S 1 T 3 IR B9 % BB TR 0B © fiw AR
Bl EaNEIR EE A AR A B R IE
#) - BIRTeE B MEERTBINFTS I o A&
BEEAME RSN (T —F : 5%) °
b ETZERF R AN BARITE
— T N\F-A—BREARFAE
BB ZEMAMERE E5E
ERBERE Bzﬁ&ﬂsﬁlﬁf“ﬁ“f
ERARRFEESREEENKESE
AxEHFH R_TE=_—_F+=-A
=+—H8 BETEHBRRMNRDIK
wmA (MARBERELEHIBAE) YR
ZREA#91,590,0008 T (ZF=—%F :
1,903,000 7T) °

SHARE CAPITAL 31. IR
Number of Nominal
ordinary value
shares at of ordinary
HK$0.01 each shares
BREEO0.01ET
EBERYE ERREAE
HK$’000
THAT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2021, and KRB —F—H—AUK
31 December 2021 and 2022 —ECFRZE_C
+=ZHA=1+—8H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE
At 1 January 2021 and RZZEZ—F—-—H—-HK
31 December 2021 —E_-F%+-A=t—H 1,690,000,000 16,900
Issuance of shares in respect of FRERATMRESRETRD (FE37)
conversion of convertible bonds (note 37) 113,636,359 1,136
Issuance of shares in respect FRUEEM B A R 1TR (FIFES4)
of acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) 180,000,000 1,800
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_#F+—-HF=+—H 1,983,636,359 19,836
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32. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

(c)

Share premium

The share premium account represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued, net of share issue costs.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company.

Statutory reserve

According to the relevant PRC laws, the subsidiaries
established in the PRC are required to transfer at least
10% of its net profit after tax, as determined under the
PRC accounting regulation, to a statutory reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries
registered capital. The transfer of this reserve must be
made before the distribution of dividend to the subsidiaries
equity owners. The statutory reserve is non-distributable
other than upon the liquidation of the subsidiaries.

(@)

(b)

(c)

32. f&iE

Egripesi-t

R 5 (B AR 48 B W P 1S TR B
ARAREHETRPEE (AR
MNEITER) T -

BOHRE

AEEHE HEREARARE
AEEETEEMBREBEHREB LR
FBAE AR R B #EITRD
E{EZ FERZ5E o

B IE e

RIEAEEFBER - ERBIKL
WHBARIBE VG ERRELMD
FE10% (RIFR RS ETHABIE
E) BAETEHE BEEFHES
BRI DB A R FE & AN H) 50%
Bl - ZREBEHNERBERNE
NEIRERE AP IR S ZBIE
o BRISBARNEEIN - KR
BB DIK ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

32. RESERVES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to directors, employees and
consultants of the Group recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-
based payments in note 4.20 to the consolidated financial
statement.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.5.

Convertible bonds equity reserve

Amount represents portion of proceeds on issue of
convertible bonds relating to the equity component (i.e.
option to convert the debt into share capital).

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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ARy RERE M E R AR T
AEBES BB KM ZARIT
EREEEERKEEE 2AF
B RIFLHZRAMBHRERME4.20
AR RS B LA IR 10 B E R B S A
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BE#EE

BMEFEBEREREEINNEAT
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33. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 33. mEHRERERNE
CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as RESEFELENBELHELT
follows:

Lease Other
liabilities borrowings

HEAE HAb &R

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FH&T
At 1 January 2021 R=ZF=—F—HF—H 4,975 -
Changes from cash flows: RenEs
Proceeds from borrowing BERATS R = 4,067
Interest paid ERFLE (225) (141)
Repayment of principal portion BEEHEEELS
of lease liabilities (4,619) -
(4,844) 3,916
Other changes: Efth & &) -
Addition in lease liabilities HE8EEM 3,541 -
Interest expenses FERX 225 141
At 31 December 2021 R=ZB=Z—+=ZRA=+—8
and 1 January 2022 E=E2-—_%—H—H 3,897 4,057
Changes from cash flows: Rens¥
Proceeds from issuance of ﬂTT?@Hxﬁ%‘?Fﬁ (EEQE]
convertible bonds - 50,000
Interest paid BEAFLE (160) (137)
Repayment of other borrowings BEHA B - (3,697)
Repayment of principal portion EEHERELE
of lease liabilities (3,886) -
(4,046) 46,166
Other changes: Efth &g -
Addition in lease liabilities Tﬂffﬁéﬁi‘j}ﬂ 2,354 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries gl D) 7=N 374 -
Interest expenses B 160 3,831
Amount classified as equity component 78 &R 2515 B 78 - (18,800)
Conversion of convertible bonds @A RES - (10,870)
Issuance of promissory note BITEAERE - 4,400
Exchange movement b 3 & &) (66) -
At 31 December 2022 R=-ZB--F+=HA=+—8H 2,673 28,784
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital of Dreamtoys Inc (the “Acquisition”).
Dreamtoys Inc and its subsidiaries are principally in the sale of
trendy cultural products in the PRC. The total consideration
of the Acquisition is HK$44,000,000, which would be settled
by way of issuance of 1) promissory note in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$4,400,000 (note 28); 2) 120,000,000
consideration shares of the Company; and 3) 60,000,000
consideration shares of the Company subject to Escrow
arrangement, under which the vendor of Dreamtoys Inc
would guarantee and undertake that the net profit after tax of
Dreamtoys Inc for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Profit
Guarantee Period”) should not be less than RMB3,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,430,000) (the “Guaranteed
Profit”).

If the Guaranteed Profit is not achieved by Dreamtoys Inc,
amount of consideration shares subject to Escrow arrangement
to be released to the vendor shall be adjusted downwards.

Dreamtoys Inc failed to achieve the Guaranteed Profits for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and the Group has
exercised the right to extend the Profit Guarantee Period to
the year ending 31 December 2023 and the net profit after
tax of Dreamtoys Inc for the two years ending 31 December
2023 shall not be less than RMB7,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,860,000).
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34. WEBFIE 1 F

RZZEZZF+A+HB - NEETK
15 & Dreamtoys Inc. 892 2F 0 38 1T IR
([WeBE=E=1E]) - Dreamtoys Inc. & E
BRAREERNFRYEHE RN ULE
o Y B = TR &Y 48 KX (B /% 44,000,000
BT WABBI T ARNEE ()&
< #2%E 4,400,000 7 7T By & 5 =45 (B
7£28) : ()4~ A 7]120,000,000 f%
B &@B)Z& 2 760,000,000 &
REBD (ZEELTHEMR - Bt
Dreamtoys Inc 8 & 75 15 (R 38 M A 7 &L
ZECFTFFTA=T—HLFE
([H AR EA ) Dreamtoys Inc. BT+ 1&
FE A G P A R ¥ 3,600,000 7T (48
2 1 %74,430,00078 7T ) (TR F & 1) °

i) Dreamtoys Inc 7K 88 3Z BUR B m ) -
ATHAMESETHREBRNEE (B
RANEERHE)

BHE_T__F#+_-_A=+—8"
Dreamtoys Inc 7K 88 3 BUR & & A1) + A
SEETEHRNREREREEES
T =F+A=+—HILEFEMNE
A » M Dreamtoys IncE & — L~ =4
+ZA=+—HIEMEFERBRTELL
Mg~ R AR 7,200,000 7T (HHE
F#98,860,000/87T) °
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34. WHEKB A 8] @)

EMNFERAENEELRAE  BERK
EREHENRFEFBWT

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of the preliminary fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities, purchase consideration and goodwill recognised are

as follows:

Fair value
ATE
HK$’'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB NS 285
Right-of-use assets EREEE 363
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREHEEE 577
Trade receivables B Z FEWIE 27
Deposits, prepayments and Be - AR E M EKEIE
other receivables 1,965
Inventory FE 433
Trade payables B S ERFIE (229)
Accruals, other payables and receipts ~ TEIRE A « Efh e 0B K FEWGIE
in advance (428)
Lease liabilities HEAE (374)
Fair value of net assets RASERENEEFENATE
acquired by the Group 2,619
Purchase consideration: BERE:
— settled by promissory note - AN EBREN 4,400
— settled by 180,000,000 new shares  — F3Z~A &) 180,000,000 A& A% 17 4515
of the Company 42,120
Total consideration BRE 46,520
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired & : PR EE EFEN A FE (2,619)
Less: Contingent consideration W AREWARAE
receivable (2,555)
Goodwill EE 41,346
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as
follows:

34. WHEKB A 8] @)

WEEBERSARITWT

HK$’'000

FAT

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FruiEIR € MRS EEEE 577
Net cash inflows REMAFEE 577

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$463,000 are
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year, within the
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Goodwill arose in the Acquisition because the cost of the
combination included a control premium. In addition, the
consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do
not meet the recognition criteria for the identifiable assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the Acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

Dreamtoys Inc and its subsidiaries contributed total revenue of
HK$1,652,000 and contributed net loss of HK$1,652,000 to
the Group from its acquisition date during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Had the Acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022,
revenue for the current year of the Group would have been
approximately of HK$91,480,000, and loss for the current
year of the Group would have been approximately of
HK$60,492,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the Acquisition been completed on
1 January 2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, there is no material related
party transactions occurred during the year.

The Group defines directors as key management personnel and
their remuneration are set out in note 10(a).

34.

35.

WESHT B D | (@)

RZE-_—F+_A=+—HLFE
A - Dreamtoys Inc & E M & A & 8 Y
I8 B e A A& B R A U A 1,652,000
77T R B HEF 88 1,652,000 87T ©

WKEEER T -_—_F—HA—H%
B AEERAFEEHBRAZEALD
91,480,000 7T * MA K EARFEH
B8 18 5 #760,492,00058 7T © #HE &
FHEM SR - WA RARKESER
—E - —F—A—HEREAEEER
BRI ATLL EE - IIEEETEA
RIRGER o

BB A RS

BRERAMBRREMBOFLRIRS
SN FRIWEETERBEB TR S -

AEBEREERELATIREEAE M
TEEEASNHFIHENHE100) -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2021, 60,000,000 options were granted by
the Company under its share option scheme adopted on
22 November 2013 to its directors, certain employees of the
Group and a consultant of the Company for their contributions
to the Group to acquire shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.155 per share with an exercise period from
8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 (“2021 Options”).
The estimated fair value of these options granted was
HK$3,741,000. During the year ended 31 December 2021, all
of these options were vested and exercisable upon the grant of
the share options.

On 19 April 2022, 87,100,000 options were granted by the
Company under its share option scheme adopted on 22
November 2013 to its director, certain employees of the Group,
a consultant and a service provider for their contributions to the
Group to subscribe for shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.278 per share with an exercise period from
19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 (2022 Options”). During the
year ended 31 December 2022, all of these were vested and
exercisable upon the grant of the share options.
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36. fBIAERT &

KRARREBER=ZZ—=F1+—A
T AR ERERTEImEESE
AEEETE 8 REME 160,000,000
MiERE  RERSHAEEELNER
B KBRS - (TEEAER
0.155%7T - ﬁﬁ%%—“:—¢+—
ANBZZZE-_"F+_A+tHI=
_—E%kﬁjﬁﬁﬁmaﬁﬁh%
HfE st A FE 3,741,000 7T « RE]
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuec) 36. IBIRfEEHEl @)
Details of movement of the options during the year end 31  ZE_T - —FF+A=+—HILFE
December 2022 are as follows: BRI BB T ¢
Number of share options
ERERE
Weighted Qutstanding at Lapsed Outstanding at
average 1 January Granted Exercised cancelled 31 December
Date of grant exercise price Exercise period 2022 during the year during the year during the year 2022
ke et 3
-B-# RERKR/  t2A=1-B
RLRE  METHARE fikd AR HERRH HERTE i AR
Director
(1
LiYang (note) 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
25 (k) ZI2-512AR 055ET  ZE=-Ff-ANREZEAETZALA
Tin Yat Yu Carol 8 December 2021 HK$0.165 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - = 16,900,000
B Z2-E12RNA 0i85ET  ZR--FTZANREZEAETIALA
Cheung Ka Lung 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 Decerber 2021 to 7 December 2026 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
R5E “I-512f)R 01T ZB--ET-ANBEZEAETZALA
Chan Ming Leung Terence 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 Decerber 2021 to 7 December 2026 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
R I-EAN 0i85%T  ZR--FTZANREZEAETIALA
(Gong Xiaohan 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 Decerber 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
L5 I-512f)R 0185%T  ZR--FTZANREZEAETIALA
Tang Shu Pui Smon 8 December 2021 HK$0.165 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000000 - - - 1,000000
Hills Z2-E12ANR 016587 “EZ-ETZANREZRETZACA
Hon Ming Sang 8 Decemoer 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
B I-512f)A 055ET  ZE--ET-ANRE-EET-ALR
LoWing Sze 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
B I2-%12A)A 0558 —E--ET-ANRE-EET-ALR
Chan Ming Leung Terence 19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 o 18 Aprl 2027 - 15,900,000 - - 15,900,000
R ZEZZFRATAA 028%T  —E=ZERATARE-EtERATNR
Employes 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 2,300,000 - - (50,000) 2,260,000
= -5 0168 —E--E+-fNBE-SAET=AtA
19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 o 18 Aprl 2027 - 35,400,000 - (1,050,000 34,350,000
Z2ZZEMATAR 0887 EZZEMATAREZELERATA
Consufant 19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 o 18 Aprl 2027 - 17,900,000 - - 18,150,000
ER ZSCZEmATAR 0281 ZEZZEMATABEZFHERATA
Senice provider 19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 to 18 Aprl 2027 - 17,900,000 - - 17,900,000
Ris et ZEITERATAA 028 —EZZERATABEZStEMAT/A
Totd 60,000,000 87,100,000 - (1,100,000) (146,000,000)
&

Annual Report 2022 iy 215



216

FH-A=t—HILFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of movement of the options during the year ended 31
December 2021 are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E#EZ —ZF— —

36. lBRRRERTEl @)

RBE-_T-_—F+-_A=1+—HLLF
2 BIRENEFFFMT

Number of share options
BREYE
Weighted Outstanding at Lapsed  Outstanding at
average 1 January Granted Exercised cancelled 31 December
Date of grant  exercise price Exercise period 2021 duringtheyear  duringthe year  during the year 2021
RZB=-% R=B=-F
-B-R MERKY/ TZR=t-B
RUAE METHIRE i HATE REREL RERTRE i HATTE
Directors
EE
TIN Yat Yu Carol 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
B4 ZZZ-F+ZA)A 0.16587C ZZ--5tZA\BE
22 ETZALA
CHEUNG Ka Lung 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
FRE ZZ=-#+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--5+ZA\BE
22 ETZALA
CHAN Ming Leung 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
Terence ZZ-#+ZANR 015587 ZZ--5+ZA\BE
s ZENETZAtA
GONG Xiaohan 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
BER ZZ-#+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--5+ZA\BE
22 ETZALA
TANG Shu Pui Simon 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
MR ZZ-#+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--5+ZA\BE
22 ETZALA
HON Ming Sang 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Bt ZZ-#+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--5+ZA\BE
22 ETZALA
L0 Wing Sze 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Bkt ZZZ-F+ZA)A 0.16587C ZZ--5+ZA\BE
22 ETZALA
Employees 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,300,000 - - 2,300,000
(€8 ZZ=-#+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--5tZfA\BE
T2 ETZALA
Consultant (note) 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 Deoember 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
B () ZZ=-%+ZANR 0.16587C ZZ--#tZA\BE
22 ETZALA
- 60,000,000 - - 60,000,000
Note: 16,900,000 options were granted to Mr. Li Yang who was a consultant on Mz ERBEM A FBEEEE R E B EBER

the date grant. Mr. Li Yang was subsequently appointed as an executive
director and Chairman of the Company with effect from 19 January 2022.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited R #3122 A& 5 BR A

16,900,00017 g ik # - T L £ BERE
BEZEEARRATEERER B=F
——F—RAthBER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 36. fBlxHERHE (2

The Company used Binominal option pricing model to estimate
the fair value of the options at respective date of grant using the
following assumptions:

ARFRAN T BB
PR A T (s o AR & 14 AR
AT

2022 Options | 2021 Options
—EC-CF T
B B

Weighted average share price I B ARy it AR E
at grant date

Weighted average exercise price INFEFIHTTEE

Average expected volatility TREIF R R

Expected dividend rate TRERE X

Risk-free interest rate A B ) 2

0.278 BT 0.15578 7T

HK$0.278 HK$0.155
94.0% 91.1%
Nil £ Nil £
2.5% 1.2%

The volatility was made reference to the Company’s historical
stock price movement in Bloomberg.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share-based
payment expense of HK$8,638,000 (2021: HK$3,741,000)
have been charged to profit or loss.

KIRTI2E T AR R EZEESE RE

8 -

BHE-_T-_—_F#+=-H=+—8H
LEFEE UBRHAERN N KF
%8,638,000% L ( = T = — -
3,741,000%7T) ERERHIER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

37. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 37. AIRES

The Company issued convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$35,000,000 to the bond holders on 6
January 2022. These convertible bonds are denominated in
HK$. The convertible bonds bear interest at 2% per annum and
will mature on the third anniversary of the date of the issue at
their principal amount or can be converted into ordinary shares
of the Company at the holder’s option at a conversion price of
HK$0.1496 per share at any time up to the maturity date of the
convertible bond.

On 15 August 2022, the Company issued convertible bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 to the
bond holders. The convertible bonds are denominated in HK$.
These convertible bonds bear interest at 10% per annum and
will mature on the second anniversary of the date of the issue at
their principal amount or can be converted into ordinary shares
of the Company at the holder’s option at a conversion price of
HKS$0.25 per share at any time up to the maturity date of the
convertible bond.

The fair values of the liability component was determined at the
issuance of the convertible bonds, and was calculated using a
market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bonds.
The residual amount, representing the value of the equity
conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity.

The movements of the convertible bonds are set out below:

RATR B —F— ANBBESE
B ANEETTA & 2% 35,000,000 TT Y
AR ES - ZETRBRESF BT
FHE - ZEABRBRESFUFEFE 2%
B W7 B R E = ERFE
HASREE - SrliRFA AEERA
BAESEIE A AT R IR R E S
f80.1496 BB AR A FEBR

R-Z-_—FN\A+HA ARQAR[E
FHA ANFEITA S % 15,000,000
T AR ES - ZF AR ES A
BICEME © 5% AR E FH A F R XK
10% 5T 8 WHREITHHRFTE =
EBRFREANSEIE - KRB EA
BRI AT RN E 2 B AT A B R R
BB EA0.258 TR AR QAT
AR o

BEMONAFERETRIRRESR
BE - WEAFENBBIESNTS
MERFHE - Rr e (FBEagBRiDs
MEME) FT AR

ARRESZBEIIT

Liability Equity
component component Total
aE&Rs Enis iR
HK$’000 HIK$’000 HK$’000
FHAT FAT FAT
Issuance of convertible bonds BT IR E S 31,200 18,800 50,000
Interest expense (note 8) FERY (FizES) 3,694 = 3,694
Conversion into ordinary shares &4 & @A% (10,870) (6,314) (17,184)

As at 31 December 2022 R=-T=Z

+=-A=+-—AH 24,024 12,486 36,510
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

38. ST ESE

RS HAREESR TARRNREE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Financial assets BEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL AAFEEEB S A
EHBENIBEE 13,189 15,681
Financial assets at amortised cost BB K AT ENI S EE
— Trade receivables - B EWGOE 39,065 27,486
— Loans and interest receivables - BWEREFA 98,163 114,667
— Deposits and other receivables - k& REMEWFRIE 19,644 4,663
— Cash and cash equivalents -ReKReFHEIRE 52,012 15,348
222,073 177,845
Financial liabilities Bk aE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HHEK AT ENT K EE
— Trade payables - B S ENHIE 17,586 19,124
- Accruals and other payables - FRIRE A R H IR 22,074 10,940
— Other borrowings - EfbfEmx 28,784 4,057
— Lease liabilities -HEaE 2,673 3,897
71,117 38,018
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in
its investment activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s
headquarters, in close co-operation with the board of directors.
The overall objectives in managing financial risks focus on
securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimising its exposure to financial markets.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposures to currency risk arise mainly from its
overseas sale transactions and settlement of its overseas
purchases, both of which are primarily denominated in
United States Dollars (“US$”) and RMB respectively. These
are not the functional currencies of the Group entities
to which these transactions relate. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

39, B EMRER R AT
==}

AEBRAEREERBBET MRETD
REMAER TAMASPERER © B
RBEm SRR (2ENERER - 7
K RERER) EERRRRE
Bk -

AEENTBRREREEZSREE
ETERAEBEE A - SRR ERE
BEAEEEINRLESRTISRER
NERAEENEHEPHRERE -

(a) SRR

SRR IE SR T AR A TFES
RS MEEINEE R E B M
AN N SR Y e
TEXRBEBINHER S REN
BHONBE BORIEFEUET
(IErx)) BPARKEE - 25 &
BXHERHF RN AEEE B

MEEER - REBWEFEMRITE
SRT A PEINERR -
SEE e RIMNERE - A5
MNEFERE B IHERINE R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Summary of exposure

As at the reporting dates, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities, are as follows:

39. K EREER A FE

=9 e
= (&)

()

INEE LR ()
BB B

R¥mEH NEBAINE (IS
SEERNDEEEIINER)
AAENMHEEMAERNREE
LI

Financial Financial
assets liabilities Total
MBEE MBaE et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THERT THERT
As at 31 December 2022 S
+=ZBA=+—H
RMB AR 679 - 679
uss$ ETT 5,467 (483) 4,984
As at 31 December 2021 R-T——4F
+—A=+—H
RVB AR 14 (55) (41)
USs$ ETT 20,948 (2,3086) 18,642
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

Since HK$ is pegged to USS$, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in HK$/US$ exchange rate. The
following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss
after tax for the year and equity in regard to a 3% change
in RMB exchange rate. The rate is used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s best assessment
of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk at the reporting date has been determined
based on the assumed percentage changes in foreign
currency exchange rates taking place at the beginning
of the financial year with all other variables held constant
throughout the year. A positive number in the sensitivity
analysis below indicates a decrease in loss after tax where
HK$ strengthens against RMB. For a weakening of the
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on loss after tax, and the balances below would be
negative.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) E #®)
(a) Foreign currency risk continued) (a) e B ()
Foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis EXHRBEDN

MRB T EE T - ANEETE
HETHRTHNER TS RA(E
MEXES TREEAEEDN
FABRBEREBRANERRLARE
ERZEAEIDHEBHNGRE - E
KRR EREREABERER
TINERBRERE  REEEY
PE R R RE ) 2 R IEMAEL ©

RE B e B AT S N
2 BURE DT IO RN [ &
BB E L B F R F A R 2
ERMBHMEENEEFEA
BT EMETE - TXHEESD
TP B IEBUE R R T AR ES
Eog - AIRRRERRD - L8
TRARBESME - HEHEHIEK
EERSEEFRLERNTZE -
m NS RRE o

Effect on loss after tax

If HK$ strengthens against RMB 2078 7T 5 A REFHE
If HK$ weakens against RMB WMBTEARERE

RERER2TE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
- 9
- ()
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. M EREER A FER

=9 e
= (&)

(b) == [ B

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of the changes in market interest rates. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s
bank balances and other borrowings which were bearing
floating interest rate (notes 24 and 28). The Group has
not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. The policies to manage interest rate risk which

MERBIReRIANRATE
IR &= AT 5 R
RE B - AEERESR
SN EREREEEREAEEHIR
17417 K E At f8 SRR B 75 % B
= (fisE24 K 28) o ANE&E B I K
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiliﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂwﬂ

c AEEBEBRAFEERA—E

have been followed by the Group since prior years are ”:ﬁﬂ?ﬂ 2R - BRABUR
considered to be effective. WRBB
Interest rate sensitivity analysis TR RRE D7

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss after tax for the year
and equity, with effect from the beginning of the years.
These changes are considered to be reasonably possible
based on observation of current market conditions. The
calculations are based on the Group’s floating rate other
borrowings held at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis has been prepared assuming these financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. There is no impact
on other components of combined equity in response to
the possible change in interest rates.

TRITEREEMEEEITT
mZIET AEE 2 FERFT
BHEBERESHNZEF
iﬂZAET%ﬂ$&EZﬂ@
B - ZFEEHHEBRERITHNR
BRABEMRELE - SAETIR
ﬁﬁglﬂﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁZg
BEMETEST - 2T I REN
BEMRAARTEZZFERT
AEREFHEITEMRER - FI R
Z I RE B H A f et 2 E A AL
DAEZE -

Increase/(decrease)
in loss after tax
BRELZEEEM S GRL)
2022 2021
—EC-C—F %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Increase by 50 basis points H#HN 50 EE 2, 254 23
Decrease by 50 basis points B 50 EE 2L (254) (23)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. MKEREER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) B

(c) Equity price risk (c) RERR

The Group’s listed equity investments are susceptible to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities. The Group manages
the equity price risk through diversification and by placing
limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports
on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior
management on a regular basis. The Group’s Board of
Directors reviews and approves all equity investment
decisions.

At the reporting date, the exposure to equity investments
at fair value listed on the The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited was HK$10,634,000.(2021:
HK$15,681,000) Given that the changes in fair values
of the equity investments held are strongly positively
correlated with changes of the HKEX market index, the
Group has determined that an increase/(decrease) of
10% on the HKEX market index could have an impact
of approximately HK$1,063,000, (2021: HK$1,568,000)
increase/(decrease) on the income and equity attributable
to the Group.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

AEER ETRERERKRESE
FAREBETEEMTE M
BYUAAEMSERERRR - A&
FE 8% AL LA K EHE B & 2 H
T AR ERSIAEERER
B WEHRASESHRERE
RXBEREHERE - A5E
ESSERUIEMERERE
RER o

RBEBH  REBEERZH
ERAR LWEAFETEN
B% #E % & B B A& 10,634,0007%8
7t (ZZF = —4F : 15,681,000/8
JL) ° %H@Fﬂ%ﬁﬁ%#ﬁ%m“$
BEEFEEEIFMIGIERE
B AREIERMBEBEIE - K%l
BEBER TS ER LA
(TBR)10% AT e @ EE A KB B
HWRAREZRIE M (ORkD) &
1,063,000 T (Z T = — F:
1,568,000/87T) HISZE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. MKEREER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continueq) B

(d) S5 REEFEBER

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk mainly arises from trade receivables, loans and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposit and cash and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets
except for certain trade receivables under underwriting
agreement, and except that the credit risks associated
with certain loans and interest receivables is mitigated
because they are secured over collaterals. There is no
significant changes in the quality of collaterals as a result
of deterioration or changes in the collateral policies of the
entity during both reporting periods.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed
and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is based on the
Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

For financial assets at amortised cost, the exposures
to credit risk are monitored such that any outstanding
debtors are reviewed and followed up on an ongoing
basis. The Group continuously monitors defaults of
customers and other counterparties, identified either
individually or by group, and incorporate this information
into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal
only with creditworthy counterparties.

EERRESRTIAZHF IR
EERERTAZERETER
T TERAKESFEHEEE
ZRR  REBEAXNEEHR
SEBRAEHEWFA - B
EREF B - 11E M H e WK
H - DEBRTEREREAK

BEEABNEERRIFEEM
ERmREREMERRENE
It HEEHERENNETES
FEMCRIRBR S - DA R B35 T R UK
EREAMBEBNEERRRE
1K JThm R E AR R EEA -
RAERSHE  SEEAERE
BB E BB BT R
MERBHLEEAES) -

REAREREEERR K&
B HEREREERRER -
RIS B Z QAR SR K E R
ATARETT O - ERMRERTD
REASEEENR HirH
T2EFPREMER AETH
o REBFEE AR R R
RERZHFHNERTE L
FTER R 5 BEERIZER S
HFEETHEY

IRBHR AT ENMBEEM
5 AEEEHAAZOHEERR
ETER X TE R MREE
MAREEER AKERHEER
ERXRFRETF REMHFT 2
HRER  YRNEERREET
FPARER c AEBEZHRAE
BEBRFCHFIETRS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

AEEE PR

Description
388

39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
= (&)

(d) S5 REEFEBERG

(%)

AEE B AN EERRFTRIER
BIEATER :

Basis for recognising ECL

BARMFEBRNEE

Low risk

KR

Special mention

Doubtful

AJ &E

Loss

B8

Write-off

s

The counterparty has a low risk of default

and does not have any past-due amounts

RHHEFHNENRBRERIE
B I BB HIR

The counterparty has been experiencing
difficulties which may threaten
the Group " s position. Ultimate loss is
not expected at this stage but could
occur if adverse conditions persist.

RSHFHBRHER ARk
REEHMAL o FEFTHAIBKR
FESEPE BRI A& A - s AR
FETAE - AR g B ARKRIBR o

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed internally
or external resources

B RAEBISIMDE IR E R ERME
SR B R AR E LN

There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired
ERBRTNAEEECRLAEERE

There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

BRBETERABARENIFREE
REBETRR/BREAKEAEBRE
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12-month ECL

128 AFRHEEER

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

FEEREE RS
- WARBAEEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

FREEREEEE
- BRLEEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

FERRHEEER
- DRAREERE

Amount is written off

WA
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

39. K EREER A FE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) E (#)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TERHFRAEEUNBEENE
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL ER (BETEHAEFEEEET
assessment: &)
Internal 12-month Gross carrying
Notes  credit rating or lifetime ECL amounts
1218 A7 &
Mz  ARBEETR AHEEER REASHE
2022 2021
—EBC-F | ZE=—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Trade receivables 20 N/A (note) Lifetime ECL 40,135 28,006
(provision matrix)
B S RIRIE TER (M) HFENESREEEE
(B )
Loans and interest 21 LLow risk 12-month ECL 25,240 65,287
receivables Special mention  Lifetime ECL 53,579 15,950
Loss Lifetime ECL 69,891 69,481
FEE SR FI & VN 12{A ATEHIEEEE
M FEHESREEER
B FEREHEEER
Deposits and other 22 Low risk 12-month ECL 21,562 6.581
receivables Loss Lifetime ECL
e REM YR IA VEN 128 AEHEEEE
BB FREEHEEES
Cash and cash equivalents 24 Low risk 12-month ECL 52,012 15,348
BehFHeEEER VN 128 AEEEEEE
Note: For trade receivables from sales of apparels, the Group has applied Mt BURAMSEE 2B HENFEMS -
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance AEERERBE AV BREERE9

at lifetime ECL.

SR AT EFERRAERRS
B2 EERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

As set out in Note 4.10 (ii), the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provisional matrix, grouped by past due
status. The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its sales of apparels
because these customers consist of a large number
of customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables from sales of
goods of HK$40,135,000 (2021: HK$28,006,000) were
assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL.
The Group’s trade receivable were not credit-impaired as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)
Trade receivables B 5 ERRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S RWRIE (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, provision for
ECL on trade receivables of HK$550,000 (2021: reversal
of HK$125,000) was recognised in the profit or loss for the
year.

Loans and interest receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECL, excepted for one
loan and interest receivable which was past due for one
year and credit-impaired, lifetime ECL was based on for
ECL assessment.

The credit risk on certain loans and interest receivables are
limited because certain loans receivable are pledged with
the properties units in Hong Kong, personal assets of the
borrowers and guaranteed by certain independent third
parties. The directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly change for the 12 months
after the reporting date.

HE_T-_—_F+=-HA=+—H
IHFE - BSRWIENTESE
B & 18 & #5550,000/8 T(Z= &
——% : $#[61125,000/87T) B R
FANEBRER -
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EBH—FREEREZEKRE
REMERSI  FEAEHAEE
EBEDENAMEEBENGE
o

ETREEREFE ZEERR
BAER - TIRRNETRKER
AEBEBMEET - BRANEA
BERETEBYE=T7FHNE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract between the
Group and a counterparty may result in a change to the
contractual cash flows without resulting in derecognition
of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities included extended payment
term arrangements, repayment schedule modifications
and changes to the interest settlement method. The risk
of default of such assets after modification is assessed at
the reporting date and compared with the risk under the
original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is
not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset and the book value of the financial asset
is recalculated and the related gain or loss is included in
current profit or loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present value
of the contractual cash flows following the renegotiation
or modification, as calculated using the original effective
interest rate of the financial asset.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL of deposits and other receivables. For
those balances expected to have significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group applies
lifetime ECL based on aging for classes with different
credit risk characteristics and exposures.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Cash and cash equivalents BHe&NBEELZEER

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the
Group considers the credit risk to be insignificant.

Concentration of credit risk

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on:

° Trade receivables
° Loans and interest receivables

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty and by geographical region. The Group had
certain concentrations of credit risks as 80% (2021: 52%)
of total trade receivables are due from five of its largest
external customers and 36% (2021: 36%) of total loans
and interest receivables are due from five of its largest
external borrowers as at 31 December 2022. The directors
carry a periodic review on the creditworthiness on these
customers and consider the exposure to such credit risk is
minimal. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
loans and interest receivables are disclosed in notes 20
and 21 to the financial statements respectively.

Other than above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since
prior years and are considered to have been effective in
limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable
level.

RITEFNEERRIFEER
RARR Y F 19 SHBERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

The Group employs a range of policies and practices
to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is
accepting collateral for certain loans granted. The Group
has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes
of collaterals or credit risk mitigation.

The Group prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained
as part of the loan origination process. This assessment
is reviewed periodically. The principal collateral types for
loans and interest receivables are:

- Real estate, including residential and commercial
properties; and

- Personal assets, including but not limited to
diamonds and jewellery.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have
not significantly changed during the reporting year and
there has been no significant change in the overall quality
of the collateral held by the Group since prior years.
The Group also focuses on ascertaining legal ownership
and the valuation of the real estate collaterals. A loan
granted is based on the value of the collaterals, which is
generally lower than the estimated value of the real estate
collaterals. The Group monitors the value of the real estate
collaterals throughout the loan period.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(e)

(Continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancement (Continued)

In addition to collateral-backed loans, the Group also
granted unsecured loans to customers. The Group
evaluates the credit status of individual customers,
including the customers’ business performance, financial
information, repayment ability, as well as industrial outlook
in which the customers operate.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial instruments, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.

39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
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(e) Liquidity risk (continued)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. K EREER A FE

=9 e
= (&)

(e) mBEZRER @)

Total Within

contractual  one year or
Carrying undiscounted repayableon  One year or
amount  cash flows demand above

KR —FRg

BHRE AREX
REE RELH BE -FIguL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THET TER THR

As at 31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial instruments
- Trade payables

- Accruals and other payables

- Other borrowings

- Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2021
Non-derivative financial instruments
- Trade payables

- Accruals and other payables

- Other borrowings

- Lease liabilities

e R S
i SHTA
-ESRANE

- BREMREMENTE
- Kb

RZZE--F+-A=1-H
FTEERIE

- B SENTE

- BRBARAMEMNTE
- HthfE

17,586 17,586 17,586 -
22,074 22,074 22,074 -
28,784 66,897 35,834 31,063

2,673 2,798 1,563 1,245
1,117 109,355 77,047 32,308
19,124 19,124 19,124 =
10,940 10,940 10,940 =

4,067 4,198 4,198 =

3,897 4,036 3,090 946
38,018 38,298 37,352 946
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The fair values of the Group’s investment in listed
securities has been determined by reference to their
quoted bid prices at the end of reporting period.

The fair values of trade receivables, loans and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
bank balances, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, other borrowings, and current portion of lease
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of loans and
interest receivables and lease liabilities have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using the rates currently available for instruments on
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables present financial assets measured at
fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy
groups financial assets into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the
fair value of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived

from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset that are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
reporting date are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as

39. K EREER A FE

=9 e
= (&)

(H RERESBBEARRRER
HAFETE @

DR EEE (B)

MIBEEEBMERE ANRFE
REANER  HERHLQTFE
FAEBEANSERE R EAER

85 -

RE B RESEMBIRRRA
BAFERFENMBEERARE
Th&I0 BIA TRV R FEZRE

follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E FE2E F3E &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FhEr FhEn TEr Fhr
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--f+-A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value WAFEEAZHA
through profit or loss EHBERNIBEE
- Contingent consideration receivable - [EMREIARE - - 2,555 2,555
- Listed equity securities - FikiEES 10,634 - - 10,634
As at 31 December 2021 RZZ_—-F+-A=1-AH
Financial assets at fair value WAFEZAZHA
through profit or loss BHERNEKEE
- Listed equity securities - FifRiEES 15,681 - - 15,681

There were no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2
and no transfers into or out of level 3 during the years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio calculated
on the basis of borrowings and lease liabilities over total equity.
The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders,
raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio is regularly reviewed by senior management.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:

40. EXREE

A EEEREE B EARRAEE
BRGNS LRI RRE T
R IRTS KRS - AR SR E
% -

AREBEGR K E MR HEARE - I
PERERBEE L HE - AREEH
R MHE B B A R E A
BEABLXRERERN - AEENER
EEEEEREERBLRERERE
IKF o BT MR RFEIZ LR - AEE
AEABMBRR MR SR - BITH
Bfn ~ MBRRAREIER - BEIEE
BRHEBENRBER

7 MR R P T A T R AR
RIS R AR BT -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Other borrowings HEAMfE® 28,784 4,057
Lease liabilities HEaRE 2,673 3,897
31,457 7,954

Total equity e AREE 209,300 196,257
Gearing ratio BEAMELE 15% 4%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

M. QT AR R R

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FREEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) RITE A AR ER (M () 107,577 63,612
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 779 342
Right-of-use assets EREEE 427 980
108,783 64,934
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TE(TFRIR 1,260 834
Amounts due from subsidiaries eI B~ R IA 119,682 124,695
Financial assets at fair value A EFT 2 BE 8T A E g
through profit or loss MG EE 2,555 =
Cash and cash equivalents He kReEEEE 3,423 197
126,920 125,726
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables TRIRE A R H A E A 4,325 3,181
Amounts due to subsidiaries P BT B A RIFRIE 189 249
Lease liabilities HEAE 442 1,008
Interest-bearing borrowings sHEER 4,400 -
9,356 4,438
Net current assets REBEEFE 117,564 121,288
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other borrowings H b g 24,024 =
Lease liabilities HEAE - 6
24,024 6
Net assets EEFE 202,323 186,216
EQUITY R
Share capital RRAS 19,836 16,900
Reserves (note (b)) it (FisE (o) 182,487 169,316
Total equity SRR 202,323 186,216

On behalf of the Board
REEES

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

Li Yang
=
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & &=

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

F

R

(@ MEAR

77

1

—=— —

=

FH-A=t—HLFE

4. AT EARRTER @)

RiE BT RME QR FER 0

as follows:
Place/
country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued/paid-in
Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
HEMR held by the operation and
ARt 2 2817 Company principal activities
=t EES EHRAFE ARARFENERER EEMBRETBER
Direct Indirect
i R
Great Entrepreneur BVI 4 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
Investments Limited REERTHS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
ARRBIREE =T REBREER
Rl
Transformed Holdings Limited BVI 4 ordinary shares 100% = Investment holding
EBERAES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
AREREEET REBREITR
Going Success Holdings Limited BVI 1,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
REERTHS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
1,000 RGAREE 1 ETT REBREER
BERR
Holly Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
REERTHS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 R EREE 1€ REBREER
B E R
Best Supreme Investment Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
EBERAES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 REIREE 1 =T REBREIZER
Victory Leader Holdings Limited BVI 1 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
SEERBRAR] HBEER RS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
1REREE1ET REBREITIR
R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &}

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

EFET

FH-A=t—HILFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

as follows: (Continued)

Place/
country of
incorporation/

Particulars of
issued/paid-in

BRE - (%)

@@ ™MBE2E (&)

4. AT EARRTER @)

RiE BT RME QBB 0

™ (&)

Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
ML held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
H518 B= SRARAFE ARBRFENERER EEMBRETEEY
Direct Indirect
HE I
Runway Global Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
i RIRE R A A e 3,000,000 7T and trading of
apparels in
Hong Kong
REBRETR
K IREHE 5
Jiaxing Runway Global Garment PRC US$2,000,000 - 100% Manufacturing and
Limited* s 2,000,000 7T trading of apparels
iy R ERER AR &R (F28L) in the PRC
BRAFF AR BT T AR S e
RE5
Runway Fashions, Inc. USA 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% Provision of designing,
EJEY of US$1 each marketing and
1,000 REAXEE 17T advertising services
ORREEN in the USA
REBITRHRET
Ko & 5 PR S
Delta Wealth Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 = 100% Provision of money
RMEMBEARATF o 1,000,000 47T lending services
RHERRE R
Harvest Celebration Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100% Investment holding
BA 1,000 7T in Hong Kong
deregistration
in progress
REBREER
EAETTAEH
Smart Dream Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares = 100% Investment holding
RBHEB RS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 R BAREE 13T REBREER
AR EEL
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE—ZT - —F+-A=+—HIFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

as follows: (Continued)

Place/
country of
incorporation/

Particulars of
issued/paid-in

4. AT EARRTER @)

BRE - (%)

@@ ™MBE2E (&)

RiE BT RME QBB 0

™ (&)

Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
ML held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
H#1B B= SRARAFE AATHENERER EEMBRETEEY
Direct Indirect
HE D3
Glory Kind Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100% Investment holding
BlIEBRAT BB 1,000 7T in Hong Kong
REBREZR
Runway Global Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - 100% Investment holding
B IR EE AR A A BA of HK$1 each in Hong Kong
(former known as Crystal Idea 1IREREE BT REBREEK
Investments Limited) Rl
(AITEARBREARAT)
ERaFEREHRER AR PRC HK$30,000,000 - 100% Toys, garment,
& 3,000,000 # 7T software technical
advisory and
promoting service
in PRC
RAAEITA - ARE
BRI AR
Ko b BB AR 7S
ERIZ B RIEER AR  PRC RMB 1,000,000 - 100% Game and software
e AER#1,000,000 7T solution developer,
literature design
in PRC
FOFP B AN B 4
R RFAEE -
X ERFRET
JERBIZEMEE AR AR PRC RMB 1,052,600 = 100% Toys, garment,
a3 AR 1,052,6007T software technical

advisory and
promoting service
in PRC

R ETA - AR -
MR A
Ko HE PR A
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

(“MWPANY«Rme&D

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

BRE - (%)

@@ ™MBE2E (&)

4. AT EARRTER @)

RiE BT RME QBB 0

as follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place/
country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued/paid-in
Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
MR held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
H#1B B= SRARAFE AATFENERES EEMBRFIEXL
Direct Indirect
HE D3
BEEAXLAIZER AR PRC RMB 1,000,000 - 100% Game and software
Gy AR 1,000,000 7T solution developer,
literature design
in PRC
TR B B2 R AN B
FRR T ERRAEE -
XRE&ET
AEAIEBIULAIZEBR AR  PRC RMB 1,000,000 - 51% Graphic design,
T AR #1,000,0007C marketing design
and toys in PRC
R AP AR -
MIZRaT A%
ATkl el EaRAR PRC HK$6,500,000 - 100% Enterprise marketing
# 6,500,000 7 7T solution, household
product in PRC
RO B 2 SRR
FHR REEM
SERBERRERAR PRC RMB 10,000,000 - 82% Trading of apparels
hE AR #10,000,000 70 in PRC
KRB REE 5

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

BRE - (%)

@@ ™MBE2E (&)

77
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4. AT EARRTER @)

RiE BT RME QBB 0

as follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place/
country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued/paid-in
Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
ML held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
H#1B B= SRARAFE AATHENERER EEMBRETEEY
Direct Indirect
HE I
Dreamtoys Inc BVI USD1 - 100% Toys design and
REEBRES 1ET investment holding
in BVI
REBEB RS
AR &
REER
Dreamtoys HK Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% Toys design in HK
B 1787T REEITARE
Virtual Mind Idea Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Artwork design, gifts,
BA 1487 merchandise in
Hong Kong
BB @RS
o EORR
Virtual Mind Culture Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Artwork design, gifts,
N 1487T and merchandise
in Hong Kong
REBBM@ERET
B EOEm
Virtual Mind Art Company Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Artwork design, gifts,
B 1487 and merchandise
in Hong Kong
REB BT MRS
2o EOEm
# Foreign owned enterprise under PRC law * FEUEE THINE RS

None of the subsidiaries issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ =T - —F+-A=+—HIEFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

4. AT EARRTER @)

Notes: (Continued) Mtz : ()
(b)  Reserves (b) #E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARIEBEHMAT -
Share-based  Convertible
Share  Contributed payment  bonds equity Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
HRe
RERN  URRES
RiEE A& X1ttt Rt RithR @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAT AL TAT AL TAT
At 1 January 2021 W=E--£-f-H 375,963 63,683 - - (195,399) 244147
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ AEEFER2ABREAR - - - = (78572) (78572)
Eouity-settled share option scheme arrangements bz & E ek &Ik - - 374 - - 3,741
At31December 2021 and 1 January 2022~ W=ZF=-%+-B=+-AR
—E--F-B-R 375,963 63,583 3,741 - (273,971) 169,316
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FRBEREZEERESR - - - - (64,321) (64,321)
Issuance of share in respect of acquisition SREREARRTRG
of subsidliary 40,320 - - - - 40,320
Equity-settled share option scheme arrangements  JEZ & E R iE: % - - 8,638 - - 8,638
Issuance of convertible bonds BmaREs - - - 18,800 - 18,800
Issuance of shares in respect of conversion HEATARESRIRN
of convertible bonds 9,734 - - (6,314) 6,314 9,734
At 31 December 2022 WZB--F+-f=t-H 426,017 63,583 12,379 12,486 (331,978) 182,487

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the share issued by

the Company in exchange thereof.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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